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Mandate
The National Consumer Tribunal (NCT or Tribunal) is an independent adjudicative entity. It derives its mandate
from the National Credit Act (NCA), Act No. 34 of 2005. This mandate was expanded in 2008 to include matters

arising from the Consumer Protection Act (CPA), Act No. 68 of 2008.

Vision
“To be recognised as an independent and fair

adjudicator in promoting and advancing the socio-economic welfare of South Africans.”

Mission
“The provision of accessible adjudication and redress on matters referred to the

NCT in terms of the National Credit Act and the Consumer Protection Act.”
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General Information

Registered name National Consumer Tribunal (NCT or the Tribunal)

Physical address Ground Floor, East Wing, Building B, Lakefield Office 
Park, 272 West Avenue (cnr West Ave and Lenchen Ave 
North) Centurion, 0157

Postal address Private Bag X 110, Centurion, 0046

Telephone number/s 012 683 8140

Fax number 012 663 5693

Email address registry@thenct.org.za

Website address www.thenct.org.za

External auditors Auditor-General of South Africa

Bankers Nedbank Ltd
Reserve Bank of South Africa
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AGSA Auditor-General of South Africa

APP Annual Performance Plan 

BIG Business Innovation Group

CCRD Consumer and Corporate Regulation Division

CFO Chief Financial Officer

CIPC Companies and Intellectual Property Commission

CMS Case Management System

COBIT Control Objectives for Information Technology

COO Chief Operating Officer

CPA Consumer Protection Act, Act No. 68 of 2008

dti / the dti The Department of Trade and Industry

EAF Enterprise Architecture Framework

ENE Estimates of National Expenditure

EXCO Executive Committee 

FMPPI Framework for Managing Programme Performance Information

GRAP Generally Recognised Accounting Practice

HR Human Resources

ICT Information and Communication Technology

IYM In-Year Management

King III King III Code of Governance Principles and King Report on Governance

KPA Key Performance Area

KPI Key Performance Indicator 

MTEF Medium-Term Expenditure Framework

NCA National Credit Act, Act No. 34 of 2005

NCAA National Credit Amendment Act, Act No. 19 of 2014

NCC National Consumer Commission

NCR National Credit Regulator

NCT National Consumer Tribunal

OHS Occupational Health and Safety

PAJA Promotion of Administrative Justice Act, Act No. 3 of 2000

PC Portfolio Committee 

PEO Public Entity Oversight

PFMA Public Finance Management Act, Act No.1 of 1999

RDP Reconstruction and Development Programme

SAN Storage Array Network

SLA Service Level Agreement

WSP Workplace Skills Plan

List of Abbreviations/Acronyms
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Foreword by the Minister

During 2014/15, the  National Consumer Tribunal (NCT) continued to promote the creation of a fair regulatory 
environment that enables investment, trade and enterprise development in an equitable and socially responsible 
manner, through its adjudication of credit and consumer matters. 

The NCT’s Strategy, Annual Performance Plan and Business Plan are fully aligned with government’s National 
Development Plan and the Mid-term Strategic Framework through, amongst others, its service delivery, good 
governance and its contribution to youth employment. Its contribution to youth employment includes providing 
opportunities for experiential learning and training in its internship and contingency resource pool programmes.

The NCT once again achieved 100% of its targets set for the year, despite facing an increased caseload, demonstrating 
its efficacy and the commitment of the Tribunal members, management and staff. 

The NCT achieved its third successive clean audit and,  for this reporting period,  with no audit findings. This 
demonstrates the rigour of and the commitment to the implementation of its governance and oversight processes 
by all its stakeholders. 

I want to commend the entire staff of the organisation for the efforts to ensure that the NCT continues to deliver on 
its mandate to protect South African consumers.

______________________
Dr R Davies (MP)
Minister of Trade and Industry
29 July 2015

The NCT once again achieved 100% of its 

targets set for the year, despite facing an 

increased caseload, demonstrating its efficacy 

and the commitment of the Tribunal members, 

management and staff. 
Dr R Davies (MP)

Minister of Trade and Industry 
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Executive Chairperson’s Overview

Introduction

During 2014/15, the NCT continued to execute its duties and deliver an exceptional service to its stakeholders, 
despite its ever-increasing caseload. We continued to adjudicate a large number of debt re-arrangement agreement 
application thereby addressing the plight of consumers by ensuring, amongst others, that consumers are not 

overcharged due to illegal/excessive interest rates and unreasonable repayment terms. 

Performance highlights and challenges – a strategic overview

During the reporting period our caseload increased by 78.04%. This represents an increase from 5 386 cases in the 
previous financial year to 9 589  cases in this financial year. This dramatic increase, exacerbated by its unpredictability, 
puts additional strain on our staff and Tribunal Members and makes it difficult to plan. Furthermore, funding remains 
constrained, despite an 11.26% increase in our grant from the dti (R40 164 000 for 2014/15 compared to R36 099 000 
in 2013/14). 

We therefore increased our focus on the continuous reviews of our work processes and interrogation of our efficiencies, 
in order to continue to adjudicate cases within the planned timeframes in line with our service delivery promise. In the 
face of this increase in our case numbers our organogram, staffing and adjudicative complement remained largely 
unchanged. On the staffing side we have increased the type and number of participants in our contingency employee 
pool and the number of cases allocated to Tribunal members. Several vacancies on our organogram were filled during 
the year and we have re-aligned our staffing to our changing human resource (HR) requirements. 

The effectiveness of the mitigation measures taken is already clear – we managed to achieve a decrease in adjudication 
costs whilst adjudicating without compromising on our quality. This is underscored by the fact that no NCT cases were 
overturned on appeal in the High Court during the reporting period.

Ms D Terblanche

Executive Chairperson  

During the reporting period our caseload 

increased by 78.04%. This represents 

an increase from 5 386 cases in the previous 

financial year to 9 589  cases in this 

financial year.
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Our governance committees continued to execute their duties efficiently and 
effectively. They met on a regular basis and made valuable recommendations 

to me, in my capacity as Accounting Authority. These recommendations were 
reviewed and, where accepted, either implemented during the reporting period or 

a timeframe for their implementation set. 

No instances of fraud were reported during the year. 

With regards to supply chain management we have effective service level agreements in 
place with all our suppliers.  We managed to pay 100% of all undisputed invoices received 

within 15.14 days from date of receipt, calculated utilising the NCT’s invoice register.

The dedication of our high-performance team has to be noted. Together we ensured 100% 
achievement of our Business Plan. A total of 12 annual measurable objectives were set for the 

financial year, all of which were achieved through setting high expectations of our staff, strict 
performance management of both our staff and Tribunal members, pro-actively identifying risks which 

may impact on the NCT achieving its mandate and addressing those risks with timeous implementation 
of appropriate action plans. 

We have developed and implemented the electronic Case Management System (CMS) with 75,56% of its planned 
functionalities by year-end. The intention is for this CMS to pave the way towards a filing environment in the next 

two years which should result in expedited finalisation of cases, less costs to parties to litigate through the Tribunal 
and allowing filing parties to file with the Tribunal from any location within South Africa, thus increasing access to our 
services.

The National Credit Amendment Act (NCAA) came into effect on 13  March  2015 and allows for more stringent 
regulation of participants in the credit market, including payment distribution agents and alternative dispute 
resolution agents. It expands the role of the NCT in that the National Credit Regulator (NCR) can directly refer the 
above-mentioned parties who fail to adhere to the prescripts of the National Credit Act (NCA) as amended by the 
NCAA. In addition, the NCT will now hear reckless credit matters. Even though this Act came into effect at the end of 

the current reporting period, the full impact thereof will only be evident during the course of the next financial year.

Strategic relationships 

Stakeholder engagement is crucial to ensure that the NCT effectively monitors and improves its efficiency in achieving 
its mandate and manages its resources. During the year, the NCT engaged with various universities, consumer affairs 
offices, courts, professional associations, alternative dispute resolution agents and regulators.

The aim of these engagements was to gain more insight into the work these institutions are doing in the consumer 
protection sector, and through them increase awareness of the role and processes of the Tribunal. Further, 
engagements were aimed at creating seamless integration between their mandates and that of the Tribunal and  to 
avoid unnecessary inconvenience and  costs (to both the parties and the Tribunal) due to inappropriate and incorrect 
filings.

We engaged with universities (and universities of technology) as well as professional associations to discuss 
our Internship and Contingent Employee Programme and the readiness of and opportunities for students and 
professionals to contribute to consumer protection. 
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The NCT focused on increasing its visibility among its key stakeholders through, among others, joint events with 
the NCR. We received positive feedback from delegates, and value the interaction and inputs received from those 
attending these conferences.

Future plans

Our on-going ICT enablement requires on-going resourcing and change 
management. This is planned and will continue in a structured manner. Even 
though our Contingent Employee Programme and the ICT enablement, 
amongst others, have greatly assisted us to date to handle our increased 
work-load, we will have to come up with a sustainable solution to deal 
with its continuous upward trajectory (which will no doubt increase even 
more with the Tribunal’s increased mandate under the NCAA) and the 
demands it places on our staffing, adjudicative and financial resource 
requirements. With regard to our budget, we are exploring ways of shifting 
cost from high cost centres to lower cost centres, for example in respect 
of adjudication. We will continue to engage with the dti regarding the 
appointment of additional full-time and part-time Tribunal Members as 
well as staff to ensure that we continue to meet our mandate. We will also 
continuously engage and create awareness with stakeholders about the 
Tribunal, its role and processes to ensure that matters are referred to us correctly and completely at first filing to 
reduce the costs to the Tribunal arising out of incorrect and incomplete filings. Our operations and governance are 
effective and efficient and we do not foresee any significant changes in the near future. 
 
Events after the reporting date

I am not aware of any matter or circumstances arising since the end of the financial year, which has an impact on the 

information in this report.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank each Tribunal Member, staff member, contingent employee, intern, governance committee 
member and contractor for his or her unwaivering efforts to ensure that we deliver on our mandate. Our stellar 
achievements would not have been possible without the contribution of each and every person, often going the 
extra mile. I also want to thank the Minister, Consumer and Corporate Regulation Division (CCRD) and Public Entity 

Oversight (PEO) of the dti for their unfaltering  support during the year.

________________________
Ms D Terblanche
Executive Chairperson 
National Consumer Tribunal
29 July 2015

We will also 

continuously engage 

and create awareness 

with stakeholders 

about the Tribunal, its 

role and processes to 

ensure that matters are 

referred to us correctly
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Statement of responsibility for 
performance information

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I confirm the following: 

•

•
•

•

•
 

•

•

In my opinion, the Annual Report fairly reflects the operations, the performance information, the HR information and 
the financial affairs of the NCT for the financial year ended 31 March 2015.

Yours faithfully 

________________________
Ms D Terblanche
Executive Chairperson 
National Consumer Tribunal
29 July 2015

All information and amounts disclosed in the Annual Report are consistent with the 
Annual Financial Statements audited by the Auditor-General SA

The Annual Report is complete, accurate and free of any omissions

The Annual Report was prepared in accordance with the guidelines as issued by 
National Treasury

The Annual Financial Statements (Part E) have been prepared in accordance with the standards 
applicable to the NCT

The Accounting Authority is responsible for the preparation of the Annual Financial Statements and 
for the judgements made in this information

The Accounting Authority is responsible for establishing and implementing a system of internal control, 
designed to provide reasonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability of the performance information, 

HR information and Annual Financial Statements

The Auditor-General SA is engaged to express an independent opinion on the Annual Financial Statements.
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Strategic overview

Vision 

To be recognised as an independent and fair adjudicator in promoting and advancing the socio-economic welfare of 

South Africans.

Mission

The provision of accessible adjudication and redress on matters referred to the NCT in terms of the National Credit 

Act and the Consumer Protection Act.

Guiding principles

The NCT’s guiding principles defines its approach to adjudication and are aligned with its legislative principles, which 
require that it conducts its hearings in a manner that is:

•	 Inquisitorial

•	 Expeditious

•	 Informal

•	 In accordance with the principles of natural justice.

NCT Staff Members
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Values

The NCT’s values define and shape its culture and guide how staff members 
interact, both internally and with external stakeholders. The NCT strives to meet 

the requirements of Chapter 10: The Public Administration of the Constitution of 
South Africa. This emphasises certain basic values and principles governing public 

administration and requires that public administration be governed by the democratic 
values and principles enshrined in the Constitution. 

The NCT’s values are:

•	

•	

•	

•	
•	

•	
•	

•	

•	

Key value drivers

The NCT’s key value drivers are considered in the setting of its specific key performance areas. The following key value 
drivers were determined for the 2014/15 financial year:

1.	 Ability of the NCT to contribute to the efficiency and effectiveness of the overall consumer regulatory system 
2.	 Effective and efficient case adjudication that is:

•	 Inquisitorial

•	 Informal

•	 Expeditious

•	 In accordance with the principles of natural justice

3.	 Effective management of cases

4.	 Sound organisational management.

Strategic outcome-orientated goals

After carefully assessing its strategic and operating environments, the following strategic outcome-oriented goals 
were identified:

1. Effectively and efficiently adjudicate cases
2. Contribute to an efficient and effective consumer regulatory system
3. Sound organisational management.

These goals provide clear direction to the NCT’s work, and each goal is supported by specific objectives, which are, 
in turn, supported by projects and/or activities that are detailed in the operational plans of the organisation.

Honesty and integrity: Being truthful, and acting impartially, without fear or favour, in our 
relationships with all stakeholders

Accessibility: Being aware of and valuing diversity as well as being available to serve our 
purpose and mandate

Transparency: Being open with stakeholders and communicating the basis upon which 
decisions are made and actions taken

Accountability: Accepting responsibility for our own commitments and actions

Respect: Considering and valuing the views of others, their values and constitutional rights

Recognition: Acknowledging all stakeholders, their role and the institution

Responsiveness: Responding appropriately and in a timely manner

Approachability: Being open to ideas, thoughts and actions, and taking time to understand and explain 
processes to stakeholders, as well as communicating in clear, simple language

Ethical behaviour: Making decisions in ways that ensure fair, equitable outcomes for our stakeholders.
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Legislative and other mandates

The NCT is an independent adjudicative entity, which derives its mandate from the National Credit Act, Act No. 34 
of 2005 (NCA) as amended by the National Credit Amendment Act, Act No. 19 of 2014 (NCAA) and the Consumer 
Protection Act, Act No. 68 of 2008 (CPA). It is classified as a Schedule 3A entity in terms of the Public Finance 
Management Act, Act No.1 of 1999 (PFMA).

The NCT, through its consideration of applications and referrals of prohibited conduct, plays a significant role in 
upholding and preserving the principles enshrined in the Bill of Rights. Specifically, the NCT has a direct impact on 
the following areas within the Constitution, under the Bill of Rights:

•	 Sub-section 9: Equality – The NCT is accessible to all consumers and businesses, thereby playing a significant 
role in ensuring that parties have the right to equal protection and benefit of the law. The NCT, through its value 
system, also strives to respect human diversity and ensure that no form of discrimination is tolerated

•	 Sub-section 10: Human dignity – Through the adjudication process, the NCT ensures that prohibited conduct 
on the part of providers of goods and services, as well as the relevant action thereto does not impair human 
dignity

•	 Sub-section 14: Privacy – Whilst adhering to its founding legislation, and as part of its adjudicative role, the NCT 
ensures that people’s privacy is protected

•	 Sub-section 33: Just administrative action – The NCT ensures that it hears both sides to a dispute and that it 
issues reasons for its decisions.

NCT Staff Members
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Organisational structure
The organisational structure of the NCT as at 31 March 2015 was as follows:

Executive Assistant
(1)

Full-time Tribunal Members
(2)

Executive Strategic Support
(1)

Admin Support: Tribunal Members
(1)

Communication Officer
(1)

Part-time Tribunal Members
(10)

Accounting Authority
Executive Chairperson/Chairperson of the Tribunal

Chief Operating Officer 
(1)

Secretariat & Compliance Specialist
(1)

Receptionist
(1)

Organisational  Records Officer
(1)

Personal Assistant
(1)

Admin Officer
(1)

ICT Manager
(1)

Chief Financial Officer
(1)

Registrar
(1)

Snr Case Analyst
(2)

Snr Records Officer
(1)

Cleaner
(2)

HR Officer
(1)

Admin Officer
(2)

Assistant Accountant
(1)

Admin Officer
(1 shared)

Senior ICT Officer
(1)

ICT Officer
(1)

Records Officer
(1)

Case Analyst
(2)

Finance Officer
(1)

Case Officer
(2)

Case Assessors
(4)

HR & Facilities Manager
(1)

Vacancies as at 31 March 2015

Executive Strategic Support Admin Officer: COO

HR Officer Senior Case Analyst

Senior ICT Officer Communication Officer
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Auditor’s report:  
predetermined objectives

The Auditor-General of South Africa (AGSA) currently performs the necessary audit 
procedures on the NCT’s performance information to provide reasonable assurance in the 

form of an audit conclusion. The audit conclusion on the performance against predetermined 
objectives is included in the Report to Management, with material findings, if any, reported 

on under the Predetermined Objectives heading in the Report on other Legal and Regulatory 
Requirements section of the Auditor’s Report.

Refer to pages 93 to 94 for the Auditor-General’s Report, published under Part E: Financial Information.

Situational analysis

The global economic environment continues to be volatile, with no clear signs of an end in sight. The “Greek Debt 
Problem”, with Greece battling to service its national debts, and asking for more and more European Union bail-outs 
has threatened the future of the Eurozone currency. The lower growth rates, particularly of the Chinese economy and 
other former fast growing economies like India and Brazil all point to continued uncertainty about the short-term 
and medium-term global economic growth prospects. The relatively lower crude oil prices, driven largely by shale gas 
production in the US, did have a moderating effect on the upwards global price trends, despite the serious cost-push 
effects of global food price increases.

The South African economy has been affected by global economic trends, with the lower commodity prices 
negatively affecting the net foreign currency inflows, thus resulting in the South African currency losing its value 
against other major currencies, especially the US dollar, the Euro, the UK Sterling, and other international currencies. 
This contributed to increasing the country’s unfavourable trade deficit situation. The net effect of these global factors 
was that South Africa’s economy only grew by 1.5% in 2014, compared to 2.2% in 2013.

At the beginning of the financial year the South African Reserve Bank had forecast headline inflation, as measured 
by the Consumer Price Index, to average 6.2% in 2014 but by January 2015 the annual rate of inflation had dropped 
to 4.4%, the lowest since April 2011 when it stood at 4.2% (StatsSA).The producer price indices, the so-called “price at 
the factory gates”, have also been relatively stable at the lower side, hence lessening the threat of cost-push pressures 
on our economy during the financial period in review. This notwithstanding, the economy continued to contend with 
subdued levels of consumer and business confidence throughout the year. 

The interest rate environment in South Africa remained fairly stable during the financial year under review. The repo 
rate remained at 5.75%, having been last raised by 25 basis points in July 2014. This has been conducive for the 
consumer environment as it did not place too much pressure on the consumers to increase their already very high 
debt levels. The repo rate influences the prime lending rate by banks and is a key component of the cost of credit.  
There are, however, indications that the South African Reserve Bank’s Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) is ready to 

start on an upward trajectory with the repo rate, although there are concerns that doing so might lead to lower 
consumer demand which will worsen the already low economic growth rates in the country.   

Service delivery environment



23

The inflation rate in South remained within the desired 4 – 6 percent target band, and was expected to remain below 
5 percent in the year 2015. It is however now a certainty that the inflation rate is expected to be on an upward 
movement due to the very high increases in electricity tariffs, coupled with a significant drop in the value of the South 
African currency in 2014/2015 which has resulted in higher imported inflation. This has contributed to the continued 
low levels of consumer and business confidence in the economy.

The stubbornly high rate of unemployment in South Africa, together with the rarely spoken-of high levels of under-
employment in South Africa, has led to an undesirable situation where the country has over 20 million beneficiaries 
of various social grants,which is extremely high when viewed against the background that the country has less than 
7 million individuals who pay taxes in the form of  Pay As You Earn (PAYE). Various economic analysts assert that this is 
the reason why there are many South Africans who find themselves in a debt-trap because they have to raise loans in 
order to settle other debts. The significantly high increase in the levels of people who apply for debt re-arrangement 
orders through the NCT bears testimony to this.       

The overall picture is that most South Africans are more or less in the same economic situation this past annual 
financial period as they were in the previous period, but there are fears that the consumers’ financial situation is likely 
to get worse in the coming financial periods in 2015/16 before, maybe, improving later. The direct impact of this 
scenario is that there will be a continued increase in the number of South African consumers who battle to cope with 
their debt burden, and hence be forced to resort to different forms of application for debt re-arrangements. 

The financial problems faced by a number of registered credit providers raise some concerns about the stability of 
the formal credit industry, with more consumers being pushed to the more expensive micro-lenders. The prospect 
of more South Africans moving to the unsecured lending space is not positive for the South African economy, as any 
increases in unsecured lending automatically leads to higher lending rates, which, in turn, leads to higher inflation 
rates in the country. This raises a need for the regulatory bodies within the credit industry to be very vigilant that they 
pre-empt and discourage any increase in the incidents of reckless lending or other forms of prohibited conduct in the 
credit industry and in other consumer markets.

Organisational environment 

The case load increased substantially over the period, by 78%, bringing about some changes to the NCT’s structure, 
staffing and way of doing work to increase efficiencies and efficacies.

The NCT continued to mitigate the impact of its increasing caseload on its staff through the employment of students 
and contingent employees. The number and type of participants in the pool was also increased to ensure that the 
NCT always has sufficient resources to call on to assist when the caseload exceeds the capacity of permanent staff. 

The organisational structure largely remained the same save for the splitting up of the records management function. 
The case- and case records’- management function was consolidated in the office of the Registrar to gain effciencies 
and efficacies for both.  The management of operational records were transferred to the Chief Operating Officer’s 
(COO’s) Office. Furthermore facilities management was consolidated with human resource management. These 
changes over and above gaining efficiencies for the NCT also contributed to overall cost savings as they did away 
with the need for a manager to manage those functions independently. 

The NCT continued to focus on increasing efficiencies, mainly through ICT enablement.  The main ICT focus during 
the year was the implementation of the CMS. Operationally the focus was placed on reviewing and revising the 
Standard Operating Procedures and the streamlining of internal processes. 
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The NCT’s staff complement increased from 30 in the previous financial period 
to 36. Taking into consideration that the total number of approved posts for the 

2014/15 period was 41, the total number of vacancies at year-end was five. The 
number of Tribunal members remained unchanged with a steady total of 13.

 
The grant allocation received from the dti increased by 11.26% from 2013/14 to 

2014/15. The operational budget (excluding capital expenditure) on the other hand 
increased by 14.08% from 2013/14 to 2014/15. The biggest driver behind this increase 

relates to the increase in the cases anticipated for filing with the NCT. This resulted in a 
larger staff structure and higher adjudication-related expenditure to handle the  caseload. 

Due to the grant allocation not increasing at the same rate as  the operational expense budget, 
the NCT was faced with an anticipated budget shortfall for 2014/15 that had to be funded out of 

rollover funds accumulated in prior years.

The Governance Committees of the NCT continued to operate effectively. The overall operations of 

the NCT were strengthened by the implementation of various operational committees. 

Key policy developments and legislative changes 

The National Credit Amendment Act

The National Credit Amendment Act, No. 19 of 2014 (NCAA) amending the NCT’s founding act,  the NCA, came into 
effect on 13 March 2015, and expands the NCT’s jurisdiction over:

•	 Prohibited conduct in that the definition of prohibited conduct was amended and through this amendment, it 
expanded the number and types of prohibited conduct that can be brought before the NCT e.g.  

•	 Removes the exclusion of offences from the definition of prohibited conduct and therefore extends the 
Tribunal’s jurisdiction to matters that are prohibited conduct and offences in terms of the NCA

•	 Reckless credit matters which used to be solely in the domain of the civil courts  

•	 Prohibited collection of prescribed debts

•	 Matters involving payment distribution agents and alternative dispute resolution agents as registrants.

Furthermore, several changes were made to a number of sections of the Act, which will not only impact registrants, 

but could lead to a possible increase in the number of referrals to the NCT.

Amendments to the Rules of the Tribunal1

During the period under review, the NCT proposed amendments to the Rules of the Tribunal. The proposed 
amendments were published in the Government Gazette in Quarter 2, and were promulgated on 13 March 2015. 

Regulations for matters relating to the functions of the Tribunal and Rules for the conduct of matters before the National Consumer Tribunal, 2007, 
as amended (“the Rules of the Tribunal”).

1
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The amendments to the Rules enable greater efficiencies by allowing the NCT to better manage its resources, increase 
access and reduce the cost of access by allowing for a process whereby parties can file electronically in future and make 
provision for changes necessitated by the NCAA. Filing with the Tribunal is made easier and cheaper in that parties 
may agree to serve documents, for example, by e-mail ,without the need for follow-up service by registered post or 
hand delivery. In addition, the issuance of binding practice notes will assist the NCT in managing and streamlining its 

case management process with external parties.

Strategic outcome-oriented goals

Each of the NCT’s strategic goals is supported by specific objectives, which are in turn supported by projects and/or 
activities detailed in the operational plans of the organisation. The following strategic goals were identified for the 
reporting period: 

1. Effectively and efficiently adjudicate cases
2. Contribute to an efficient and effective consumer regulatory system

3. Sound organisational management.

Strategic objectives 

The NCT bases its performance measurement on its legislative mandate as set out in the NCA and CPA and in 
its Strategy 2014/15 – 2018/19, Annual Performance Plan (APP) 2014/5–2016/17 and Business Plan 2014/15. 
Performance targets and the budget for the year are based on these plans and are informed by the Business Plan. 

The NCT reports to the dti on a quarterly basis. The performance information and narrative on additional matters 
contained in these reports are aggregated, amongst others, to compile this Annual Report and Annual Financial 
Statements for the accounting period.

The following strategic objectives were set for 2014/15:

•	 To expedite service delivery through the timely communication of outcomes of assessment of initial filings to 
filing parties

•	 To expedite service delivery through the timely communication of judgments on non-debt re-arrangement matters
•	 To ensure that the NCT’s decisions are accurate, objective and legally correct – substantive and procedurally correct
•	 To ensure regular formal engagement with regulatory stakeholders regarding the consumer regulatory environment
•	 To build capacity by developing and issuing Briefing Papers
•	 To optimise the financial resources of the NCT
•	 To enhance operational efficiency by implementing an enabling ICT architecture
•	 To ensure the accessibility and integrity of digitised case records
•	 To ensure that the NCT has adequate human resources to deliver in accordance with its mandate
•	 To contribute to youth employment.

The NCT’s performance against these objectives is set out on page 27 and pages 48 to 49.
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Performance information 
by programme

Programme 1: Adjudication

The purpose of this programme is to provide the necessary administrative, adjudicative 
and related services to ensure that the NCT delivers successfully on its legislative mandate. 

The following sub-programmes fall under this programme:

• 
 

•	

Strategic objectives

The following strategic objectives were set for 2014/15 for this programme and its sub-programmes:

•	 To expedite service delivery through the timely communication of outcomes of assessment of initial filings 
to filing parties

•	 To expedite service delivery through the timely communication of judgments on non-debt re-arrangement matters
•	 To ensure that the NCT’s decisions are accurate, objective and legally correct – substantive and procedurally correct.

The NCT’s performance against these objectives is set out in the table below.

Case management – provides services to ensure that all cases are timeously prepared, that 
filing parties and applicants are communicated with and that all pertinent information is 

recorded and disseminated
Adjudication – ensures that competent, professional, impartial adjudicators are available to attend 

to matters, that the procedures followed are fair and that adjudicators’ decision making is substantively 
sound, in accordance with legal precedents and requirements
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CASE MANAGEMENT 

Introduction

At present, approximately 35 different types of applications and 150 different types 
of referrals of prohibited conduct may be brought before the NCT in terms of the 

NCA, CPA and Rules of the Tribunal. Applications may be brought by the NCR, NCC, 
consumers, credit bureaus, credit providers, debt counsellors, payment distribution 

agents, alternative dispute resolution agents and service providers.

Only the NCR, NCC and, in certain cases, complainants may refer alleged prohibited conduct 
cases to the NCT for a determination. In some instances the High Court may on application by a 

party, confer jurisdiction upon the NCT to hear a matter not otherwise provided for.

Office of the Registrar

The Registrar’s Office plays a central role in the organisation in relation to case and records 
management. Through its case management function the Registrar’s Office provides case 
support, including research and briefing papers, for Tribunal members in relation to the 
adjudication of cases; provides legal support and advice to the Tribunal in respect of 
organisational legal issues; and  represents the Tribunal during internal labour proceedings, 

at labour forums and during court proceedings. Through the records management 
function the Registrar’s Office provides available, complete, secure and accessible 

case records to authorised stakeholders.

Objectives for the year

Five strategic objectives were set in the Registrar’s Office for the year, shaped 
by the NCT’s overall strategic direction. These objectives were:

1.  Expediting service delivery through the timely communication of  assessment 
outcomes of initial filings to filing parties

2.  Expediting service delivery through the timely communication of 
judgments on non-debt re-arrangement agreement matters

3. Ensuring that NCT decisions are substantive and procedurally correct, by providing  support to Tribunal 
members including hearing support, research and the compilation of briefing papers to advise on relevant and 
recent jurisprudence and legislation

4. Building capacity by developing and issuing briefing papers and research papers 

5. Ensuring the accessibility and integrity of digitised case records.

The average number of days for communication with filing parties remained below five at 4.68 (98.2% issued within 
five days of receipt of the application), despite the sharp increase in the number of cases filed. This performance can 
be attributed to the continuous review and revision of case management processes to improve efficiencies, resource 
planning and management . 

With regard to the expeditious resolution of cases, non-debt re-arrangement matters were adjudicated within an 
average of 32.57 days from the last day of adjudication to the issuing of the judgment or ruling.  This is slightly higher 

Ms Anel Burger
Registrar
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Membership and meeting attendance

Member Capacity
No. of 

meetings 
attended

Adv. J 
Simpson 
(Chairperson)

Fulltime Tribunal 
Member 

2 of 2

Ms H Devraj Fulltime Tribunal 
Member

2 of 2

Prof. T Woker Part-time Tribunal 
Member 

2 of 2

Ms N Sephoti Part-time Tribunal 
Member 

2 of 2

Mr F Sibanda Part-time Tribunal 
Member

2 of 2

Mrs A Burger Registrar 2 of 2

than the turnaround time of 31.6 days on average 
for the 2013/2014 financial year.

The NCT continuously engages with filing parties 
with a view to improve the quality of filings and 
consequently reducing the administration involved 
in multiple processing of the same filing. New filing 
parties, however, continuously enter the market, 
and although the above-mentioned initiatives have 
gone a long way towards keeping the percentage 
of complete filings stable at approximate 70% 
(down from 78% in 2013/14), interactions with new 
filing parties must continue to ensure consistent 
quality of filings.

In order to provide support to Tribunal members 
in advising on recent and relevant jurisprudence 
and legislation, a target of developing and issuing 
20 research/briefing papers was set and achieved 
in 2014/15. Through its research and support, the 
Registrar’s Office contributes to ensuring that the 
NCT’s decisions are substantively and procedurally 
correct, which aligns with the NCT’s strategic goals. 

The NCT continued with its digitisation process 
during 2014/15, and scanned 99.39% of assessed 
debt re-arrangement applications and 99.42% of 
non-debt re-arrangement case files. The digitisation 
process reduces the costs of adjudication in 
that files are no longer copied and couriered to 
Tribunal members. Members now access their 
files electronically utilising secure remote desktop 
services. Although the transition from a manual to 
electronic system poses many challenges, it will 
assist the NCT in processing applications faster and 
more securely. The digitised records furthermore 
are a necessity for utilisation in the CMS system.  
Ultimately all case records will be available 
electronically for easy access and to ensure that 
all relevant records related to a matter are kept 
together and available at the click of a button. The 
digitisation process is monitored closely to ensure 
that service delivery is not impacted negatively. 

Ms Hazel Devraj, Prof Tanya Woker, Mr Fungai Sibanda, Ms 

Anel Burger, Adv Neo Sephoti , Adv John Simpson

The Legislative Committee comprises six members 
and is operational in nature. It works closely with the 
Office of the Executive Chairperson and the Registrar’s 
office. It was established to advise the NCT on 
matters relating to reviews and recommendations of 
proposed and required amendments in the legislative 
and regulatory environment within which the NCT 
operates.

Legislative Committee 

Key areas of responsibility

The committee operates in accordance with a charter 
that sets out its duties and responsibilities. The charter 
was drafted in accordance with the Code of Corporate 
Practices and Conduct published in the King III Code 
of Governance Principles and King Report on
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Debt re-arrangement order applications  (DRA)

Complete (DRA)

Incomplete (DRA)

Non-debt re-arrangement order applications (Non-DRA)

Complete (Non-DRA)

Incomplete (Non-DRA)

Total applications received
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Governance (King III), and prescribes that the 
committee has a minimum of four members and meets 
at least four times but not more than six times a year. 
The committee was established in August 2014 and 
therefore only met twice during the reporting period.

The main responsibilities of the committee are to 
review and provide advice and guidance on proposed 
and required legislative amendments and to make 
recommendations in respect thereof. It serves as 
a forum for discussing legislative issues affecting 
the mandate and operations of the NCT and for the 
members to then prepare submissions for approval by 
the Chairperson.

Main activities during the reporting period

•	 The committee’s views on the proposed National 
Credit Amendment Act, Act No. 19 of 2014 (GG 
37665 GN 389), were incorporated into the 
submissions made to the dti.

•	 The committee’s views and conclusions 
regarding the NCR’s guidelines on Section 101(3) 
were sent to all NCT staff and Tribunal Members 
for noting

•	 A Tribunal Member will do research on the 
implications of the Financial Services General 
Law Amendment Act, Act No. 45 of 2013, for NCT 
cases involving insurance companies

•	 The possible impact of the Financial Sector 
Regulation Bill, 2014 on the NCT was discussed 
and feedback provided to the Chairperson.

Case statistics

The NCT’s strategic direction has been shaped by 
trends observed with the types and numbers of 
applications, referrals and enquiries received. Changes 
in the enforcement strategy of Regulators directly 
shapes and impacts on the type and number of cases 
filed with the NCT. 

Since its inception, the NCT has experienced a 
continuous increase in the number, type and 
complexity of cases filed in terms of both the CPA and 
the NCA, as illustrated in the table and graph below.

The NCT’s strategic 

direction has been 

shaped by trends 

observed...

Legislative Committee (continues)
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The continued increase in caseload illustrated above poses several challenges. The workload of employees and 
Tribunal members is increasing which, in turn, may impact on service delivery and timely communication. This could 
compromise the NCT’s goal of effectively and efficiently managing and adjudicating cases if not properly managed. 
Office space may also become a problem as staff numbers increase in order to deal with the increasing caseload.

Several remedial steps have been taken to address the impact of the increasing caseload. These steps include:

•	 Strategic communications with stakeholders such as universities, professional associations, regulators, alternative 
dispute resolution agents, consumer affairs offices, consumer courts, civil courts and the judiciary

•	 Flexible resourcing strategies

•	 Implementation of cost-saving initiatives

•	 ICT interventions such as the CMS

•	 Communication and outreach activities

•	 Employment of contingency staff.

During the reporting period, the NCT received a total of 9 589 cases, a 78.04% increase from 2013/14 (2013/14: 5 386 
and 28.6% increase on previous year). The type and complexity of applications filed in terms of both the CPA and NCA 
also increased.

10 000

5 000

4 000

3 000

2 000

1 000

Increase in applications 2007–2015

2007/08 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15

11 26
488

1382

2205

4193

5386

9589
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The majority of applications filed with the NCT remained applications by debt counsellors to confirm debt re-
arrangement agreements as Tribunal orders, followed by applications to rescind or vary these debt re-arrangement 
orders. This increased number of applications to rescind or vary debt re-arrangement orders can be directly linked 
to the increased number of debt re-arrangement agreement applications filed.  The total number of complete debt 
re-arrangement applications filed in 2014/15 was 6 618, of which 5 408 was adjudicated on within the financial year.  
This number of applications to rescind represents 0,01% of debt re-arrangement orders adjudicated on and is still 
well within a reasonable percentage.  This number is expected to reduce going forward, due to the implementation 
of the NCAA, in terms of which in certain specific circumstances a debt counsellor may issue a clearance certificate to 
a consumer prior to repayment of all outstanding debt, instead of debt counsellors attempting to rescind or vary a 
Tribunal order to achieve this outcome. 

This was followed by applications upon failure of alternative dispute resolution by alternative dispute resolution 
agents and applications from the NCR for the cancellation of registration in terms of the NCA and applications.

In addition to adjudicating on the debt re-arrangement matters, Tribunal members adjudicated on and issued 69 
judgments and rulings in respect of non-debt re-arrangement matters. The number of non-debt re-arrangement 
matters filed increased by 149.3% during the year, from 71 to 177.

0 1000 2000 3000 4000 5000 6000

Debt re-arrangement applications adjudicated on

2013/14 220
3167

5128
2782014/15

Refused Orders
Granted Orders

Case statistics 2014/15

CASES FILED 2014/15
CASES BROUGHT 

FORWARD TO 2014/15
CASES BROUGHT 

FORWARD TO 2015/16

1 317
(40 Non-debt re-arrangement 

matters and 1277 debt re-

arrangement matters)

2 877
(52 Non-debt re-arrangement 

matters and +2825 debt 

re-arrangement matters)

9 589

Incomplete filings Complete filings

2 896 6 693

Finalised cases Settled or withdrawn cases Debt re-arrangement
orders issued

Judgments issued

5 499 22 5 408 69

TOTAL

13 783
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The non-DRA applications filed during the year are set out in the tables below.

Act  
Section

2010/ 
2011

2011/
2012

2012/
2013

2013/
2014

2014/
2015 TOTAL 

CPA

70(3)(b) Application for a Consent Order after dispute resolution by 
alternative dispute resolution agent

- - - 1 - 1

73(2)(b) NCC referrals -               - - - 2 2

75(1)(b) Applications for leave to refer a non-referral directly - - 10 15 7 32

101(1) Objection to a compliance notice - 34 20 2 - 56

74(1) Application for consent order - - - 2 - 2

100(6) Applications for imposition of an administrative penalty 
following non-compliance with a compliance notice

- - 20 - - 20

114(1) Interim Relief - 3 7 - - 10

Rule 4 Rule 4 – Certification of Class Action - - 1 - - 1

Total CPA Applications - 37 58 20 9 124

NCA

165(1) Rescission or variation of a NCT order - 3 9 11 53 76

137(3) Application upon failure of alternative dispute resolution - 1 - 35 36

140(1) NCR referrals - - 4 2 15 21

56(1) Objection to a compliance notice  3 2 - 1 4 10

57(1) Cancellation of registration of registrant 6 6 36 23 25 96

115(1) Disputed entry on a statement 1 - - 3 5 9

128(1) Review of a sale of goods 4 6 3 4 1 18

148(1) Appeals and reviews 1 - 3 2 14 20

149(1) Interim relief 3 3 1 - 3 10

59(1) Review of a decision by the NCR - 1 - 1 3 5

71(3) Application by a consumer to review a decision not to issue, or 
failure to issue a clearance certificate

- - - - 1 1

141(1) Applications for leave to refer a non-referral directly 2 2 5 1 6 16

138 read 
with 

135(b)(ii)

Application for consent order after alternative dispute 
resolution

- - - - 1 1

55(6) Failure to comply with a compliance notice - - - - 2 2

114(1) Application by a consumer upon failure to produce a statement - - - 2 - 2

164(3) Application to the National Consumer Tribunal for a certificate 
declaring conduct to be prohibited or required in terms of the 
Act

- - 1 1 - 2

99(2) Application by a consumer for compensation from a 
pawnbroker in lieu of property

- - 1 - - 1

63(5) Application to review a decision regarding the languages used 
in credit documentation

- 1 - - - 1

- Interlocutary Applications 4 - - - - 4

Total NCA Applications 24 25 63 51 168 331

Total Applications Filed 24 62 121 71 177 455

Debt re-arrangement applications adjudicated on
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Types of CPA and NCA applications and referrals filed with the NCT from inception

Total number of non-debt re-arrangement applications recieved
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15 Types filed with NCT
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NCA Applications filed per financial year                  CPA Applications filed per financial year
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Completed filings on first filing attempt

Quarter 4 
2013/14

Quarter 1 
2014/15

Quarter 2 
2014/15

Quarter 3 
2014/15

Quarter 4 
2014/15

TOTAL 

Total number of notices of 
complete/incomplete	filing	
issued 

1 125 1 938 2 413 2 637 2 492 10 605

Filings completed 769 1 408 1 780 1 872 1 599 7 428

Percentage	filings	rendered	
complete 

68.3% 72.6% 73.8% 70.9% 64.2% 70.0%

The NCT received its first application for a declaration of prohibited conduct from the National Consumer Commission 
towards the end of 2014/15.  This application, which will be heard in 2015/16, paves the way for consumers to claim 
damages in a civil court should the NCT declare the conduct complained of to be prohibited in terms Section 115(2)
(b) of the CPA. No other court has jurisdiction to adjudicate on these types of applications. 

The NCT has received prohibited conduct matters filed by the National Credit Regulator, as well as applications for 
cancellation of registrants’ registration. 

In addition to the above, the NCT received 13 applications from consumers for leave to directly refer matters  to the 
Tribunal where the Regulators issued notices of non-referral (7 CPA applications and 6 NCA applications). In these 
instances, the Tribunal first consider whether or not to grant the Applicant leave to refer the matter directly to the 
Tribunal for consideration.  Should the Tribunal be of the view that the matter may be referred directly, the Tribunal 
will consider the main application and make a determination on whether or not prohibited conduct occurred and 
if so make an appropriate decision.  Examples of these types of applications are discussed in the notable judgment 
section on page 40. 

ADJUDICATION

Introduction

The core function of the Tribunal is adjudication. This is contained in section 27 of the NCA as amended. This section 
provides that the NCT’s function is to adjudicate on applications and referrals of prohibited conduct filed with it in 
terms of the NCA and the CPA. Its mandate also includes reviewing decisions made by the NCR and NCC, hearing 

interim relief applications and hearing appeals from single member judgments of the NCT. In addition to the regular 

processing of compliance notices and applications for the cancellation of registration of registrants, referrals regarding 

prohibited conduct by registrants and service providers can also be filed with the NCT.

The Tribunal can then make certain orders in terms of section 150 of the NCA in respect of the matters it adjudicated on.
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Tribunal members 

The President of the Republic of South Africa appoints the Tribunal members to fulfil the Tribunal’s adjudicative 
function. The Tribunal has 13  members, consisting of three fulltime members, being the Chairperson and two other 
members, and 10 part-time Tribunal members. 

A review of the CV’s of the Tribunal members (See Annexure A on page 133 of this report) illustrates this group’s wide 
range of qualifications and experience and the reason for the NCT’s success in the adjudication of its cases.

Tribunal members as at 31 March 2015

Ms Diane Terblanche – Chairperson (Fulltime 
member)

Dr. Bonke Dumisa – Deputy Chairperson (Part-time 
member)

Ms Laura Best – Part-time Member Ms Penelope Beck – Part-time Member

Prof. Joseph Maseko – Part-time Member Mr Xolela May – Part-time Member

Adv. Frans Manamela – Part-time Member Ms Yasmin Carrim – Part-time Member 

Adv. Neo Sephoti – Part-time Member Mr Fungai Sibanda – Part-time Member 

Prof. Tanya Woker – Part-time Member Ms Hazel Devraj – Fulltime Member

Adv. J Simpson – Fulltime Member

The Tribunal Members responsible for the adjudication of cases brought before the Tribunal are subject to the NCT 
performance management system and operate in terms of formal performance agreements. They are guided by the 

Tribunal’s core values, Code of Ethics and Conflict of Interest Policy. 

Front: Ms Diane Terblanche, Prof Bonke Dumisa
Middle: Ms Yasmin Carrim, Ms Neo Sephoti, Adv 

Frans Manamela, Ms Laura Best, Ms Penelope Beck
Back:  Ms Hazel Devraj, Prof Tanya Woker, Mr Fungai 

Sibanda, Mr Xolela May, Adv John Simpson,  
Prof Joseph Maseko  

Tribunal Members
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The Adjudication process 

Three or one-member Tribunal panels may hear cases. The NCA and the CPA prescribes the types of cases for one- 

or three-member panels. The Chairperson of the Tribunal allocates cases to either a one- or three-member panel of 

Tribunal Members, depending on the type of case as provided for in the NCA. 

The Tribunal has national jurisdiction and is charged with hearing matters in an inquisitoral, expeditious and 

informal manner in accordance with the principles of natural justice. The Tribunal hears its set down matters at its 

premises in Centurion or anywhere in the Republic depending on costs, speed and convenience to the parties and 

the Tribunal. It has made great strides in improving its accessibility and efficiency by allowing witnesses to testify 

via Skype and telephone conferencing irrespective of where the matter has been set down. Tribunal members 

access their allocated debt re-arrangement cases via remote desktop services. 

The Tribunal changed its process for distributing case files and availing case information, to Tribunal members over 

the period, from a fully manual to a partially electronic process. Whereas in previous years cases were copied and 

couriered to Tribunal members, over the last year, through the digitisation of files and case information Tribunal 

members were enabled to access their allocated case files electronically from wherever they are through remote 

desktop services. This led to a substantial decrease in the costs of adjudication. Over the past year the number of 

debt re-arrangements applications allocated to a Tribunal member increased from 12 over three days to 24 over 

three days, with the implementation of an electronic consent order assistant. The electronic consent order assistant 

is an Excel spreadsheet-driven application, which allows a Tribunal member to adjudicate more expeditiously 

on debt re-arrangement applications.  This application alerts the Tribunal member pro-actively to any possible 

overcharging of interest or other illegal term.  It further more assists with the calculations applicable to ensure 

that consumers do not pay more than what is required. This has contributed to further substantial decreases in the 

adjudication costs. 

Furthermore over the past reporting period, in order to further contain costs, expedite finalisation of cases and 

maximise Tribunal members’ availability, the Tribunal combined multiple hearings on one day. This led to the 

Tribunal being able to contain, and in some instances reduce, its adjudication costs for non-debt re-arrangement 

applications within its budget. 

During the year under review, the Tribunal Members continued to serve the NCT with distinction.  Each Tribunal 

Member had an average of 19 non-debt re-arrangement applications to consider during the review period, and 

adjudicated 416 debt re-arrangement agreement applications on average. This year the Tribunal adjudicated on 

5 408 debt re-arrangement- and 69 non-debt re-arrangement matters in total. During the 2013/14 financial year, 

the Tribunal adjucated on 71 non-debt re-arrangements matters and 3 387 debt re-arrangement matters.  This 

indicates a 59.67% increase in the number  of debt re-arrangement matters adjudicated on year-on-year. 

Despite the steps taken to manage the increased case load, the NCT requires additional Tribunal Members.  The 

NCT engaged with the dti regarding the appointment of additional fulltime and part-time Tribunal Members. The 

caseload is carefully monitored, to ensure that the necessary resources are in place to deal with it.  This monitoring 

will continue, especially once matters in terms of the NCAA, are filed with the NCT.
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ADJUDICATION STATISTICS

Adjudication Statistics 2014/15
Total DRAs Issued 5 408

Granted 5 128

Refused 278
Directive 2

Total judgments issued 69
Applications/Referrals Upheld 23

Applications/Referrals Refused 23
Postponed 12
Confirming	Settlement 7
Directives 2
Withdrawn 2

Appeals Filed
Internal 14

Appeals/Review Upheld 3

Appeals/Review Dismissed 9

Pending 2

External (From inception) 10
Appeals/Review Upheld 1

Appeals/Review Dismissed 6

Pending 3

Enforcement and Redress

In the period under review, the Tribunal heard 24 applications for the cancellation of registrants.  In considering these 
matters, the Tribunal cancelled the registration of five Credit Providers and two Debt Counsellors, refused five applications, 
confirmed four settlement agreements, confirmed one withdrawal and postponed seven matters for future finalisation. 
The NCT also considered four  Compliance Notices,  all of which were set aside. The NCT issued administrative penalties 
totaling R1 506 415.80 and made 17 declarations of prohibited conduct.

The NCT is empowered by Section 150 of the NCA to impose wide-ranging remedies for contravention of these Acts; to 
afford appropriate redress for consumers and deter registrants under these Acts from engaging in prohibited conduct; to 
impose administrative penalties of up to 10% of the perpetrator’s annual turnover or one million Rand. The NCT ordered 
redress to affected consumers, for example, by ordering that the amount of interest that was charged in excess be refunded 
to these consumers. The NCT has ordered in four instances that Credit Providers or Debt Counsellors refund consumers’ 
monies received in contravention of the Act. The NCT has further interdicted these perpetrators from engaging in any 
further prohibited conduct. The NCT declared conduct to be prohibited in terms of the Act and imposed a number of 
administrative penalties, including an instance where a perpetrator engaged in activities of a credit provider or debt 
counsellor but was not registered as such. Regulators’ decisions were also set aside and remitted for reconsideration.

The NCT’s work has been immensely important and played a critical role in guiding parties in the interpretation and 
application of the NCA and increasingly so in respect of the CPA and in setting the tone in determining responsibility and 
in holding perpetrators of prohibited conduct in terms of the Acts accountable. 

In addition to the above, the NCT has enforced consumers’ rights to good quality service and quality goods as provided 
for in the CPA and provided valuable guidance in the interpretation and application of these rights.  Some examples of 

these decisions are included under the notable judgments section on page 40 of this report.
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In a number of important judgments, the NCT advanced the development of consumer protection in the realm of the  NCA 
and the CPA by adjudicating on the matters brought before it. The precedents set by the NCT through the adjudication of 
cases provide guidance and direction to the credit industry participants, consumers and providers of goods and service 
alike and change market behaviour. The import and direction set by the Tribunal through its adjudication is set out in its 

“Notable Judgments” below.

APPEALS AND REVIEWS 

DRA decisions taken on appeal or review

A total of 14 Section 148 (1) applications were filed during the period under review.  These applications relate to the 
appeal or review of single members’ decisions by a three member panel as allocated by the Executive Chairperson.  Of 
these 14 matters, 12 matters were adjudicated on, with three appeals being upheld and nine appeals being refused.

Two matters remained pending as at 31 March 2015.  

Non-DRA decisions taken on appeal or review to the Superior Courts and outcome 

Since its inception, 10 NCT decisions have been taken on appeal or review to a superior court. Of these, only one 
appeal was upheld in 2011 of a judgment issued in 2009. One matter was taken on appeal to the High Court during 
this reporting period, but the outcome thereof was not yet finalised as at 31 March 2015. The details of the appeals 
and their outcome are set out below:

No. NCT case no. High Court case no. High Court decision
Date of 

judgment

1 Southern African Fraud 
Prevention Service Ltd v NCR 
NCT168/2009/54(1)

National Credit Regulator 
v Southern African Fraud 
Prevention Service Ltd 
58190/2010 (North Gauteng 
High Court)

Appeal against NCT decision 
upheld 

May 2011

2 NCR v Christopher Bornman 
and others 
NCT/656/2010/57(1)(P)

Christopher Bornman and others 
v NCR 
A6/2011 (North Gauteng High 
Court)

Christopher Bornman and others 
v NCR 
798/2012 (Supreme Court of 
Appeal)

Dismissed (HC)

Dismissed (SCA)

March 2012

March 2013

3 NCR v Petrus Martinus 
Ferreira 
NCT/166/2008/57(1)(P)

PM Ferreira v NCR 
51467/2010 (North Gauteng 
High Court)

Dismissed December 
2011

4 Barko Financial Services (Pty) 
Ltd v NCR
NCT/743/2010/56(1)(P)

Barko Financial Services (Pty) Ltd 
v NCR 
A499/2011 (North Gauteng High 
Court

Barko Financial Services (Pty) Ltd 
v NCR 
415/2013 (Supreme Court of 
Appeal)

Dismissed (HC)

Dismissed (SCA)

March 2013

September 
2014
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No. NCT case no. High Court case no. High Court decision
Date of 

judgment

5 Telegenix Trading 340 CC v 
NCC and Silas Phadagi
NCT/8697/2013/101(1)

Telegenix Trading 340 CC v NCT, 
NCC and Phadagi 
726/2014 (North Gauteng High 
Court)

The Court set aside the NCC’s 
letter/decision of 8 April 2013. 
The NCT’s judgment remained 
in force

April 2014

6 De Klerk v NCR
NCT/6210/2012/57(1)

De Klerk v NCT, NCR et al 
33329/2013 (North Gauteng 
High Court)

The parties reached a settlement 
agreement which was made an 
order of the High Court

June 2013

7 JW van Zyl v NCR
NCT/3868/2012/57(1)

JW van Zyl v NCR
AR620/13 (KwaZulu-Natal High 
Court)

Matter set down for hearing 
on 1 September 2014 but 
Appellant filed notice of 
withdrawal on date of hearing

Appellant 
filed 
Notice of 
Withdrawal

8 MC Bouah Enterprises v 
Dynacon Global Trading
NCT/7936/2013/75(1)

MC Bouah Enterprises v Dynacon 
Global Trading, NCT 
35836/2014 (North Gauteng 
High Court)

Matter set down for hearing 
on 7 July 2014, but postponed 
sine die

Pending

9 P Byleveld v Execor Twelve 
(Pty) Ltd t/a Motor City & The 
NCC
NCT/10686/2013/75(1)

Execor Twelve t/a Motor City v P 
Byleveld
A446/14 (North Gauteng High 
Court)

Matter to be set down for 
hearing

Pending

10 NCR v Capitec Bank Limited
NCT/9152/2013/140(1)

NCR v Capitec Bank Limited & the 
NCT 
A440/14 (North Gauteng High 
Court)

Matter set down for 24 
February 2016

Pending

Notable judgments

The following judgments issued during the year under review are noteworthy and serve as examples of the types of 

cases the Tribunal dealt with. 

Deregistration of a credit provider

THE NATIONAL CREDIT REGULATOR v KAREE CASH LOANS 
NCT/8612/2013/57(1)

This was an application in terms of Section 57 (1) of the NCA for an order to cancel the Respondent’s registration 
as a credit provider and other ancillary relief. The Applicant submitted that the Respondent engaged in prohibited 
conduct by charging excessive interest, amongst other transgressions. The Respondent did not submit an answering 
affidavit and the Tribunal deemed the facts as alleged to be admitted in accordance with Rule 13(5) of the Rules of 
the Tribunal. The Tribunal found that the Respondent had repeatedly engaged in prohibited conduct. The evidence 
before the Tribunal was that the Respondent did not even make a nominal attempt to comply with the Act. The 
Tribunal ordered the cancellation of the registration of the Respondent as a credit provider and that the Respondent 
must appoint an auditor at its own costs who must determine the amounts due to each consumer. The Respondent 

must further refund those amounts to each consumer that was charged interest in excess of prescribed rates.

NATIONAL CREDIT REGULATOR v BORNMAN t/a STAR PAWN SHOP 
NCT/8613/2013/57(1)

This was an application for cancellation of registration of a credit provider in terms of Section 57(1) of the NCA. 
The NCR conducted an investigation into the activities of the Respondent, an unregistered credit provider. The 
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applicant sought an order to declare the Respondent’s conduct to be prohibited and for the Tribunal to impose an 
administrative fine. The Tribunal found that it could only cancel a registration in respect of a registrant. It followed that 
if a person is not registered in terms of the Act, an application to cancel registration will not succeed. On the other 
hand the Tribunal found that the Respondent’s non-registration in terms of the Act did not absolve it from complying 
with the requirements of the Act. The Tribunal declared the repeated contravention of the Act and regulations by 
the Respondent to be prohibited conduct and interdicted it from engaging in any further prohibited conduct. 
Furthermore, the Respondent was ordered to refund all past and existing consumers all amounts charged in excess 
of the prescribed rates. The Respondent was further ordered to appoint an auditor to determine the amounts due to 

consumers. 

Deregistration of a debt counsellor

THE NATIONAL CREDIT REGULATOR v WERNER WILBERS 
NCT/9596/2013/57(1))

This was an application to the Tribunal for the cancellation of the Respondent’s registration as a debt counsellor in 
terms of Section 57(1) of the NCA. The Applicant had received complaints from consumers who had applied for debt 
review with the Respondent. The cancellation was sought on the basis of the repeated failure by the Respondent to 
comply with the conditions of registration and repeated contraventions of the Act. The Tribunal, however, refused the 
application for deregistration as the registration had already lapsed automatically in 2011. Furthermore, the Tribunal 

ordered the Respondent to surrender all its client files to the Applicant and to provide a contact list of all clients. 

Referral of prohibited conduct by NCR

NATIONAL CREDIT REGULATOR v MARANG FINANCIAL SERVICES 
NCT/16157/2014/140

The Applicant brought an application in terms of section 140(1) of the NCA to declare the conduct of the Respondent 
to be unlawful and prohibited in terms of the Act, ordering that the Respondent refund all the consumers who were 
charged interest and fees that exceeded the maximum allowed by the Act, and imposing an administrative fine and 
any other relief that would be just under the circumstances. The Respondent was a developmental credit provider 
subject to general and specific conditions of registrations. The Respondent did not attend the proceedings and after 
considering the evidence and submissions of the Applicant, the Tribunal found that the Respondent had contravened 
the provision of the Act. The Tribunal referred to the Werlan decision in the determination of an Administrative fine to 
be imposed against the Respondent. The Respondent was fined R450 000.00 for its action in the contravention of the 
Act. The Tribunal also ordered that the Respondent appoint an auditor and submit to the Applicant within 60 days a 

report detailing all amounts repaid and the recipients of the repayments.

Interim Relief

DUBE v MCCARTHY FINANCE (WESBANK) 
NCT/505/2010/149(1)

The Applicant brought an application for interim relief in terms of Section 149 of the NCA. The initial application for 
interim relief was lodged four years prior to the date of the hearing, but the matter was postponed for the parties 
to resolve the dispute directly between themselves and thereafter request that the matter be set down when a 
settlement was reached or for the application for interim relief to be finalised. The latter did not happen and as a result 
the Respondent proceeded to obtain a Writ of Execution in the High Court against a motor vehicle financed by the 
Respondent. In the application to the Tribunal the Applicant argued that the action of the Respondent resulted in him 
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being placed in imminent harm or prejudice. The application was dismissed on the 
basis that the basis of the urgency which existed four years prior to the hearing did 

not exist and that the Respondent was prejudiced because in the intervening four 
years the Applicant had the full use, possession and enjoyment of the motor vehicle 

and had not made any payments towards the amounts due to the Respondent, nor 
did the Applicant come to any arrangement with the Respondent with regard to any 

payments. 

NCT considering contents of a settlement agreement

NATIONAL CREDIT REGULATOR v BAMBANANI CASH LOANS (ECONOCON 654 
CC) NCT/13913/2014/140(1)

The Applicant brought an application in terms of Section 140 of the NCA seeking an order declaring 
the Respondent to have engaged in prohibited conduct and for the imposition of an administrative 

fine. The parties entered into a settlement agreement, however the Tribunal refused to confirm the 
agreement as a consent order due to problems with the contents of the application. The Applicant 

subsequently applied for an amendment of its application and a new settlement agreement was entered 
into. The settlement agreement confirmed that the Respondent had engaged in prohibited conduct, that the 

Respondent would refrain from engaging in prohibited enforcement practices, that affordability assessment 
mechanisms would be implemented as prescribed by the Act, that an administrative fine of R23 000.00 would be 
imposed and that each party would settle their own legal costs. The Tribunal being satisfied with the amendments 

and the agreement confirmed the settlement as a consent order.

THE NATIONAL CREDIT REGULATOR v ALPHA SCK MIKROLENERS 
NCT/8272/2013/57(1)

This was an application for cancellation of registration of a credit provider in terms of Section 57(1) of the NCA, whereby 

the Respondent failed to comply with provisions of the Act and its conditions of registration. A previous settlement 

agreement between the parties was brought to the Tribunal’s attention during the hearing and the Tribunal had to 

determine whether the settlement agreement was in fact binding. The Applicant had initially agreed to a settlement 

agreement and then did not sign the agreement.  The Tribunal had to consider whether a party to a contract can 

unilaterally repudiate such a contract. It was held that the act of repudiation is analogous to an offer to rescind. The 

breach is fully constituted or completed only when the repudiation is accepted by the innocent party. If the offer to 

repudiate is rejected by the innocent party, the repudiation is a nullity with no legal effect at all. It is the view of the 

Tribunal then that the attempt by the Applicant to repudiate the agreement in question has not been accepted by 

the Respondent. This was evident from the point in limine raised at the hearing. The repudiation is therefore of no 

force and effect.  Based on the evidence provided to the Tribunal, the Tribunal found that the settlement agreement 

between the parties is binding between the parties. The said settlement agreement was made an order of the Tribunal.

Imposing of an Administrative penalty

NATIONAL CREDIT REGULATOR v HYAN ABRAHAMS 
NCT/13393/2014/57(1)

The Applicant brought an application in terms of Section 57(1) of the NCA for the cancellation of the Respondent’s 
registration as a debt counsellor allegedly due to the Respondent’s repeated failure to comply with its conditions of 

registration and/or repeated contraventions of the Act. The Respondent did not file an answering affidavit and did 
not appear at the hearing despite proof being provided to show that the Respondent had been properly served 
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with the application and notice of set down. The Tribunal was satisfied that the requirements for a default judgment 
had been met and in the absence of an answering affidavit, the Tribunal deemed the allegations contained in the 
application to be admitted in terms of Rule 13(5) of the Rules. The Tribunal found that the Respondent repeatedly failed 
to comply with the Act and that it had a serious impact on the consumers who were his clients. In the circumstances, 
cancellation of his registration was justified.  The Tribunal further found that despite the Applicant not providing the 
necessary full annual financial data, the imposition of an administrative fine of R506 415.80 was appropriate in respect 

of the prohibited conduct.

Leave to refer a CPA non-referral

ESTHER RHULANI TSHWALE v FAITZAN 
NCT/12505/2014/75(1)(b) & (2) CPA

The Applicant in the matter, acting on behalf of True Harvest College, brought an application in terms of Section 75(1)
(b) of the Consumer Protection Act after receiving a notice of non-referral in response to a complaint lodged with the 
National Consumer Commission. A single member of the Tribunal had to consider the application for leave to refer 
the matter to the Tribunal. In considering the application the Tribunal had to determine whether the matter was of 
substantial importance to either of the parties and the reasonable prospects of success the Applicant had in respect 
of the referral. The Tribunal held that based on the lengths the Applicant went through to lodge the complaint with 
the NCC and the Tribunal, the value of the claim and the volume of pleadings before the Tribunal, the matter was 
of substantial importance to the Applicant. In order to determine whether the Applicant had reasonable prospects 
of success with the referral, the Tribunal had to assess whether the CPA was applicable in respect of the dispute. 
The Tribunal further considered the nature of the inquisitorial process followed by the Tribunal as opposed to the 
adversarial process followed by the courts. The Tribunal held that the allegations made against the Respondent in 
respect of a possible contravention of the CPA, clearly made out a case that allowed the Tribunal to grant leave to 

refer the complaint to the Tribunal.

DECEMBER DUMISANI MAHLANGU v CLUB LEISURE DEVELOPMENT 
NCT/13675/2014/75(1)(P)CPA)

The Applicant brought an application in terms of Section 75(1)(b) of the CPA, for leave to apply directly to the 
Tribunal after being issued a Notice of Non-referral in response to a complaint lodged with the National Consumer 
Commission. During July 2009, the Applicant had entered into an agreement with the Respondent and Flexi Holiday 
Club for the purchase of points and a membership with Flexi Holiday Club. The Respondent financed the purchase of 
the club points by entering into a credit agreement with the complainant. The Applicant tried to cancel the agreement   
but was advised that the 5-day period within which to cancel the agreement had lapsed and that the agreement 
could not be cancelled as it was a lifetime agreement. A default judgement was granted against the Applicant and a 
warrant of execution was issued by a Magistrate’s court with jurisdiction. The Applicant sought an order cancelling 
the agreement and an order for rescission of the judgement against him. The Tribunal held that the CPA was not 
applicable as it does not apply retrospectively, that the credit agreement fell within the ambit of the NCA.  It further 
held that the complaint was lodged against Flexi Holiday Club and not the Respondent thus the incorrect party was 
before the Tribunal and that the Magistrates Court was the correct forum within which to deal with the issue of the 

judgement taken against the Applicant. The application was dismissed.
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DOYLE v KILLEEN AND OTHERS 
NCT/12984/2014/75(1)(b)(CPA)

This was an application in terms of Section 75(1)(b) of the CPA for leave to apply 
directly to the NCT on the premise that the National Consumer Commission issued a 

notice of non-referral in response to a complaint by the Applicant. The Applicant in this 
matter purchased a residential property from the seller and claimed that the roof had to 

be replaced, which constituted a defect in the property. The Applicant claimed against 
the seller and the estate agent. The Tribunal considered the legal argument submitted in 

support of the claim taking into consideration the intention of the CPA. The applicability 
of the CPA to once-off or private transactions was considered. It was found that there was 

no evidence to show that the seller sold the property in the ordinary course of business, as it 
was sold as a once off transaction and the seller did not in any way engage in the business of 

selling properties. There was further no basis for a finding that the Estate agent was responsible 
for the defects in the property or was liable in terms of the CPA. The Tribunal found that there was no 

reasonable prospect of success in this matter and leave to refer was not granted to the Applicant.

Leave to refer a NCA non-referral

SELLO STEPHEN MAPEKA v WESBANK 
NCT/14020/2014/140(1)

The Applicant lodged an application in terms of section 141(1)(b) of the NCA, for leave to refer the matter directly to 
the Tribunal. The Applicant sought a finding of prohibited conduct on the part of the Respondent in order to obtain 
a certificate in terms of section 164(3) of the Act, which would enable him to proceed to the High Court to seek an 
award of damages. In deciding whether to grant the leave to refer the matter directly, the Tribunal had to consider the 
importance of the case to the parties and the reasonable prospects of success. The Tribunal held that it was clear from 
the history of the matter that the issue was of substantial importance to the Applicant. In considering the reasonable 
prospects of success, the Tribunal relied on section 166(1)(a) of the Act. The Applicant entered into an instalment 
agreement with the Respondent for the purchase of a motor vehicle on 13 July 2007. The cause of action arose in 2008 
when the Respondent sold the Applicant’s car. The Tribunal held that Section 166(1)(a) of the Act is very clear and 
places an absolute bar if the matter is older than three years. The Tribunal further held that despite any subsequent 
complaints or settlement negotiations having been lodged in other forums, the Tribunal was compelled to make its 
decision based on the primary incident of 2008. Therefore the Tribunal held that the matter had prescribed and leave 
to refer the matter was not granted. The Respondent subsequently requested the Tribunal to make an order of costs 
against the Applicant in terms of section 147 of the Act. The Tribunal held that there was no clear indication before 
the Tribunal that the Applicant was being vexatious or frivolous in pursuing his claim and the Tribunal was therefore 
unable to find that a cost order was justified in the circumstances. 

Review of a Sale of Goods

CARMEN JOUBERT v ABSA 
NCT/10685/2013/128(1)

The Applicant brought an application in terms of Section 128 of the NCA applying to the Tribunal to review the sale of 
the vehicle and to make an order compelling the Respondent to credit and pay to the Applicant an additional amount 

exceeding the net proceeds of sale. The Respondent did not file an answering affidavit and was not represented 
at the hearing. However the Applicant did not apply for a default order. The Tribunal was satisfied that the 
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Respondent had been properly notified of the date, time and venue of the proceedings and continued with the 
proceedings in the absence of the Respondent. Section 128 requires the consumer to have unsuccessfully attempted 
to resolve the disputed sale of goods directly with the credit provider or through an alternative dispute resolution 
agent. The Tribunal held that there was no evidence that the Applicant disputed the matter with the Respondent 
regarding the price of the goods obtained or the delay. The application to the Tribunal to review the sale of the vehicle 

was dismissed.

Order to give effect to a CPA right

DANE JARVIS v GM ALBERANTE MOTORS 
NCT/13959/2014/75(1)(b))

This was an application in terms of Section 75(1)(b) of the CPA for leave to apply directly to the NCT on the premise that 
the National Consumer Commission issued a notice of non-referral in response to a complaint by the Applicant. The 
Applicant was seeking to enforce his right to good quality service (Section 54 of the CPA). His complaint arose out of 
his car’s engine malfunctioning after being repaired by the Respondent. The Respondent refused to take responsibility 
for the damages to the engine and presented the evidence of an expert so as to prove that the Respondent was not 
liable for the damage. Based on the evidence before the Tribunal, the Tribunal found that the Respondent did not 
provide the services in a manner and quality that persons are generally entitled to expect. The Tribunal ordered that 
the Respondent replace the Applicant’s vehicle engine with a genuine GM manufactured engine within 3 months 

from the date of the judgment.

Reviewing Compliance Notices

TELSEK INVESTMENTS 1043 CC v NATIONAL CREDIT REGULATOR 
NCT/742/2010/56(1)

This was an application for the reviewing and setting aside of a compliance notice issued by the NCR in terms of section 
55(1) of the NCA. In terms of section 56(1) the Tribunal may confirm, modify or cancel all or part of a compliance notice. 
Unisa, the employer of various consumers, lodged the complaint against the Applicant. The required form was not 
used by Unisa nor was the written consent of the consumers provided. The Tribunal held that the initial complainant 
did not have to be the actual consumer to whom a loan was granted. Regulation 50 however required that form 29 be 
completed by a complainant lodging a complaint and failure to lodge this form would be non-compliance with the 
relevant regulation. The investigator’s certificate was not provided to the Respondent on the day of the investigation 
and in addition the certificate provided after the fact, was undated.  The Tribunal found that the certificate of the 
investigator appointed in terms of the NCA must predate the date of the investigation. Based on these irregularities, 

the Tribunal ordered that the compliance notice must be set aside.

Variation/Rescission of NCT Orders

CHARLES v ABSA BANK AND OTHERS 
NCT/11206/2013/165(1)

This was an application in terms of Section 165(1) of the NCA to the Tribunal to vary a refusal to grant a debt re-
arrangement agreement. The Tribunal found that there was no draft consent order attached in the file and that the 
refusal was correctly issued. The Tribunal Member did not grant the consent order in its current form. Section 165 does 
not allow for a variation under those circumstances. However the Res Judicata principle was considered and it was 
found that there was no reason why the Applicant could not lodge a new application once the correct documents 

were available. The application to vary the debt re-arrangement agreement was dismissed.
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A TOUFFIE v STANDARD BANK AND OTHERS 
NCT/12407/2013/165(1)

This was an application in terms of Section 165(1) of the NCA to the Tribunal to 
vary a debt re-arrangement agreement, which had been confirmed as an order of 

the Tribunal. The Applicant alleged that Standard Bank was not included on the draft 
consent order. Standard Bank then proceeded to terminate the debt review process in 

respect of that account. The Tribunal found that the initial draft consent order that was 
filed with the Tribunal was lodged with an obvious error or omission as it had omitted to 

include the Standard Bank account.  The Tribunal granted the application to vary the debt 
re-arrangement order so that the debt re-arrangement order included the Standard Bank 

Account, which was initially omitted.

Appeals against Single Member decisions

AT NKAYI v FIRSTRAND BANK et al
NCT/14497/2014/148(1) NCA

The Appellant lodged an appeal against the refusal of a single member of the Tribunal to have a debt re-
arrangement agreement made an order of the Tribunal. The Tribunal member held that the reason for not 

granting the consent order was because the net disposable income of the consumer as indicated on the documents 
was less than the arranged instalment agreed to by the parties in the draft consent order. The consumer was thus 
financially unable to meet the re-arranged instalment. The Appellant argued that the refusal was based on the fact 
that the Presiding member misinterpreted the income and expenditure budget of the consumer on whose behalf the 
application was brought. A full panel of the Tribunal held that although the Act does not require an assessment of the 
consumer’s income and expenditure when considering an application to confirm a debt re-arrangement agreement 
as an order, there is nothing precluding the Tribunal from doing so. The full panel of the Tribunal further held that in 
this matter the information submitted by the Appellant indicated that the consumer could not afford the repayments 
and that the debt counsellor should have rephrased the wording or layout used in the income and expenditure 
document or clearly stated that the instalments agreed upon could be paid by the consumer. The appeal against 
the refusal failed, however the Appellant was at liberty to lodge an entirely new application to have the debt re-

arrangement agreement confirmed as an order of the Tribunal.

CA LINDECKE v NEDBANK et al 
NCT/14498/2014/148(1) NCA

The Appellant lodged an appeal against the refusal of a single member of the Tribunal to have a debt re-arrangement 
agreement made an order of the Tribunal. The Tribunal member held that the application and the draft consent order 
cited JDG Trading (Pty) Ltd, but that the acceptance letters were on behalf of Russels and Hi Finance respectively, 
and that the application did not contain any acceptance letters from JDG Trading (Pty) Ltd. The Appellant argued 
that the acceptance letters contained the letter of JDG Trading (Pty) Ltd and clearly stated that JDG Trading Financial 
Services acted on behalf of both respective credit providers. The full panel of the Tribunal considered the letters and 
held that it was clear that JDG Trading acted on behalf of both the credit providers and that there was no reason 
why the Tribunal should doubt whether Russels and Hi Finance had accepted the agreement. The full panel of the 
Tribunal further held that although the draft consent order could have reflected the description of the credit provider 

in a clearer manner, the final order could have clarified the description of the credit provider. The full panel further 
held that the Presiding member also had the option of issuing a directive requesting clarification or changes to 

the draft consent order. The Tribunal set aside the refusal for the application for the consent order, however, 
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Programme 2: Administration

The purpose of this programme is to provide strategic leadership to the NCT to ensure the successful implementation 

of its legislative mandate through flexible, efficient and sustainable resource solutions and support services.

The following sub-programmes fall under Administration:

•	 Office of the Executive Chairperson – provides strategic direction and oversight over the NCT’s operations and 
fullfills the function of Accounting Authority    

•	 Office of the COO – provides operational direction and oversight over the NCT’s operations 

•	 Financial Management – provides support with respect to forecasting, budgeting, financial resource allocation, 
oversight and management

•	 Human Resources and Facilities Management  – provides support to ensure that the right people are available 
at the right time with the right competencies to ensure that the NCT can fulfil its mandate

•	 Information and Communications Technology – provides support to ensure that the appropriate technology 
architecture, electronic communication channels and associated information resources and services are available 
to ensure that the NCT is able to operate efficiently and in a secure manner

•	 Communications (in the Office of the Executive Chairperson) – facilitates greater awareness of the NCT’s role, 
mandate and adjudicative outcomes and ensures that there are regular, structured opportunities for engagement 
with key stakeholders. 

Strategic objectives

The following strategic objectives were set for 2014/15:

•	 To ensure regular engagement with regulatory stakeholders regarding the consumer regulatory environment
•	 To build capacity by developing research and approved briefing papers
•	 To optimise the financial resources of the NCT
•	 To enhance operational efficiency by implementing an enabling ICT architecture
•	 To ensure the accessibility and integrity of digitised case records
•	 To ensure that the NCT has adequate human resources to deliver services in accordance with its mandate
•	 To contribute to employment.

the refusal could not be replaced with an order because the interest rate that Capfin had agreed to, exceeded the 
maximum rate permitted by the Act. The Appellant was at liberty to lodge an entirely new application to have the 
debt re-arrangement agreement confirmed as an order of the Tribunal.
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The Office of the Executive Chairperson 

The Executive Chairperson provides strategic direction 
and oversight over the operations of the NCT, and is 

appointed by the President of South Africa on referral of 
the Minister of Trade and Industry. As a Tribunal Member, 

the Chairperson fulfils an adjudicative function and is 
responsible for managing case adjudication, including 

managing the caseload of the NCT in terms of the NCA, CPA 
and other applicable legislation.  She allocates cases filed with 

the NCT to Tribunal members for adjudication.  In order to ensure 
that sound decisions are issued and that the NCT is consistent in 

its decision-making, a quality assurance review process has  been 
established before judgments are issued.

 
The Chairperson’s role as Accounting Authority is discussed on page 64 and 

in this role she is responsible for ensuring sound governance is maintained at the 
NCT. She is further responsible for establishing policies, systems and operating procedures and overall oversight 

over all aspects of the Tribunal, whether adjudication, governance or operations.

Communications falls under the Office of the Executive Chairperson. The focus of NCT’s communication is to facilitate 
greater awareness of the NCT’s role, mandate and adjudicative outcomes and to ensure regular, structured opportunities 

for engagement with key stakeholders. This ensures that the NCT operates in an environment where stakeholders are well 
informed and in which the regulatory activities of other stakeholders may be effectively aligned.

The Office of the COO 

The COO provides operational direction and oversight over operations. She manages overall 
operations and ensures that the NCT remains compliant with its objectives and meets the 
deliverables as set out in its Strategic, Annual Performance and Business Plan. The COO is further 

responsible for planning, monitoring, compliance of the NCT with all applicable legislation 
and obligations as set out in various Acts, policies and standard operating procedures and 

establishing relevant internal controls. During the year under review, the NCT met all its 
obligations in this regard. Audit management, risk management and fraud management 
also form part of the COO’s responsibilities and these items are discussed on page 68 of 
this report. The COO’s office is furthermore responsible for compliance management, 
organisational records management and logistical arrangements.

Financial Management 

The financial management of the NCT is the responsibility of the Finance Unit under the management of the Chief 
Financial Officer.

The vision of the Finance Unit is to be a respected business partner that contributes to financial sustainability and 
the sound reputation of the NCT. The mission of the Finance Unit is to optimise financial performance and good 
governance at the NCT by providing insightful guidance, excellent service and ensuring sound internal control.

In order to achieve its strategic objectives and to contribute towards the organisational goals and objectives of the 
NCT, the Finance Unit’s strategic goals have been formulated to ensure the effective and efficient use of financial 

resources.  Sound financial management is an imperative in sustaining the NCT.  The goals of the Finance Unit 
were accordingly set out in the Strategic Plan of the NCT as follows:

Ms Diane Terblanche

Executive Chairperson

Ms Marelize Bosch
Chief Operating Officer
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To provide sound strategic financial advice
Through the monthly monitoring of the NCT’s budget and the compiling of quarterly spending trend 
reports and forecasts for the remainder of the financial year, the Finance Unit was able to advise the 
Executive Chairperson and EXCO on an on-going and pro-active basis in relation to the impact of the 
rapid increase in the caseload on the financial and human resources of the NCT. This enabled the 
NCT to re-evaluate its financial position and resource availability on a regular basis and to shift 
its focus to pressure areas and to reprioritise its spending and the implementation of projects 
in order to stay within its financial means and still achieve its strategic objectives.

To provide effective financial services that maximise the potential value for 
money received
Through sound financial discipline and the implementation of cost and efficiency savings 
in conjunction with other units, the Finance unit ensured that the NCT obtained value 
for money from its suppliers and that more funds were available for adjudication. The 
CFO pro-actively monitors expenses to advise on any abnormal or unexpected increase, 
resulting in the achievement of savings by the introduction of appropriate strategies, i.e 
the ICT backup strategy discussed on page 56 of this report.

In addition, the Finance Unit ensures that payments are only made to suppliers after confirmation of the correct quantity 
and quality of goods and services rendered to the NCT.  Payments will accordingly only be processed on sign-off by the 
relevant Manager confirming the above.

Amongst other initiatives, the NCT negotiated a substantial saving on its monthly rental and implemented a strategy to 
reduce its consumption of electricity, thereby reducing its environmental footprint, in addition to saving costs.

Thanks to sound financial management practices and the cost-saving initiatives, the NCT managed to report a surplus of 
R2.77 million during 2014/15, for which permission will be sought to be rolled over to the next financial year.

It was  of strategic importance that financial resources be set aside for the implementation of various ICT interventions, 
as ICT plays a major enabling role through efficiency gains. Approximately R1.34 million was spent on ICT equipment and 
computer software during the year.

To implement and maintain effective financial processes, systems, controls and policies to manage 
financial resources and risks
Through the updating of the policies and standing operating procedures within the Finance Unit, the NCT was able to 
operate within a sound control environment that has reduced the risk of financial loss to the NCT and the risks of internal 
and/or the external auditors identifying control deficiencies.

Finance Committee

The committee operates in accordance with a charter 
that sets out its duties and responsibilities. The charter 
was drafted in accordance with the Code of Corporate 
Practices and Conduct published in the King Code of 
Governance Principles and King Report on Governance 
(King III), and prescribes that the committee have 
a minimum of three members and meet at least 
four times but not more than six times a year. The 
committee was established in September 2014 and 
therefore only met three times during the reporting 
period. The main responsibilities of the committee 
are to review and provide advice and guidance in 
respect of reviews and recommendations relating to 

Mr Willem Strauss
Chief Financial Officer

Mr Willem Strauss, Ms Hazel Devraj, 
Ms Penelope Beck, Adv  John Simpson
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Human Resources and Facilities Management 

The NCT appointed a HR and Facilities Manager in June 2014. 

As the working environment is a key component to the work experience of staff, facilities, including occupational health 
and safety (OHS), form a key part of the role of the HR and Facilities Manager in addition to human resource management. 

In order to address the NCT’s OHS responsibilities, an OHS Committee was established as detailed hereunder.

the financial- resourcing, internal 
controls, risk management and 

policies with specific regard to  the 
statutory and governance  environment 

within which the Tribunal operates. 

The Finance Committee comprises four (4) 
members

Membership and attendance

Member Capacity
No. of 

meetings 
attended

Ms H Devraj 
(Chairperson)

Fulltime Tribunal 
Member

3 of 3

Adv. J 
Simpson 

Fulltime Tribunal 
Member 

3 of 3

Ms P Beck Part-time Tribunal 
Member

3 of 3

Mr W Strauss CFO 3 of 3

Key areas of responsibility

The committee operates in accordance with an 
approved charter that sets out its duties and 
responsibilities. Among others, the committee’s 
responsibilities are to:

•	 Review and provide advice and guidance on 
financial activities and financial risk management 
matters, and make recommendations in respect 
thereof to the Executive Chairperson

•	 Retrospectively review the monthly financials, 
Medium-Term Expenditure Framework (MTEF) 
and Estimates of National Expenditure (ENE) 
submission, as well as any other financial 
submissions made to external stakeholders

•	 Review the Annual Financial Statements

•	 Consider specific financial transactions and 
any other urgent financial matters as may be 
required by the Executive Chairperson. 

The committee operates in a consultative manner 
and seeks inputs from all relevant internal 
stakeholders, including Executives, Management 
and staff, through the Office of the COO, before 
making recommendations.

Main activities during the reporting period

•	 Recommended that reviews and submissions 
regarding recurring payments be conducted on 
an annual basis with detailed and substantiated 
motivation. Going forward, when procuring 
services, the NCT should consider at that point 
whether a tender process will be required in 
order to avoid having to continuously approve 
recurring payments.

•	 Comments were provided on the standard 
operating procedures to ensure the further 
enhancement of the processes that already 
exist within the NCT.

•	 Engaged with the Chief Financial Officer 
(CFO) to assess the projected caseload and 
whether the NCT would have sufficient funds 
available by the end of the financial year. The 
committee recommended that legal opinions 
be obtained in certain financial areas that 
were unclear or ambiguous. It also proposed 
payment processes and the development of 
a checklist for payment releases. 

Finance  

Committee

(continues)
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As a result of the direct impact of the increasing caseload on Tribunal operations and human 
resources, line management, in consultation with the HR and Facilities Manager, has consistently 
ensured that the resultant increased workload is effectively managed in a sustainable way.

In light of the above, the goals of the HR and Facilities Unit were set out in the 2014/15 Strategic 

Plan of the NCT as follows:

To enable the NCT to be a resilient, flexible organisation through the 
attraction, development and retention of talented people

In order to achieve this goal, the recruitment of a competent and capable workforce 
was a key priority during the year. At the end of the reporting period, 80.87% of the 
Tribunal’s positions were filled. In addition, five  interns were appointed under the 
Internship Programme. This programme not only focuses on government’s youth 
employment priorities, but also acts as a feeder for junior positions, which might 

become vacant within the NCT. The Tribunal also considered other ways to attract and 
retain a competent workforce through the development of a Recruitment Strategy and 

subsequent amendments to its Recruitment Policy. 

Through the finalisation of the NCT’s Workplace Skills Plan (WSP), HR also evaluated key skills required in the organisation 
to which training and development needs were aligned. The plan identifies four strategic training priorities:

•	 Records management training for records officers and the ICT and Records Management Managers

•	 Excel training for all employees in the Registrar’s Office 

•	 A Manager coaching-programme

•	 Project management training for ICT staff.

These training priorities were incorporated into the personal development plans of all affected employees and were 
successfully initiated during the reporting period, to be completed in the next performance period, subject to the 
duration of the relevant identified courses and training interventions. The WSP will be reviewed from time to time to 

ensure its continuous alignment with the needs of the NCT.

To develop an enabling and safe work environment that optimises the potential for employee engagement 

The HR Standard Operating Procedures were developed during the reporting period, including appropriate procedures 
to be followed in instances where an emergency exists or NCT employees are suddenly subjected to a threat of injury 
or harm. In addition, the OHS Committee continued to operate during this year. Team dynamics within the organisation 
were honed through coaching sessions for staff members as well as the management team, the result of which was 
great self-awareness amongst participants and effective dialogue for the betterment of employee relations. 

To shape a high performance culture that ensures that people enjoy work life balance 

The performance of all NCT Tribunal members and staff continued to be managed utilising the NCT’s performance 
management system throughout the period under review. In the same light, working hours for NCT staff members 
were closely monitored and overtime closely managed. Where line management indicated a justifiable increase in 
workload, this was mitigated through the use of additional resources in the form of contingency staff members to 
ensure healthy and sustainable work distribution.  Work studies were conducted for specific functions to ensure that 
resources, whether permanent, temporary or contingent are applied appropriately.

Ms Carol Selepe
HR and Facilities Manager
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To ensure compliance with all relevant employment-related policies, 
legislation and regulations

The HR Unit reviewed all applicable HR policies and procedures to ensure compliance 
with employment-related legislation and regulations.  In addition, HR ensured that 

NCT employees’ input was obtained through a consultative process in relation to policy 
changes that may impact on the relevant employees.  During these sessions clarification 

on changes sought by employees were also provided. All HR policies and procedures 
further served before the HR Governance Committee for expert input and recommendation 

to the Executive Chairperson.

The full report on the activities of the HR Unit is set out in Part D: Human Resources.

Ms Anel Burger, Ms Carol Selepe, Ms Charlotte Modikasang,  
Ms Marelize  Bosch,  Mr Sibusiso Nyathi

Member Capacity
No. of 

meetings 
attended

Ms M Bosch 
(Chairperson)

COO 3 of 3

Ms C Selepe HR and Facilities 
Manager 

3 of 3

Ms A Burger Registrar 3 of 3

Mr S Nyathi Senior Records 
Officer

3 of 3

Ms C 
Modisakeng

Administrative 
Officer: 
Registrar’s 
Office

3 of 3

OHS Committee

The OHS Committee comprises five members, and 
was established to assist the Executive Chairperson 
and the NCT with advice and guidance relating to 
OHS matters within its operating environment.

Key areas of responsibility

The committee operates in accordance with an 
approved charter that sets out its duties and 
responsibilities. Among others, the committee’s 
responsibilities are:

•	 To review and make recommendations 
on OHS and related policies

•	 To identify OHS-related risks and formulate 
strategies to mitigate these risks

•	 To ensure the implementation of the 
formulated strategies within the agreed 
timelines

•	 To ensure that OHS awareness training is 
conducted throughout the NCT

•	 To prepare quarterly reports for the 
Executive Committee (EXCO).
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Mr Bax Nomvete
ICT Manager

The ICT Unit is responsible for providing the NCT with 
systems and services which will enable the business 
processes to operate in an efficient and effective manner 
as well as electronic access to NCT resources by all 
authorized stakeholders (internal and external) in a fast 

and secure manner from any geographic location. This enables the NCT to achieve its mandate in an innovative, secure and 
automated manner.  During the reporting period, the ICT network, infrastructure and business applications experienced no 
significant outages and accordingly supported the NCT in the achievement of its mandate. 

The NCT set five strategic goals for 2014/15 for the ICT Unit in its Strategic Plan, which were achieved as follows:

Ensuring that the ICT Enterprise Architecture supports, enables and meets the NCT’s business 
requirements
In order to meet this goal, the NCT Enterprise Architecture Framework (EAF) Gap Analysis and Migration plan 
identified three key projects for the reporting period. These included the functional specification for the new website, 
the distribution of the spreadsheet-based debt re-arrangement system to filing parties and the implementation of 
the Case Management System. All three initiatives were achieved. The implementation of the Case Management 
System was of a more critical nature as this addresses the streamlining of case management processes to allow for a 
faster and more effective service to stakeholders.

Increasing secure, controlled access for Tribunal Members, employees and other relevant stakeholders 
to the NCT’s key business processes, information and services
The EAF Gap Analysis and Migration Plan identified a project for the implementation of the newly acquired hardware, 
operating system and network infrastructure into a clustered and virtualised environment, thus providing authorised 
stakeholders with high availability and superior access to NCT information and services. This project was successfully rolled 
out and put into production during the reporting period. In addition further enhancements to the SharePoint and Remote 
Desktop services applications contributed to increased stakeholder information access to NCT systems.

Ensuring that the ICT Enterprise Architecture is secure and that its users are protected against hacking 
and viruses
Through the continued effective maintenance of our Microsoft windows-based active directory database configuration, 
the Trend Micro antivirus software and our firewall policy rules we successfully met this goal with no security breaches 
experienced during the reporting period. In addition, Internal Audit did a vulnerability assessment on the NCT’s ICT 

The committee operates in a consultative fashion 
by seeking inputs from all relevant internal 
stakeholders, including Executives, Management 
and staff, through the Office of the COO, before 
making recommendations.

Main activities during the reporting period

•	 Considered training of first aiders, fire wardens 
and the committee itself.

•	 Considered possible OHS risks and 
recommended that the HR and Facilities 
Manager engage with the landlord in 
addressing these risks.

•	 Considered outcomes of a fire drill.

•	 Considered the establishment of standard 
operating procedures relating to possible 
emergencies.

•	 Considered contingency plans in cases of 
power outages and the impact thereof on the 
health and safety of employees.

Information and Communication Technology
OHS Committee (continues)
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systems. The outcome of this assessment was very positive and confirmed that the ICT 
Enterprise Architecture is secure and protected against hacking and viruses. 

Providing effective change management services to support user adoption of 
newly-implemented systems

The change management goal focus in FY14-15 was centred around the implementation of 
the Case Management system rollout.  The systems environment was split into development, 

test and production. ICT staff carefully “walked” through the case management system 
capturing, validation and assessment system processes in the test environment so that users 

would be satisfied and take ownership for different parts of the system as and when developed.  
This approach contributed immensely to the successful implementation of 76% of functionality by 

the end of the financial year.  

To effectively manage ICT-related risk through effective management and good 
governance

The three key structures that addressed this goal during the reporting period included the ICT Steering 
Committee whose primary focus was on projects and more specifically the Case Management System during 

this period the NCT EXCO and the ICT Governance Committee. ICT Risk was pro-actively identified and reviewed 
and reported on regularly utilising the NCT’s Risk Management process. 

A Data Backup Strategy was drafted and implemented. This strategy was identified as a cost-saving initiative, as it 
had become evident that the NCT’s spending on data backups was increasing due to the increase in caseload with 
resultant increase in data. The devised strategy entails that the appointed service provider collects and securely 
stores all backup disks off site on a weekly basis, while daily backups are stored in a secure location on site. The 
aim of this strategy is to reduce expenditure relating 
to backup services, while at the same time enhancing 
the security and availability of backups.

Through the appointed disaster recovery service 
provider, the ICT Unit conducted a detailed data 
recovery exercise. User tests were successfully 
conducted in all business units and the service 
provider issued a certificate to that effect.

With Eskom announcing that load shedding will 
be a reality for the foreseeable future and several 
extended power outages occurring during the year, 
an arrangement was entered into with the disaster 
recovery service provider in terms of which the NCT 
may use the service provider’s premises during 
extended power outages, to allow for minimal 
disruption of work. This service was successfully used 
during the reporting period, and allowed for limited 
work disruption during extended power outages. The 
NCT will consider procuring a generator in the next 
financial year to mitigate short power outages.

ICT Steering Committee

Ms Anel Burger, Mr Willem Strauss, Ms Marelize  Bosch, 
Mr Bax Nomvete
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Communications in the Office of the Executive Chairperson

Stakeholder relations

Stakeholder engagement is crucial to ensure that the NCT effectively monitors and improves its efficiency. Key 
stakeholders include the dti, Tribunal Members and staff, committee members, as well as other regulatory entities 
and the public. 

During the year, the NCT engaged with various universities, consumer affairs offices, courts, professional associations, 
alternative dispute resolutions agents and regulators through 25 stakeholder communication initiatives. The aim 
was to gain more insight into the work these institutions are doing in the consumer protection sector, as well as to 
create awareness of the NCT’s role and responsibilities. Additionally, logistical support was provided to all Tribunal 

Members, staff and committee members who adjudicate hearings, attend meetings, etc.

Regulatory entities

Regular meetings were held with key role players within the dti to discuss policy and operational matters 

pertaining to the NCT. The NCT also held fruitful discussions with the Minister of Trade and Industry and 

parliament during the year.

An ICT Steering Committee, comprising four 
members, was established to provide operational 
oversight over the management of all ICT-related 
projects.  Within the Control Objectives for Information 
Technology (COBIT) framework which the NCT has 
adopted as its governance model there is a strong 
emphasis for an organisation to implement effective 
measurement and control mechanisms to govern it’s 
ICT programmes. The ICT Steering Committee is one 
such instrument used to achieve this goal.   Three 
committee meetings were held during which the ICT 
Manager reported back on progress made in project 
implementation.

Membership and attendance

Member Capacity
No. of 

meetings 
attended

Ms M Bosch 
(Chairperson)

COO 3 of 3

Mr W Strauss CFO 3 of 3

Ms A Burger Registrar 3 of 3

Mr B Nomvete ICT Manager 3 of 3

Key areas of responsibility

The committee operates in accordance with an 
approved charter that sets out its duties and 

responsibilities. Among others, it is responsible for:

•	 Reviewing and providing guidance on 
investment reports, business cases and project 
plans for identified ICT projects in line with 
submissions made by the ICT Manager

•	 Ensuring that the scope of product and 
project development initiatives aligns with the 
requirements of the NCT

•	 Reconciling differences in opinion and approach, 
and resolving disputes arising from product and 
projects development

•	 Reporting project progress to EXCO and the 
ICT Governance Committee

•	 Overseeing the monitoring of contracted 
service providers to ensure that they deliver 
on requirements as per the signed SLA.

The committee operates in a consultative fashion 
by seeking inputs from all relevant internal 
stakeholders, including Executives, Management 
and staff, through the Office of the COO, before 

making recommendations.

Main activities during the reporting period

•	 Considered	the	documentation	and	

milestones regarding the implementation 

of the CMS, which was the main project 

implemented during the financial year.

ICT Steering Committee (continues)
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The NCT built relationships with international counterparts and assisted with 

the promotion of international consumer protection by participating in a 

lecture on Consumer Protection, held in Mahe, Seychelles to celebrate the 5th 

anniversary of the Fair Trade Commission, Seychelles in December 2014.  Training 

was also offered and workshops held with both the Commission staff and the 

Board of Commissioners (Adjudicative counterpart). A further workshop was held 

during March 2015, in terms of which specific areas identified for further training 

during the initial visit was explored.  The National Credit Regulator participated in the 

workshops held in March 2015.

Educational institutions

During the reporting period, the NCT engaged with the Law Faculties at various universities, 

attorney’s associations, bar councils, SAJEI2 and the Law Society of South Africa, inclusive of 

LEAD, being the legal education division of the Law Society of South Africa. 

These engagements were firstly aimed at discussing the Internship Programme and the readiness 

of and opportunities for students and professionals to join the NCT’s permanent staff or contingent 

employee pool. In addition awareness was created about the career opportunities within a regulatory stream 

for students who may be interested in a career in a regulatory field.

The second objective was to contribute to the content and scope of education and training programmes in 

relation to consumer protection. The NCT will assist in compiling the training material for these courses where 

necessary and requested. 

Filing parties

As indicated previously in this report, the NCT embarked on various training initiatives through which it is capacitating 

filing parties, in an effort to expedite the adjudication of cases. It believes that by educating filing parties, complete 

filings will increase, subsequently reducing the administration involved in processing additional documents filed and 

expediting case resolution.

Several workshops and consumer and credit summits were held in conjunction with the NCR and NCC.  These 

initiatives are repeated continuously to ensure that new entrants into the market are capacitated in relation to NCT 

Rules, processes and procedures.

South African Judicial Education Institute2
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Strategy to overcome areas of under performance

There were no areas of under performance.

Changes to planned targets

The NCT’s budget for the 2015/16–2017/18 MTEF period was cut, specifically in relation to the 2017/18 financial year. 

In order to realise further savings, as necessitated by the budget cuts, the commitments made for the three-year 

period, specifically those relating to ICT projects, had to be reviewed.

Permission was accordingly obtained from the Minister of Trade and Industry to amend certain ICT milestones. The 

commitment to procure a service provider to build and implement the website in 2015/16 was subsequently removed 

from the NCT scorecard. The implementation of a separate electronic Records and Document Management System 

was also put on hold until the next MTEF period.

Linking performance with budgets

2013/14 2014/15

Programme Budget Actual 
expenditure

(Over)/
under 

expenditure

Budget Actual 
expenditure

(Over)/
under 

expenditure

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Adjudication 19 041 626 17 404 290 1 637 336 19 398 983 15 256 605 4 142 378

Administration 21 494 849 21 535 335 (40 486) 26 490 647 24 091 913 2 398 734

Total 40 536 475 38 939 625 1 596 850 45 889 630 39 348 518 6 541 112

The under expenditure in adjudication cost can be attributed to a number of factors. Furthermore, a cost-saving 
initiative was implemented through which part-time Tribunal Members are required to adjudicate eight debt 
re-arrangement agreements per day instead of four. This resulted in lower fees being paid than budgeted. This 
cost-saving initiative was made possible through ICT interventions, for example implementation of the Debt 
Re-arrangement Assistant.  Tribunal Members and staff also now travel economy class instead of business class, 
resulting in lower adjudication cost. Refer to Notes 14.1, 18.6 and 18.7 of the Annual Financial Statements for further 
detail. 

Several factors contributed to the under expenditure in administrative costs. The above-mentioned saving in 
traveling costs and staff vacancies, also impacted on lower administrative expenditure. Furthermore, the NCT now 
utilises internal legal staff to provide legal opinions and support services, rather than relying on external service 
providers as budgeted for. The biggest factor impacting on administrative cost was, however, the procurement of 
property, plant and equipment as well as intangible assets to the value of R1 984 742. These assets are depreciated 
over a certain period of time on the accrual basis of accounting. However, spending on these items was budgeted 
for 2014/15 from a cash flow perspective. Details of how the actual expenditure presented on the accrual basis 
of accounting is reconciled with the budget are set out in the Statement of Comparison of Budget and Actual 
Amounts in the Annual Financial Statements.

The capital budget was underspent by R1 141 763, as set out in the Capital Investment section of this report.
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2013/14 2014/15

Revenue 
source

Estimate Actual 
amount 

collected

(Over)/
under 

collection

Estimate Actual 
amount 

collected

(Over)/
under 

collection

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Grant income 36 099 000 36 099 000 - 40 164 000 40 164 000 -

Roll-over funds 3 500 000 2 479 693 1 020 307 4 400 000 1 017 085 3 382 915

Filing fees 420 000 525 400 (105 400) 648 000 903 100 (255 100)

Service fees - 2 735 (2 735) - 2 631 (2 631)

Insurance claims - 12 957 (12 957) - - -

Interest earned 517 475 836 925 (319 450) 677 630 1 047 833 (370 203)

Total 40 536 475 39 956 710 579 765 45 889 630 43 134 649 2 754 981

Revenue collection

Filing fee revenue exceeded the budget as the caseload increased more than what was expected. Interest income 

received also exceeded the budget due to the surplus funds carried over from 2013/14 and not spent as yet on the CMS 

and space planning projects. This resulted in more funds being available for investment than what was budgeted for.

During the July 2014 MTEF process, the NCT informed the dti and National Treasury that it anticipates budget 

shortfalls from the 2015/16 financial year onward, despite receiving an additional allocation in December 2013. 

A detailed motivation for additional funding was submitted to the dti and National Treasury in August 2014, but the 

request was denied. This means that the final allocation for the 2017/18 financial year will be about R1 million less 

than anticipated. 

During the reporting period, the CFO was tasked with identifying potential donor funding and other forms of funding 

to supplement the NCT’s budget as allocated by the dti. Among others, he met with officials from National Treasury’s 

Reconstruction and Development Programme (RDP) Fund, and identified a possible donor for the Internship 

Programme. The CFO will prepare a motivation to be submitted via the dti and the RDP Fund to the identified  donor 

for consideration in the next financial year.

Capital investment

The NCT does not have infrastructure projects and, as such, has no need for a Capital Investment Plan. It does, however, 

have property, plant and equipment that are accounted for in a detailed Asset Register which is reconciled with the 

general ledger on a monthly basis.

The general condition of assets is good, and hence the cost of maintaining these assets is very low. As such, there 

is no backlog in any maintenance programmes. The movement in the NCT’s property, plant and equipment during 

2014/15 is summarised in the following table:
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Property, plant and 
equipment

Opening 
balance

Additions Assets 
written off

Assets sold Depreciation Closing 
balance

Furniture and fittings 384 367 309 499 - - (38 629) 655 237

Office equipment 98 672 1 938 - - (23 584) 77 026

IT equipment 556 908 983 649 (14 371) - (260 515) 1 265 671

Leasehold 
improvements

37 760 56 763 - - (7 755) 86 768

Books 99 163 339 - - (37 016) 62 486

Signage 3 654 - - - (3 480) 174

Office equipment – 
leased

283 165 276 505 - - (201 387) 358 283

Total 1 463 689 1 628 693 (14 371) - (572 366) 2 505 645

Capital expenditure was underspent by R1 141 763 (40.06%), mainly due to the prioritising of the CMS and the re-
prioritising of other ICT projects due to the unavailability of human resources and budget cuts to be implemented in 
year three of the current MTEF period.
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PART C:  

GOVERNANCE
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INTRODUCTION

Corporate governance embodies processes and systems by which an entity is 
directed, controlled and held to account. In addition to legislative requirements 

based on enabling legislation and the Companies Act, Act No. 71 of 2008, corporate 
governance with regard to public entities is applied through the precepts of the PFMA 

and run in tandem with the principles contained in King III. 

Parliament, the Executive Authority and the Accounting Authority of the NCT are responsible 

for corporate governance.

PORTFOLIO COMMITTEES

The Portfolio Committee (PC) on Trade and Industry provides oversight over the service delivery 
of the NCT. 

During 2014/15, the NCT participated in a briefing by the dti Consumer and Corporate Regulation Division 
(CCRD) focusing on consumer protection. In addition, should Parliamentary questions be posed to the dti 

entities, the NCT responds to these questions in writing.

EXECUTIVE AUTHORITY

The NCT, as a public entity within the sphere of the dti, reports, through the Department’s CCRD and the Public Entity 
Oversight (PEO) Unit, to the Minister of Trade and Industry, Dr Rob Davies (MP).

The NCT complied with its obligations in terms of its Shareholder Compact by submitting quarterly reports to the 
dti on or before the end of each respective quarter. These reports were approved by the Executive Authority and the 

Minister noted, through commendation in his approval letters, the consistent performance of the NCT.

ACCOUNTING AUTHORITY

Introduction

The Executive Chairperson is the Accounting Authority of the NCT and holds absolute responsibility and accountability 
for its performance. She provides strategic direction and, in her role as Accounting Authority, monitors operational 
performance and management, determines policy processes to ensure the integrity of risk management and 
internal control, and ensures compliance with applicable laws, regulations and government policies. The role and 
responsibilities of the Executive Chairperson are set out and managed in terms of an employment contract and 
performance agreement entered into with the Minister of Trade and Industry.

The NCT underwent an entity assessment in terms of which its governance practises and compliance with PFMA, risk 
management and audit management practices were assessed by the dti, utilising a generic performance assessment 

tool developed by the dti.  The NCT scored 100% on the assessment for its governance.
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Governance Committees 

The following governance committees are in place to support and advise the Executive Chairperson in her duties:

•	 Audit and Risk Committee

•	 ICT Governance Committee

•	 HR Governance Committee.

Because the Executive Chairperson is also a fulltime member of staff and therefore affected by NCT policies and procedures, 
any matters pertaining thereto are first put before the EXCO for comment. Such matters are then brought before the 
relevant governance committee for consideration and formal recommendations are made to the Executive Chairperson.  

The Chairperson fully considers each recommendation from the governance committees and formally responds to each 
recommendation. When approving a recommendation, she issues an instruction to management through the office of the 
COO to action the recommendation with specific timeframes for implementation. If a recommendation is not accepted 
the Chairperson provides full reasons for not accepting the recommendation for consideration by the relevant committee. 

The recommendations made by the NCT Audit and Risk Committee 
and the outcomes and progress thereof are reported to the dti in 

the Tribunal’s quarterly report.

Audit and Risk Committee

The role of the Audit and Risk Committee is discussed on 
page 69, and the Audit and Risk Committee Report can be 

viewed on page 72.

ICT Governance Committee

The ICT Governance Committee comprises three Tribunal 
Members and an independent IT expert, with the COO 
and ICT Manager attending in their official capacity. 
The committee customised globally recognised ICT 
management governance standards, such as the COBIT, 
and made these an integral part of the NCT’s ICT Governance 
Framework. Compliance with the framework is monitored 

and rated quarterly. 

Membership and attendance 

Name Qualifications Internal/
external

If internal, 
position

No. of 
meetings 
attended

Ms L Best 
(Chairperson)

BCom Economics, Masters in 
Development Studies Internal Part-time 

Tribunal member 2 of 4

Prof B Dumisa BCom, BCom(Hons), MBA, MSc, Doctor 
of Business Administration, LLB, LLM Internal Part –time 

Tribunal member 4 of 4

Adv J Simpson BJuris, LLB Internal Fulltime Tribunal 
member

4 of 4

Mr B Mkhize BA Computer Science, MBA External Independent ICT 
specialist 3 of 4

The CV’s of the members of the ICT Governance Committee are summarised in Annexures A and B.

Prof Bonke Dumisa ,Ms Laura Best, Mr Busa Mkhize,
Adv John Simpson

ICT Governance Committee
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Key areas of responsibility

The NCT is aware of the crucial role played by ICT as an enabler of organisational efficiency and 
business process effectiveness in the modern working environment. The ICT Governance Committee 

serves in an oversight role and works in an advisory capacity with the Accounting Authority. 

It is guided in its work by an approved charter, which sets out several responsibilities. Among others, 
the committee reviews any items/documents requiring approval by the Accounting Authority. The 

ICT Manager submits these items/documents for review. Once discussed and consensus is reached, 
the committee makes a recommendation to the Accounting Authority. It also reviews ICT risks and 

makes recommendations on the internal controls and risk mitigation plans. The Accounting Authority 

may, at any time and at its discretion, mandate the committee to finalise and approve certain issues. 

Main activities during the reporting period

During the period under review, the committee and EXCO team evaluated its effectiveness. EXCO gave it a 
rating of 4.8 out of five, while the committee members rated its effectiveness at 3.5 (industry norm 3–4). These 

ratings indicate that both Management and the committee members themselves deem it effective and an asset to 
the organisation.

The committee focused on the following during the reporting period:

•	 Ensuring that Disaster Recovery and Business Continuity Plans are in place, with periodic testing to ensure its 
effectiveness and whether they can be implemented

•	 Managing ICT requirements as guided by the NCT Enterprise Architecture Framework (EAF)

•	 Monitoring key projects such as CMS from a governance perspective

•	 Monitoring COBIT Compliance Framework elements on a quarterly basis using the NCT Compliance Framework self-assessment

•	 Reviewing the Standard Operating Procedures developed by the ICT Unit to 
ensure availability of the systems on an on-going basis

•	 Reviewing ICT Policies to ensure that they reflect all aspects of good 
governance in terms of ICT compliance within the NCT context.

A significant aspect of the work of the committee was to ensure steady 
progress towards the design and introduction of the digital CMS. Bringing 
on board in-house programming capability has subsequently made 
good progress. This system will play a pivotal role in enabling the NCT to 
effectively and efficiently manage its growing caseload. The on-going 
challenge remains the shortage of high-level ICT skills to meet demand.

HR Governance Committee

The purpose of this committee is to assist the Accounting 
Authority in exercising oversight over HR governance matters. The 
committee comprises four members, including an independent 
HR specialist.

Prof Sesh Paruk, Ms Hazel Devraj, 
Adv Frans Manamela, Prof Joseph Maseko
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Membership and attendance

Name Qualifications
Internal/
external

If internal, 
position

No. of meetings 
attended

Prof JM Maseko 
(Chairperson)

PhD Management, MPhil Labour Law, 
Advanced Diploma in Labour Law, Graduate 
Diploma in Company Direction, Advanced 
Diploma in Management, Diploma in 
Personnel Management

Internal Part-time Tribunal 
member

6 of 6

Adv FF Manamela BJuris, LLB Internal Part-time Tribunal 
member

5 of 6

Prof S Paruk BA, Hons Psychology, MA Clinical 
Counselling Psychology, PhD Psychology

External N/A 6 of 6

Ms H Devraj BSoc Sc (Psychology and industrial 
Psychology) BSoc Sc (Hons)

Internal Fulltime Tribunal 
member

6 of 6

Both the COO and HR Manager attend the committee’s meetings in their official capacity.

The CV’s of the members of the HR Governance Committee are summarised in Annexures A and B.

Key areas of responsibility

The HR Governance Committee operates in accordance with an approved charter, which sets out its duties and 
responsibilities including those performed by performance management and remuneration committees. 

Among others, the committee reviews all reports, plans, strategies, policies and proposals relating to the NCT’s HR 
functions and as detailed in the HR Strategy and makes recommendations in this regard to the Accounting Authority. 
It also evaluates HR risks and makes recommendations on internal controls and risk mitigation plans. Furthermore, 
the committee considers the NCT’s level of compliance with policies and legislation pertaining to governance in 

general, and HR management in particular.

Main activities during the reporting period

During the period under review, the committee and EXCO team evaluated its effectiveness. EXCO gave it a rating of 4.9 out 
of five, while the committee members rated its effectiveness at 4.3 (industry norm 3–4). These ratings indicate that both 
Management and the committee members themselves deem it effective and an asset to the organisation. 

The HR Governance Committee reviewed various HR-related policies during 2014/15, including the Total Rewards Policy, 
Performance Management Policy and Leave Policy. It paid particular attention to the relevance of these policies within 
the NCT’s operating environment, the impact of the Legislative Framework, as well as provisions relating to fairness and 
consistency.

Thanks to the continued support of the HR Governance Committee, the NCT’s HR Strategy and HR Plan were successfully 
aligned with its Strategy and Business Plan. The committee also contributed to various KPIs in the HR Plan. 

The key HR risks identified were prioritised, and the committee addressed the importance of safeguarding and protecting 
HR-related documents and personnel files. It also recommended that Management implement the use of psychometric 
testing during the recruitment process.

With regard to performance management, the committee reviewed and revised a number of job descriptions, as well as the 
organisational structure to be in line with the ever-changing needs of the NCT. It also considered the overall organisational 
performance, the performance of each unit, as well the performance of individual staff members. After assessing each staff 
member’s performance, the committee recommended the final scores to the Accounting Authority.
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During the review period, an HR and Facilities Manager was appointed, and the 
committee is confident that this appointment will allow the HR function to operate 

in a more strategic manner. 

RISK MANAGEMENT

The NCT follows a robust approach to risk management, and risks are assessed on a 
continuous basis. As at 31 March 2015, there were 18 strategic risks on the Risk Register. 

Each ‘risk owner’ reports on the status of the particular risk and mitigating action taken at 
each EXCO meeting. New risks are added to the register as and when they are identified. 

Managers review existing controls to ensure that these are still effective and in place.

Two risks are currently being prioritised:

•	   The constant and rapid increase in the NCT’s caseload
•	 The lack of funding to meet operational requirements due to the increasing caseload.

Progress against risk action plans is monitored and reported on a quarterly basis, and by year-end, 100% of 

the action plans due for implementation had been achieved.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The NCT does not have an Internal Control Unit per se. Under the leadership of the Executive Chairperson, the COO and 
Executive Managers are responsible for ensuring that internal controls are implemented, maintained and monitored 
within the respective business units. In order to ensure that internal controls are effectively implemented and 
monitored, written Standard Operating Procedures were developed and approved for implementation. Compliance 
against these Standard Operating Procedures are monitored. These Procedures will be reviewed and revised from 
time to time to ensure continuous strengthening of internal controls as and when deficiencies are identified and to 

ensure continuous effectiveness and efficiency within a controlled environment. 

INTERNAL AUDIT 

Key activities and objectives of the Internal Audit function

Internal Audit provides Management with independent, objective assurance and consulting services designed to 
add value and to continuously improve the operations of the NCT. It assists the organisation in accomplishing its 
objectives through a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluating and improving the effectiveness of governance, 
risk management and control processes. The following key activities are performed in this regard:

•	 Assess and make appropriate recommendations for improving the governance processes in achieving the 
NCT’s objectives

•	 Evaluate the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management process and contribute to the 
improvement thereof

•	 Assist the Accounting Authority in maintaining efficient and effective controls by evaluating those controls and 
making recommendations for enhancement or improvement.

The Internal Audit function is outsourced to an external service provider, Business Innovation Group (BIG), and is overseen 
by the COO. BIG audits all areas of business in terms of the approved three-year, risk-based Internal Audit Plan.
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In addition, the internal audit unit of the dti also monitors compliance and engages with the NCT from time to time.  
This unit also monitors the NCT’s reports on status of implementation of management’s commitments on audit 

findings raised by either internal audit or external auditors. 

Summary of internal audit work done

During the reporting period, Internal Audit conducted the following audits and reviews: 

•	 Review of internal financial controls 
•	 Audit of predetermined objectives
•	 Asset management review
•	 HR review
•	 Case and records management review
•	 ICT network security review
•	 ICT Hyper V review

•	 Follow-up review.

AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE

Key activities and objectives of the Audit and Risk Committee 

The Audit and Risk Committee provides independent oversight over governance, risk management and control 
processes at the NCT, which include oversight and responsibilities relating to:

•	 Internal audit 
•	 External audit 
•	 Accounting and reporting
•	 Accounting policies
•	 Review of the AGSA’s Management and Audit Reports
•	 Review of In-year Monitoring Reports
•	 Risk management
•	 Internal control
•	 Pre-determined objectives
•	 Ethics and forensic investigations
•	 Finance, Compliance and ICT.
•	 Fraud reporting.

The NCT’s independent fraud hotline service provider is mandated to provide fraud reports as and when reported 
directly to the ARC. The NCT specifically budgets annually for the conducting of forensic investigations should 
instances of fraud or corruption be reported. During the year under review, no incidents of fraud were reported.

Attendance of Audit and Risk Committee meetings

Name Qualifications Internal/
external

If internal, 
position

Date 
appointed

Date 
resigned

No. of 
meetings 
attended

Mr A Amod 
(Chairperson)

B Com, MBA, CIA,  
CRMA, CGSA

External N/A 01/08/2011 N/A 6 of 6

Ms J Meissner B Com, B Compt 
(Hons) CA 

External N/A 28/07/2011 N/A 6 of 6

Mr M Kajee B Compt, CA, 
ACMA

External N/A 01/01/2014 N/A 6 of 6

Mr Ameen Amod, Ms Janice Meissner, Mr Mohammed Kajee
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The Executive Chairperson, COO and CFO attend the meetings of the ARC in their 
official capacity. 

During the period under review, the committee and EXCO team evaluated its 
effectiveness. EXCO gave it a rating of 5 out 5, while the committee members rated its 

effectiveness at 4.9 (industry norm 3–4). These ratings indicate that both Management 
and the committee members themselves deem it effective and an asset to the organisation.

The CV’s of the members of the Audit and Risk Committee are summarised in Annexure B.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The NCT reviews its regulatory environment on a regular basis and has incorporated all applicable 
laws, regulations and policies into its automated compliance monitoring system, Exclaim. The system 

has been rolled out to all managers, supervisors and staff who need to review and report on legislative 
and policy compliance. Compliance checklists are completed on Exclaim, which allows for the generation 

of quarterly compliance reports for Audit and Risk Committee meetings.

During the period under review, the NCT complied with all laws and regulations impacting on its business.

FRAUD AND CORRUPTION

As a regulatory entity, adequate fraud prevention processes are essential to the NCT. Its Fraud Hotline is managed by 
an independent service provider, which is mandated to report any instances of fraud directly to the Chairperson of 
the Audit and Risk Committee. A panel of fraud investigation service providers is in place to investigate any instances 
of fraud reported through the Fraud Hotline.

The NCT is pleased to report that no incidents of fraud were reported during the period under review.

MINIMISING CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The NCT has processes in place to determine whether any of the Tribunal members or staff have any vested interests 
in matters adjudicated by the Tribunal or in the procurement, governance and operational aspects of the Tribunal.  

Annually, Tribunal members and staff declare their specific current interests, whether financial or otherwise, which 
may result in a conflict of interest.  In addition, the Tribunal regularly conduct Companies and Intellectual Property 
Commission (CIPC) searches to determine whether any of the Tribunal members or staff are directors or shareholders 
in companies which might cause conflicts of interest in respect of service level agreements and /or adjudication. 

Conflict of interest forms are completed during the adjudication of each case and before all governance, operational, 
procurement and recruitment interactions.  Any conflict are immediately reported and assessed.  Any possible conflict 
with regard to the adjudication of matters is referred to the Executive Chairperson for a decision.  Matters of conflict 
pertaining to a committee or meeting are referred to the Chairperson of the Committee/meeting. In the event of a 

conflict, the conflicting party is recused.
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CODE OF CONDUCT 

NCT staff and Tribunal Members adhere to a formal Code of Conduct and Conflict of Interest Policy. Through the Code 
of Conduct, Tribunal and staff members are expected to align their behaviour with the values of the NCT. The code 
also addresses disclosures relating to conflict of interest, financial disclosures as well as gifts received. In the event of 
breach, the internal disciplinary process is followed.

There were no reported breaches of the NCT’s Code of Conduct during the reporting period.

HEALTH, SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES

As required by legislation in terms of the Occupational Health and Safety (OHS) Act, Act No. 85 of 1993, the NCT 
strives to provide and maintain, as far as reasonably possible, a safe and risk free environment for its employees and 
stakeholders accessing the premises. 

The NCT is registered with the Compensation Commissioner in terms of the Compensation for Occupational Injuries 
and Diseases Act, Act No. 130 of 1993, and makes an annual contribution towards the Compensation Fund to ensure 
compliance with legal instruments.

OHS forms a key part of the role of the HR and Facilities Manager. The NCT furthermore established an OHS Committee 

to guide and advise it on OHS matters. The committee’s activities are discussed on page 54.

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Staff and EXCO members participate on a volunteer basis in identified corporate and social responsibility projects with 

children’s homes, etc, by contributing cash, clothing, blankets, toys and toiletries, depending on the needs identified. 
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AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE REPORT

We are pleased to present our report for the financial year ended 31 March 2015.

Audit and Risk Committee Responsibility
The Audit and Risk Committee reports that it has complied with its responsibilities arising 

from Section 51(1) (a) (ii) of the Public Finance Management Act (PFMA) and National 
Treasury Regulations 27.1.  The Audit and Risk Committee also reports that it has adopted 

appropriate formal terms of reference as its Audit and Risk Committee Charter, has regulated 
its affairs in compliance with this charter and has discharged all its responsibilities as contained 

therein.

The Effectiveness of Internal Control
The system of controls within NCT is designed to provide reasonable assurance that assets are 

safeguarded and that liabilities and working capital are properly managed in line with the PFMA and the 
protocol on corporate governance for public entities. This is achieved by means of the risk management 

processes, as well as the identification of corrective actions and suggested enhancements to the controls 
and processes.

From our review of the reports of the Internal Auditors, the Audit Report on the Annual Financial Statements and 
the Management Report of the Auditor-General of South Africa (AGSA), we can conclude that the system of internal 
control as applied over financial and non-financial matters and enterprise risk management at the NCT is effective, 
efficient and transparent. This was underscored by the clean and unqualified audit report of the Auditor General 
South Africa (AGSA) with no audit findings. However, a few non-material control deficiencies were identified by the 
Internal Auditors in the system of internal control relating to the ICT Vulnerability assessment. The Committee has 
noted management’s commitment to address these non-material control inadequacies, and will be monitoring 
management’s progress in resolving these issues on a regular basis, as required in terms of the Audit and Risk 

Committee Charter.

Enterprise Risk Management
It is the Committee’s view that enterprise risk management at the NCT continues to be adequate and effective. We 
are satisfied that the enterprise risk management processes undertaken during the year to address high risk areas 
within NCT continue to work effectively. There is an enterprise risk management framework in place, which includes 
the enterprise risk management strategy, fraud prevention plan and policy. NCT’s enterprise risk management 
strategy also includes the fraud prevention plan, policy and the fraud hotline. An updated formal risk assessment 
was also undertaken and risk-based internal audit plans were then developed, approved by the Committee and 
fully implemented. Key strategic and operational risks that were highlighted in the risk register were continuously 
monitored and discussed at the EXCO and Audit and Risk Committee meetings as part of the enterprise risk 
management strategy. The Audit and Risk Committee is satisfied that these risks were managed to an acceptable 

level. 

Internal Audit
We are satisfied that the internal audit function has operated effectively, that it has addressed the risks pertinent 
to the NCT in its audits and has assisted the entity with value adding services to ensure that both financial and 

operational objectives were achieved.

Corporate Governance
We are not aware of any issues of non-compliance with corporate governance. In our view, NCT continues to strive 

towards complying with the sound principles of corporate governance.



73

In-Year Management and Monthly/Quarterly Report
The Accounting Authority has tabled the In-Year Management (IYM) and monthly/quarterly reports to the Minister 
and to the Committee, as required by the Treasury Regulations. The Committee is satisfied with the content and 
quality of these reports. As per our regular discussion with NCT management, management has confirmed that these 

reports were properly formulated in compliance with the PFMA and Treasury Regulations.  

Evaluation of Financial Statements

The Audit and Risk Committee has:

•	 reviewed and discussed the audited Annual Financial Statements to be included in the Annual Report, with the 
AGSA and the Accounting Authority;

•	 reviewed the AGSA’s Management Report that had no audit findings;

•	 reviewed changes to accounting policies and practices as reported in the Annual Financial Statements;

•	 reviewed the NCT’s processes for compliance with legal and regulatory provisions;

•	 reviewed the information on predetermined objectives as reported in the Annual Report; 

•	 reviewed material adjustments, if any, resulting from the audit of the NCT;

•	 reviewed, and where appropriate, recommended changes to the interim financial statements as presented by 

the NCT for the six months ending 30 September 2014.

AGSA’s Report
We have, on a quarterly basis, reviewed the NCT’s implementation plan for audit issues raised in the prior year. The 
Audit and Risk Committee has met with the AGSA to ensure that there are no unresolved issues that emanated from 
the regulatory audit. 

The Audit and Risk Committee concurs and accepts the AGSA’s opinion regarding the Annual Financial Statements, 
and proposes that the Audited Annual Financial Statements be accepted and read together with the report of the 

Auditor-General of South Africa.

Appreciation
The Committee wishes to acknowledge the dedication and hard work performed by the Accounting Authority, 
other Governance Structures, NCT Management and Officials. The Audit and Risk Committee wishes to express its 
appreciation to the Management of the NCT, the AGSA and the Internal Audit

______________________________________
Mr Ameen Amod
Chairperson of the Audit & Risk Committee
National Consumer Tribunal
04 August 2015
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PART D:  

HUMAN RESOURCE MANAGEMENT
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INTRODUCTION 

Overview of HR matters

The HR and Facilities Manager, appointed in June 2014, focused on human resources 
from a strategic perspective. 

In light of the increasing caseload and its impact on employees, the NCT conducted a 
Work Study to identify the exact time needed to complete each task within the Registrar’s 

Office, being the office most directly affected on by the increase in cases beyond the Tribunal 
members,  to ensure that the contingent employee pool is utilised to its full potential and that 

staff members’ workload remains manageable.

At the time, the study found that the human resources available were just about adequate to 
deal with the caseload. However, the NCT experienced a sharp increase in its caseload shortly 

after completing the study which rendered its in-house and contingent resources inadequate. It is 
expected that the newly-implemented CMS will offset some of the additional pressure on staff and 

Tribunal Members. The NCT is engaging the dti with regard to appointing additional Tribunal Members to 
mediate caseload increases in the next financial year.

Further work studies will be conducted across all functions in the NCT to closely monitor the impact of the increasing 
caseload on them. Change management initiatives are being implemented to ensure that ICT interventions, such as 

the CMS, are embraced and utilised.

 The NCT continued to appoint and train young South Africans through its Internship Programme and Contingent 
Employee Pool during this performance period. Both these programmes run over a period of 1 year, the difference 
being that the Internship Programme is for qualified graduates and requires fulltime participation for that period. 
The Contingency Pool Programme on the other hand also allows for those who are still studying towards their 
qualifications in tertiary institutions to provide ad hoc assistance during peak periods, as and when the need arises.  In 
both programmes participants receive on the job training and skills are developed that will equip the participants with 
marketable skills and experience to utilise in the sourcing of future employment opportunities. The NCT furthermore 

serves as a reputable contactable reference for participants.

HR priorities for the year and its impact

The HR priorities were set based on the strategic goals identified for HR in line with the NCT’s strategic priorities. The 
achievement of these goals is discussed on page 78 of this report under “Achievements and challenges faced” 

Workforce Planning Framework

The NCT does not currently have an approved workforce planning framework and will develop such a framework 
in future reporting periods.  Currently, the NCT plans its workforce as part of its strategic planning process, taking 
into consideration its mandate, commitments, available financial resources as well as anticipated number of cases 
expected to be filed. 

The NCT’s structure ring-fences specific business functions, which are directly impacted by growth and variability in 
the demand for its services. These include the case and records management and adjudication functions.
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Employee Performance Management Framework

The NCT’s performance management process can be illustrated as follows:

Performance management of Tribunal Members and staff is vital to the success of the NCT as a whole, and both 
staff members and Tribunal Members operate in terms of performance agreements and accordingly have a clear 
understanding of their individual key performance areas (KPAs) and KPIs. In this way the NCT ensures that the risk of 
not meeting its performance targets is minimised.

The performance of Tribunal Members and staff is measured in accordance with the Performance Management Policy 
and Procedures and is linked with the Strategy, APP and Business Plan.

The NCT follows a risk-sharing model in terms of which 30% of an employee’s final performance rating is determined 
based on overall organisational performance and 70% is determined based on the employee’s individual performance. 
This model ensures that the organisation as a whole is accountable for achieving the performance targets set for the 
year. During the performance assessment process, each staff member conducts a self-assessment and rating, and 
submits this, with supporting performance information, to their relevant manager. The information is then reviewed 
and performance discussions are held with individual staff members in finalising the scores.

The HR and Facilities Manager, in conjunction with the Office of the COO, conducts an independent valuation of the 
performance assessments and performance information on a sample basis to ensure it is reliable, valid and accurate 
and supports each KPI. Managers are then required to consider the issues raised in the reports, and to adjust the 
assessments accordingly in consultation with the relevant staff member before submission to the HR Governance 
Committee as the external moderator. The NCT has an appeal process in place should any staff member feels 
aggrieved by a performance rating by a manager. This rigorous process is followed to ensure that there is evidence to 

support the scores that are put forward and to ensure scoring is non-discriminatory and consistent across the NCT.

Manager and employee discuss, agree and record 
objectives by concluding a performance Contract 

with clear key outputs and KPIs. Development 
Plans are identified in the line with performance 

outcomes and skills gap

PLANNING

Manager and employee actively review 
progress and supportive action needed 

throughout the year

MONITORING PROGRESS
When an employee’s performance is deemed to be 

unsatisfactory, the employee is given a documented 
Performance Improvement Plan by his/her manager 

and an opportunity to demonstrate satisfactory 
performance. If after this opportunity there is still no 
improvement, the disciplinary procedure is followed

MANAGING WEAK PERFORMANCE

Depending on budget availability, good performance 
achieved during the year is recognised and rewarded 

in the form of an annual performance bonus

REWARDING GOOD PERFORMANCE
Performance reviews are conducted biannually to discuss 

performance achievements and identify development 
needs. The Performance Assessment Committee assesses 

the final performance reviews to ensure consistency, 
non-discrimination, substantiation and quality

REVIEWING PERFORMANCE
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Employee wellness programmes

Due to costs and financial constraints, the NCT does not currently have specific 

employee wellness programmes in place, and wellness-related matters are addressed 

on a case-by-case basis. Several wellness events discussed below, however, took place 

during the year.

The CFO provided employees with information on retirement planning, different savings 

models, annuities and general financial planning.   Similarly experts were invited from time 

to time to address NCT staff on different aspects which may be of relevance to career planning, 

general knowledge or life skills.  

In conjunction with World Consumer day in March 2015, Consumers International was invited to 

address the staff on the benefits of a healthy diet and the dangers of consuming too much salt.

With the increase in case load as experienced during this performance period, it became critical to focus on 

Employee wellness. It was therefore identified that the following be addressed in 2015:

•	 The development and implementation of a “Work/life Balance” Strategy (Policy);

•	 Ensuring that Office space is flexible and multi-purpose so as to enable remote working and effective internal 
collaboration; 

•	 The development and roll-out of Change Management Initiatives to ensure effective transitioning in light of 

ICT Systems changes as well as any other fundamental operational changes.

Policy development

Various HR policies and procedures were reviewed during the year, including the Total Rewards Policy, Recruitment 
Policy, Performance Management Policy and Leave Policy. Particular attention was paid to the relevance of these 
policies within the current operating environment, Legislative Framework and provisions relating to fairness and 
consistency. The HR Strategy and Plan were also aligned with the current NCT Strategy and Business Plan. 

The Service Charter was reviewed and the values set out therein were reinforced among staff members. This was 
achieved through values-driven communiqués aimed at ensuring that the NCT continues to contribute to an 

efficient and effective service-oriented environment and sound public administration.

Achievements and challenges faced

Two key performance indicators were set for the HR Unit on the organisational scorecard, namely to ensure that the 
NCT has sufficient human resources to deliver on its mandate and to contribute to youth employment. The HR Unit 
achieved the targets set for both these objectives.

Future HR plans/goals

The increase in workload has been a continuous challenge spanning over the reported period with this increase 
sharpening in the last quarter. With the increase in caseload, came the need for increased staff which affects workspace 
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in the NCT offices. In light of the changing operational needs, HR goals were updated as follows for the 2015/16 
financial period:

•	 To attract, develop and retain the right people to ensure the right skills in the right place at the right time to 
deliver on the NCT’s mandate

•	 To develop an enabling framework and working environment that optimises the potential for employee 
engagement and wellness

•	 To shape a values based culture that champions service excellence

•	 To ensure compliance with all relevant employment and OHS related policies, legislation and regulations

•	 To establish user-friendly HR systems to facilitate and inform accurate HR data and reporting

•	 To establish user-friendly HR systems that support and enable life-long learning and development.

In order to achieve the above goals, the HR unit will focus, on the activities among others discussed below:

•	 Developing and implementing a Human Resourcing Plan that meets the organisation’s requirements and case 
demands

•	 Review and revising the NCT’s Recruitment Strategy

•	 Review and revising the NCT’s Total Reward Policy and investigate the viability of aligning it with that of the dti 

•	 HR Administration

•	 Management training

•	 Internal communication 

•	 Change management 

•	 Workforce planning model to be developed. 

The HR Unit will furthermore be focusing on Leadership Development by establishing a Leadership Learning that 
identifies and develops Core Leadership competencies aligned with organisational requirements such as:

•	 Improving the ability of managers to think and operate strategically and in a hands-on manner

•	 Ensuring that managers have a thorough understanding of the NCT’s role and operations

•	 Ensuring that managers display high levels of emotional intelligence.

The aim is to develop managers’ self-awareness and general management skills to shape the organisational culture 
amidst the increasing caseload and organisational changes.

Various change management initiatives will be developed and rolled out in 2015/16 to ensure a smooth transition to 
new ICT systems, such as the CMS, and other fundamental operational changes.

To ensure that the NCT attracts the right employees at the right time, the HR Unit needs to improve  its recruitment 
strategy. The Unit’s aim is to improve the overall Recruitment Strategy to allow for flexibility in the use of different 
recruitment methodologies and sources of attraction to ensure a more focused and effective process.  The Innovated 
Recruitment Strategy will specifically focus on ensuring that a wider variety of candidates across the spectrum of 
broader South Africa’s economically active population is reached.

A further aim is to improve the performance management system to ensure that the real risk of “burnout syndrome” 
as a result of the significantly increasing workload is mitigated. This might result in an adjusted workforce planning 
model to be developed and implemented. Hand in hand with this is the development of a Total Rewards and 
Remuneration System to ensure that employees are adequately remunerated for their succesful efforts to  deal with 
the ever increasing workload.
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HUMAN RESOURCE OVERSIGHT STATISTICS

Personnel cost by programme

Programme
Total 

expenditure
(R’000)

Personnel 
expenditure

(R’000)

Personnel 
expenditure 

as a % of total 
expenditure

No. of 
employees 
(weighted 
average)*

Average 
personnel cost 
per employee

(R’000)

Adjudication 15 257 8 657 56.74% 20 433

Administration 24 092 11 521 47.82% 19 606

Total 39 349 20 178 51.28% 39 517

* Note: Weighted average utilised as some personnel have both an adjudication as well as an administrative function.  In addition, interns and 

contingent employees included in figures provided pro-rated.

Personnel cost by salary band

Level
Personnel 

expenditure
(R’000)

% of personnel 
expenditure to 
total personnel 

cost

No. of employees 
(weighted 
average)

Average 
personnel cost 
per employee

(R’000)

Top management 2 042 10.12% 1 2 042

Senior management 8 201 40.65% 6 1 367

Professional qualified 4 063 20.14% 7 580

Skilled 4 820 23.88% 19 254

Semi-skilled 787 3.90% 4 197

Unskilled 265 1.31% 2 133

Total 20 178 100.00% 39 517

Performance rewards

Programme Performance rewards 
(R’000)

Personnel expenditure
(R’000)

% of performance 
rewards to total 
personnel costs

Top management 320 2 042 15.67%

Senior management 841 8 201 10.25%

Professional qualified 436 4 063 10.73%

Skilled 281 4 820 5.83%

Semi-skilled 53 787 6.73%

Unskilled 38 265 14.34%

Total 1 968 20 178 9.75%
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Training costs

Programme/activity/
objective

Personnel 
expenditure

(R’000)

Training 
expenditure

(R’000)

Training 
expenditure 

as % of 
personnel 

cost

No. of 
employees 

trained

Average 
training 
cost per 

employee

Adjudication 8 657 139 1.61% 16 8 682

Administration 11 521 473 4.11% 13 36 402

Total 20 178 612 3.03% 29 21 108

Employment and vacancies

Programme/activity/
objective

2013/14 
no. of 

employees

2014/15 
approved 

posts

2014/15 
no. of 

employees

2014/15 
vacancies

% of 
vacancies

Staffing and recruitment* 30 41 36 5 12.2

Total 30 41 36 5 12.2
*Note:  Figures are provided for the organisation as a whole, as it is not possible to report per programme, as some employees, due to the size of the 

organisation, have both an adjudication as well as an administrative function.

Salary band
2013/14 

no. of 
employees

2014/15 
approved 

posts

2014/15 
no. of 

employees

2014/15 
vacancies

% of 
vacancies

Top management 1 1 1 0 0%

Senior management 5 7 7 0 0%

Professional qualified 4 7 4 3 42.9%

Skilled 5 6 5 1 16.7%

Semi-skilled 13 18 17 1 5.6%

Unskilled 2 2 2 0 0%

Total 30 41 36 5 12.2%
Note: This information pertains only to permanent employees. Interns, who join the NCT through the one-year Internship Programme, are not included.

Employment changes

Salary band
Employment 
at beginning 

of period
Appointments Terminations

Internal 
Transfers out 

of band

Employment 
at end of the 

period

Top management 1 - - - 1

Senior management 5 3 1 - 7

Professionally qualified 4 1 - 1 4

Skilled 5 3 3 - 5

Semi-skilled 13 6 1 1 17

Unskilled 2 - - - 2

Total 30 13 5 2 36
Note: The above figures do not include vacancies.
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Reasons for staff leaving

Reason Number % of total no. of 
staff leaving

Death - -

Resignation 5 100%

Dismissal - -

Retirement - -

Ill health - -

Expiry of contract - -

Other - -

Total 5 100%

Labour relations: misconduct and disciplinary action 

Nature of disciplinary action Number

Verbal warning -

Written warning 5

Final written warning 1

Dismissal -

Equity target and employment equity status 

Although the NCT is not required to report in terms of the Employment Equity Act, Act No. 55 of 1998, it supports 
and is committed to the principles of employment equity. As such, the NCT has set itself an equity target ratio of 80% 
Black and 20% White, which was met in the year under review as depicted in the graph below. The NCT also employs 
a workforce with a 61% Female and 39% Male ratio.

18%

82%

White

Black

Race Gender

Black FemaleWhite Male

39%
Male

61%
Female
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The following two tables provide only the number of employees per category. No specific targets were set per racial 
group as the NCT’s internal equity target ratio is used due to the size of the organisation. The numbers exclude 3 
(three) foreign employees.

Levels Female

African Coloured Indian White

Current Target Current Target Current Target Current Target

Top management - - 1 - - - - -

Senior management 1 - - - 1 - 2 -

Professional qualified - - - - - - 1 -

Skilled 2 - 1 - 1 - - -

Semi-skilled 9 - - - - - - -

Unskilled 2 - - - - - - -

Total 14 - 2 - 2 - 3 -

Levels Male

African Coloured Indian White

Current Target Current Target Current Target Current Target

Top management - - - - - - - -

Senior management 1 - - - - - 2 -

Professional qualified 1 - - - 1 - - -

Skilled 1 - - - - - - -

Semi-skilled 5 - - - - - 1 -

Unskilled - - - - - - - -

Total 8 - - - 1 - 3 -

The NCT has no staff members living with disabilities.

NCT Staff Members
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REPORT OF THE ACCOUNTING AUTHORITY 

Purpose of this report
This report is presented in terms of Treasury Regulation 28.1.1 as was issued in terms of the Public Finance Management 
Act (PFMA), Act No. 1 of 1999. The Executive Chairperson of the National Consumer Tribunal (NCT) as appointed by the 

Minister of Trade and Industry is also the Accounting Authority of the NCT.

Nature of business
The NCT is an independent adjudicative entity. It derives its mandate from the National Credit Act (NCA), Act No. 34 of 
2005. This mandate was expanded in 2008 to include adjudication on matters arising from the Consumer Protection 

Act (CPA), Act No. 68 of 2008.

Financial overview
The NCT is confident that it has fulfilled its mandate and has used its funding in an efficient and cost-effective manner. 

The full Annual Financial Statements for the year are presented on pages 97 to 132, and are summarised as follows:

2014/2015 2013/2014

Total revenue R42 117 564 R37 477 017

Total expenditure R39 295 120 R38 894 981

Finance costs R53 398 R44 644

Net surplus/(deficit) R2 769 046 R(1 462 608)

Total assets R13 868 139 R10 503 375

Total liabilities R6 591 421 R5 995 703

Net assets R7 276 718 R4 507 672

In the period under review, the NCT received a grant of R40 164 000 from the dti, which represents an increase of 
11.26% (2013/14: 8.85%) over the previous year’s grant of R36 099 000. This ensured that the NCT was in a position to 
fulfil its mandate, as the grant makes up 95.36% of its total revenue (2013/14: 96.32%).

Income from filing fees increased by 71.89% (2013/14: 33.24%), namely from R525 400 to R903 100. The increase can 
be attributed to the increased number of cases received (9 589 compared to 5 386 in 2013/14; an increase of 78.04%). 
The increase in the filing fee income does not offset the increase in adjudication costs. It is a nominal fee for the 
majority of cases filed with the NCT. 

The NCT’s income from interest earned increased by 25.20% (2013/14: 29.39%) from R836 925 to R1 047 833. This is 
as a result of its increased grant, a higher average balance in the investment account and the NCT’s prudent cash flow 
management. The NCT invests its surplus funds with the Corporation for Public Deposits in terms of its Investment 
and Grant Management Policy. (See to Note 18.3 in the Annual Financial Statements for more detail.)

National Treasury permitted the NCT to retain its surplus funds of R4  507 672 accumulated from the preceding 
financial years. The accumulated surplus at the end of this reporting period is R7 276 718.   The accumulated surplus 
at the end of March 2012, amounting to R3.49 million has been dedicated for renovation of the NCT’s offices and the 
development of a case management system. (See Note 28 in the Annual Financial Statements for more detail.)
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Tribunal members’ costs were also substantially lower than anticipated due to the grouping of cases to be heard on 
one day as well as ICT interventions that reduced the adjudication cost. (See Note 14.1 and Note 18.6 in the Annual 

Financial Statements for more detail.)

Total expenses for the year increased by 1.03% (2013/14: 22.85%) 
from R38 894 981 to R39 295 120. This is due to stringent 
financial - and case management – the latter through ICT 

enablement as well as continuous monitoring and improvement 
of processes.

Administrative expenses increased by R232 705 (5.22%) from R4 457 222 to R4 689 927 due to increased internal 
audits rolled over for the previous year; increased printing, stationary and publication resulting from the increase 
in the case numbers and the re-tabling of strategic documents in Parliament; and training, bursaries and staff 
development resulting from the larger staff structure. The increase in administrative expenses was lowered through 
the NCT’s costs savings initiatives, amongst others, the reduction in remuneration for the Audit and Risk Committee 
members; venues and facilities for workshops and meetings, etc. (See Note 11.1 and Note 18.4 in the Annual Financial 
Statements for more detail.)

Other operating expenses decreased by R1  534  194 (16.46%) from R9  320  350 to R7  786  156. This can mainly be 
attributed to fees paid to consultants (due to less vacant positions previously being filled by consultants as well as the 
implementation of the cost containment measures relating to the reduction in the use of consultants); lease rental on 
premises and parking (due to the new lease being entered into for the next five years at a lower monthly payment) 
and travel and accommodation (due to all local flights being procured at economy class level and not business class 
level). Please refer to Note 12.1 and Note 18.5 in the Annual Financial Statements for more detail.

Tribunal members’ fees and staffing costs comprise 66.12% (3013/14: 62.63%) of the total expenses of the NCT. This 
means that other costs incurred to support the employees and the Tribunal members comprise less than 40% of total 
expenditure. These ratios have changed very little from year to year despite the sharp increase in the case numbers. 
There is a lag period between a case being filed with the NCT and the  time that the members are paid for adjudication 
services. The impact of number of cases filed in the current financial year to be paid for in the next financial year will 
almost double from 1 040 to 1 989 cases compared to the cases filed during the comparable period of the previous 
financial year. 

Employee-related expenses increased by R1 717 782 (9.31%) from R18 460 225 to R20 178 007. This is as a result of a 
number of positions that were filled during the year under review and which were vacant on the structure during the 
previous financial year. The NCT has also increased the salaries of all its staff members with a cost of living adjustment 
effective from 1 July 2014.

Fees paid to part-time Tribunal members have decreased by 1.62% from R5 899 919 to R5 804 335. This can mainly 
be attributed to efficacies gained in the case management process through ICT enhancements, full-time Tribunal 
members being on board for the full financial year  and more than one case heard on the same day.  The NCT also 
procured ICT equipment and software to the value of R1 339 698 in order to ensure that cases are managed and 
adjudicated on in an efficient and effective manner. This has resulted in the NCT being able to increase the number of 
debt re-arrangement agreements to be adjudicated on in one day as was already indicated above. (See Note 14.1 and 
Note 18.6 in the Annual Financial Statements for more detail.)

REPORT OF THE ACCOUNTING AUTHORITY (continued)
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It is recognised that the NCT’s cost of statutory compliance, albeit reducing year-on-year as it is maturing, is still high in 
comparison to its size and total revenue. The cost of compliance in respect of the internal audit function and the Audit 
and Risk Committee amounted to R1 366 010 (2013/14: R1 384 729). This is equal to 3.48% of the total expenditure 

of the NCT for the current financial year and is slightly lower than the 3.56% applicable for the 2013/14 financial year. 

Materiality framework
Material facts of a quantitative nature are facts that exceed the materiality framework and are disclosed if discovered. 
The Tribunal’s materiality level remains unchanged at 0.60% of its budgeted operational expenditure (excluding 

capital expenditure).

Financial assistance from the State
The Tribunal received no financial assistance from the state, other than its grant as mentioned previously. The state 

also made no commitments on behalf of the NCT.

Supply chain management
The NCT’s procurement policies are in line with the PFMA, the Treasury Regulations and the Preferential Procurement 

Policy Framework Act, Act No. 5 of 2000. 

Losses written off
The losses written off are for IT equipment amounting to R14 371 as disclosed in Note 2 to the Annual Financial 
Statements. This write-off mainly relates to IT equipment that was lost or stolen and which is still in the process of 

being recovered from the insurance fund or which could not be recovered from the insurance fund. 

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure
There was no fruitless and wasteful expenditure during the year under review.

Irregular expenditure
There was no irregular expenditure during the year under review.

Material losses through criminal conduct
There were no material losses through criminal conduct. 

Criminal and disciplinary action taken against offenders
No offences were committed and there was therefore no need to take any criminal or disciplinary action in this regard.

REPORT OF THE ACCOUNTING AUTHORITY (continued)
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Events subsequent to the reporting date
Management is not aware of any matter or circumstances as at the end of the financial year, not otherwise dealt 
with in the annual financial statements, that significantly affects the financial position of the NCT or the results of its 

operations.

 

Audit report matters in the previous year
The NCT addressed all audit matters raised during the audit of the previous financial year.

Going concern outlook
The Accounting Authority is confident that the NCT will continue as a going concern for the next financial year.

___________________________
Ms Diane Terblanche
Accounting Authority
29 July 2015

REPORT OF THE ACCOUNTING AUTHORITY (continued)
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REPORT OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL TO THE PARLIAMENT ON THE 
NATIONAL CONSUMER TRIBUNAL 

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Introduction

1. I have audited the financial statements of the National Consumer Tribunal set out on pages 97 to 132, which 
comprise the statement of financial position as at 31  March  2015, the statement of financial performance, 
statement of changes in net assets, cash flow statement and the statement of comparison of budget and actual 
amounts for the year then ended, as well as the notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies 
and other explanatory information. 

Accounting authority’s responsibility for the financial statements

2. The accounting authority is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with South African Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (SA Standards of GRAP) 
and the requirements of the Public Finance Management Act of South Africa, 1999, Act No. 1 of 1999 (PFMA), 
and for such internal control as the accounting authority determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor-general’s responsibility

3. My responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on my audit. I conducted my 
audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that I comply with ethical 
requirements, and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement.

4. An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of 
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those 
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation 
of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

5. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion.

Opinion

6. In my opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the National 
Consumer Tribunal as at 31 March 2015 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended, in 
accordance with SA Standards of GRAP and the requirements of the PFMA.
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REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

7. In accordance with the Public Audit Act of South Africa, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) and the general notice issued 
in terms thereof, I have a responsibility to report findings on the reported performance information against 
predetermined objectives for selected objectives presented in the annual performance report, non-compliance 
with legislation and internal control. The objective of my tests was to identify reportable findings as described 
under each subheading but not to gather evidence to express assurance on these matters. Accordingly, I do not 
express an opinion or conclusion on these matters.

Predetermined objectives

8. I performed procedures to obtain evidence about the usefulness and reliability of the reported performance 
information for the following selected objectives presented in the annual performance report of the National 
Consumer Tribunal for the year ended 31 March 2015

•	 To	expedite	service	delivery	through	the	timely	communication	of	outcomes	of	assessment	of	initial	filings	to	
filing parties on page 27.

•	 To	expedite	service	delivery	through	the	timely	communication	of	judgments	on	non-debt	rearrangement	
matters on page 27.

•	 To	ensure	that	the	NCT	decisions	are	accurate,	objective,	legally	correct	–	substantive	and	procedurally	correct	
on page 27.

•	 To	 ensure	 regular	 formal	 engagement	 with	 regulatory	 stakeholders	 regarding	 the	 consumer	 regulatory	
environment on page 48.

•	 To	build	capacity	through	developing	and	issuing	Briefing	Papers	on	page	48.

•	 To	enhance	operational	efficiency	by	implementing	an	enabling	ICT	architecture	on	page	48.

9. I evaluated the reported performance information against the overall criteria of usefulness and reliability. 

10. I evaluated the usefulness of the reported performance information to determine whether it was presented in 
accordance with the National Treasury’s annual reporting principles and whether the reported performance 
was consistent with the planned objectives. I further performed tests to determine whether indicators and 
targets were well defined, verifiable, specific, measurable, time bound and relevant, as required by the National 
Treasury’s Framework for managing programme performance information (FMPPI).

11. I assessed the reliability of the reported performance information to determine whether it was valid, accurate 
and complete.

REPORT OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL TO THE PARLIAMENT ON THE 
NATIONAL CONSUMER TRIBUNAL (continued)



94

Pretoria 
28 July 2015

12. I did not identify any material findings on the usefulness and reliability of the reported performance information 
for  the following objectives:

•	 To	expedite	service	delivery	through	the	timely	communication	of	outcomes	of	assessment	of	initial	filings	to	
filing parties on page 27.

•	 To	expedite	service	delivery	through	the	timely	communication	of	judgments	on	non-debt	rearrangement	
matters on page 27.

•	 To	ensure	that	the	NCT	decisions	are	accurate,	objective,	legally	correct	–	substantive	and	procedurally	correct	
on page 27.

•	 To ensure regular formal engagement with regulatory stakeholders regarding the consumer regulatory 
environment on page 48.

•	 To build capacity through developing and issuing Briefing Papers on page 48.

•		 To	enhance	operational	efficiency	by	implementing	an	enabling	ICT	architecture	on	page	48.

 

Additional matter

13. Although I identified no material findings on the usefulness and reliability of the reported performance 
information for the selected objectives, I draw attention to the following matter:

Achievement of planned targets

14. Refer to the annual performance report on page 27 and pages 48 to 49 for information on the achievement of 
the planned targets for the year. 

Compliance with legislation

15. I performed procedures to obtain evidence that the public entity had complied with applicable legislation 
regarding financial matters, financial management and other related matters. I did not identify any instances of 
material non-compliance with specific matters in key legislation, as set out in the general notice issued in terms 
of the PAA.

Internal control

16. I considered internal control relevant to my audit of the financial statements, annual performance report and 
compliance with legislation. I did not identify any significant deficiencies in internal control.

REPORT OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL TO THE PARLIAMENT ON THE 
NATIONAL CONSUMER TRIBUNAL (continued)
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NATIONAL CONSUMER TRIBUNAL - Annual Financial Statements

General Information  for the year ended 31 March 2015

Nature of business and 
principal activities

The National Consumer Tribunal (NCT) was established in terms of the National 
Credit Act (Act 34 of 2005). From 1 April 2011 its mandate increased to also 
include adjudication on matters in terms of the Consumer Protection Act (Act 68 
of 2008). It is an independent body that is responsible for hearing and deciding on 
cases involving consumers, credit providers, debt counsellors and credit bureaux 
and providers of goods and services. It is also responsible for reviewing decisions 
made by the National Credit Regulator and the National Consumer Commission.

Accounting Authority DR Terblanche (Executive Chairperson of the Tribunal)

Part-time Tribunal Members 
for 2014/15

BC Dumisa (Deputy Chairperson)
PA Beck 
L Best 
YT Carrim 
FK Manamela 
JM Maseko 
X May 
HFN Sephoti 
FK Sibanda 
T Woker 

Fulltime Tribunal Members 
for 2014/15

HV Devraj
JR Simpson

Key management for 
2014/15

M Bosch (Registrar till 8 May 2014 and Chief Operating Officer from 9 May 2014)
A Burger (Registrar from 1 February 2015)
CM Selepe (Human Resources and Facilities Manager from 1 June 2014)
R Budree (Communications Specialist from 15 July 2014 to 30 September 2014)
BX Nomvete (ICT Manager)
WP Strauss (Chief Financial Officer)

Registered office and 
business address

Block B, Ground Floor
Lakefield Office Park
272 West Avenue
Centurion
0157

Postal address Private Bag X110
Centurion
0046

Bankers Nedbank Ltd

South African Reserve Bank
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The Accounting Authority is required by the Public Finance Management Act (Act 1 of 1999), to maintain adequate 
accounting records and is responsible for the content and integrity of the Annual Financial Statements and related 
financial information included in this report. It is its responsibility to ensure that the Annual Financial Statements 
fairly present the state of affairs of the NCT as at the end of the financial year and the results of its operations and cash 
flows for the period then ended, in conformity with South African Statements of Generally Recognised Accounting 
Practices (GRAP). The external auditors are engaged to express an independent opinion on the Annual Financial 
Statements. 
    
The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with GRAP and are based upon appropriate 
accounting policies consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.  
    
The Accounting Authority acknowledges that it is ultimately responsible for the system of internal control established 
by the NCT and places considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable the NCT 
to meet these responsibilities, the Accounting Authority sets standards for internal control aimed at reducing the 
risk of error or loss in a cost-effective manner. These internal control standards include the proper delegation of 
responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective accounting procedures and adequate segregation 
of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These internal controls are monitored throughout the NCT and all 
employees are required to maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring the NCT’s business is conducted in 
a manner that, in all reasonable circumstances, is above reproach. The focus of risk management in the NCT is on 
identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of risk across the NCT. While operational risk cannot 
be fully eliminated, the NCT endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems 
and ethical behaviour are applied and managed within predetermined procedures and constraints.  
    
Based on the information and explanations given by Management, the Accounting Authority is of the opinion that 
the system of internal control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on for the 
preparation of the Annual Financial Statements. However, any system of internal control can provide only reasonable 
and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
    
The Annual Financial Statements, which have been prepared on the going concern basis, were approved and signed 
on its behalf:    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
___________________________________           ___________________________________
D Terblanche                                                              WP Strauss
Executive Chairperson and Accounting Authority                          Chief Financial Officer
29 May 2015                                                              29 May 2015

NATIONAL CONSUMER TRIBUNAL - Annual Financial Statements

Statement of responsibility for the year ended 31 March 2015
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31 March 
2015

31 March 
2014

Note R R

 ASSETS 

Non-current assets  3 071 097  1 863 538 

Property, plant and equipment 2  2 505 645  1 463 689 

Intangible assets 3  565 452  399 849 

Current assets  10 797 042  8 639 837 

Inventory 4  26 458  64 689 

Trade and other receivables from exchange transactions 5  117 641  142 770 

Cash and cash equivalents 6  10 652 943  8 432 378 

Total assets  13 868 139  10 503 375 

LIABILITIES

Non-current liabilities  217 667  122 812 

Long-term portion – Finance lease obligations 7  217 667  122 812 

Current liabilities  6 373 754  5 872 891 

Trade and other payables from exchange transactions 8  3 851 230  3 694 002 

Short-term portion – Finance lease obligations 7  158 001  117 581 

Provisions 9  2 364 523  2 061 308 

Total liabilities  6 591 421   5 995 703 

NET ASSETS  7 276 718  4 507 672 

NET ASSETS

Accumulated surplus  7 276 718  4 507 672 

NATIONAL CONSUMER TRIBUNAL - Annual Financial Statements

Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2015
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NATIONAL CONSUMER TRIBUNAL - Annual Financial Statements

31 March 
2015

31 March 
2014

Note R R

Total revenue 10  42 117 564  37 477 017 

Total expenses  39 295 120  38 894 981 

Administrative expenses 11  4 689 927  4 457 222 

Other operating expenses 12  7 786 156  9 320 350 

Audit fees 13  836 695  757 265 

Tribunal Members' fees 14  5 804 335  5 899 919 

Employee-related costs 15  20 178 007  18 460 225 

Operating surplus/(deficit)  2 822 444  (1 417 964)

Finance costs 16  53 398  44 644 

Net surplus/(deficit) for the year  2 769 046  (1 462 608)

Statement of Financial Performance for the year ended 31 March 2015
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Accumulated 
surplus

Total net 
assets

 R  R 

Balance as at 1 April 2013  5 970 280  5 970 280 

Net (deficit) for the year  (1 462 608)  (1 462 608)

Balance as at 31 March 2014  4 507 672  4 507 672 

Net surplus for the year  2 769 046  2 769 046 

Balance as at 31 March 2015  7 276 718  7 276 718 

Statement of Changes in Net Assets for the year ended 31 March 2015

NATIONAL CONSUMER TRIBUNAL - Annual Financial Statements
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NATIONAL CONSUMER TRIBUNAL - Annual Financial Statements

Cash Flow Statement for the year ended 31 March 2015

31 March 
2015

31 March
2014

Note R R

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts  42 159 864  37 542 217 

Government grants  40 164 000  36 099 000 

Filing fees  945 400  590 600 

Service fees  2 631  2 735 

Other receipts – Insurance claims  -    12 957 

Interest received  1 047 833  836 925 

Payments  (38 036 434)  (36 660 551)

Tribunal Members' fees  (5 528 899)  (5 663 321)

Employee-related costs  (19 609 933)  (17 816 536)

Suppliers  (12 897 602)  (13 180 694)

Net cash flows from operating activities 17  4 123 430  881 666 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES  (1 708 237)  (847 812)

Additions to property, plant and equipment  (1 352 188)  (472 422)

Disposal of property, plant and equipment  -  - 

Additions to intangible assets  (356 049)  (375 390)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  (194 628)  (255 245)

Finance lease payments  (194 628)  (255 245)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  2 220 565  (221 391)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  8 432 378  8 653 769 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 6  10 652 943  8 432 378 
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NATIONAL CONSUMER TRIBUNAL - Annual Financial Statements

Statement of Comparison of Budget and Actual Amounts as at 31 March 2015

Accrual- 
based 

approved 
budget 
(before 

transfers)

Transfers 
between 

budget line 
items for 
the year 

ended on 
31 March 

2015

Accrual- 
based final 

budget 
(after 

transfers)

Actual 
amounts on 
comparable 

basis with 
final budget

Difference 
between 

final budget 
and actual 
amounts

Note R R R R R

 REVENUE 

Income from 
non-exchange 
transactions

 40 164 000  -  40 164 000  40 164 000  - 

Surplus brought 
forward from 2013/14

18.1  4 400 000  -  4 400 000  1 017 085  3 382 915 

Income from 
exchange 
transactions

18.2  648 000  -  648 000  905 731  (257 731)

Interest received 18.3  677 630  -  677 630  1 047 833  (370 203)

Total revenue  45 889 630  -  45 889 630  43 134 649  2 754 981 

EXPENSES

Administrative 
expenses

18.4  4 420 593  -  4 420 593  4 689 927  (269 334)

Other operating 
expenses

18.5  7 565 349  -  7 565 349  6 829 752  735 597 

Audit fees  780 000  -  780 000  836 695  (56 695)

Tribunal Members' 
costs

18.6  7 055 744  -  7 055 744  5 804 335  1 251 409 

Employee-related 
costs

18.7  23 037 944  -  23 037 944  19 925 788  3 112 156 

Finance costs  180 000  -  180 000  194 628  (14 628)

Capital expenditure 18.8  2 850 000  -  2 850 000  1 708 237  1 141 763 

Total expenses  45 889 630  -  45 889 630  39 989 362  5 900 268 

Surplus for the period  -  -  -  3 145 287  (3 145 287)



104

Reconciliation of surplus for the period with the surplus in the statement of 
financial performance         

Adjustment 
of actual 

amounts to 
comparable 

basis with 
final budget

R

Net surplus per the Statement of Financial Performance  2 769 046 

Adjusted for: Activity

Assets written off Operating  14 371 

Amortisation Operating  190 446 

Depreciation Operating  572 366 

Lease rentals on premises and parking – Straight-line adjustment Operating  179 221 

Finance costs on lease Financing  53 398 

Finance lease payments Financing  (194 628)

Movement in accrual for leave pay – Employee related costs Operating  252 219 

Capital assets purchased Investing  (1 708 237)

Net surplus brought forward from 2013/14 Investing  1 017 085 

Difference between Final Budget and Actual Amounts  3 145 287 

Note:      All the adjustments relate to a difference in the basis of preparation. The budget for these items is prepared 
on the cash basis while the Statement of Financial Performance is prepared on the accrual basis. Also refer 
Note 17 for the reconciliation of net cash flows from operating activities with the surplus/(deficit) per the 
Statement of Financial Performance.

NATIONAL CONSUMER TRIBUNAL - Annual Financial Statements

Statement of Comparison of Budget and Actual Amounts as at 31 March 2015
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NATIONAL CONSUMER TRIBUNAL - Annual Financial Statements

Accounting Policy for the year ended 31 March 2015

1  Accounting policy     
 The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these Annual Financial Statements are set 

out below and are, in all material respects, consistent with those of the previous year, except as otherwise 
indicated.    

     
1.1  Basis of preparation    
 The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with the effective Standards of Generally 

Recognised Accounting Practices (GRAP) and the Public Finance Management Act (PFMA), Act 1 of 1999, as 
amended, including any interpretations, guidelines and directives issued by the Accounting Standards Board. 
The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared on a historic cost basis and the accounting policies are 
consistent with prior years. The amounts have been presented in the currency of the South African Rand (R), 
which is also the functional currency of the NCT. Unless otherwise stated, financial figures are presented to 
the nearest R1.

      
 The GRAP Standards relevant to the NCT are listed below:    
     
 GRAP 1: Presentation of Financial Statements    
 GRAP 2: Cash Flow Statements    
 GRAP 3: Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors    
 GRAP 9: Revenue from Exchange Transactions    
 GRAP 12: Inventories    
 GRAP 13: Leases    
 GRAP 14: Events After the Reporting Date    
 GRAP 17: Property, Plant and Equipment    
 GRAP 19: Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets    
 GRAP 21: Impairment of Non-cash-generating Assets    
 GRAP 23: Revenue from Non-exchange Transactions    
 GRAP 24: Presentation of Budget Information in Financial Statements    
 GRAP 25: Employee Benefits    
 GRAP 31: Intangible Assets    
 GRAP 104: Financial Instruments    
 IPSAS 20: Related Party Disclosures    
     
 The Cash Flow Statement was prepared in accordance with the direct method.    
     
1.2  Significant judgements    
 In preparing the Annual Financial Statements, Management is required to make estimates and assumptions 

that affect the amounts represented in the Annual Financial Statements and related disclosures. Use of 
available information and the application of judgement is inherent in the formation of estimates. Actual results 
in the future could differ from these estimates which may be material to the Annual Financial Statements. 
Significant judgements include: 

   
1.2.1 Provisions    
 Provisions were raised and management determined estimates based on the information available. Additional 

disclosure of these estimates of provisions is included in Note 9 – Provisions. 
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1  Accounting policies (continued) 

1.2.2 Contingencies    
 Management used their judgement in deciding to reflect the surplus as a contingent liability based on past 

experience whereby the previous year’s surplus was approved to be rolled over into the next financial year. 
   

1.2.3 Property, plant and equipment    
 In determining the useful life and residual value of each category of property, plant and equipment, 

Management took into consideration the nature and use of each asset.    
 Leased office equipment and leasehold improvements are depreciated over the lease period with no residual 

value. 
   
1.2.4 Intangible assets    
 In determining the useful life of computer software, Management took into consideration that the software 

will have to be upgraded from time to time. The residual value of computer software is regarded as zero due 
to the fact that computer software is not re-saleable.    

     
1.3  Going concern    
 The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared on a going-concern basis and the accounting policies 

have been applied consistently throughout the year. 
   
1.4   Related party transactions    
            Parties are considered to be related if a party has the ability to control the NCT or is able to exercise significant 

influence or joint control over the NCT in making financial and operating decisions.  A related party transaction 
is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between related parties regardless of whether a price is 
charged.    

    
1.5   Contingent liabilities    
 A contingent liability is disclosed in the Notes to the Annual Financial Statements when a possible obligation 

arises from past events, which existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one 
or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the NCT. Each class of contingent liability at 
the reporting date, a brief description of the nature of the contingent liability and its possible financial effect, 
is disclosed.    

    
1.6   Revenue recognition    
    
1.6.1  Revenue from exchange transactions    
 “Revenue is the gross inflow of economic benefits or service potential received and receivable by the NCT 

which results in an increase in net assets. An exchange transaction is one in which the NCT receives assets or 
services, or has liabilities extinguished, and directly gives equal value to the other party in exchange.

 Filing fees:
 Filing fees are recognised as revenue when the right to the revenue has been established. This is when an 

application is received.
 Service fees:
 Service fees are recognised as revenue when the right to the revenue has been established. This is when a 

payment is received for services to be rendered. 

NATIONAL CONSUMER TRIBUNAL - Annual Financial Statements

Accounting Policy for the year ended 31 March 2015



107107

NATIONAL CONSUMER TRIBUNAL - Annual Financial Statements

Accounting Policy for the year ended 31 March 2015

1  Accounting policies (continued)

 Investment income:
 Investment income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest rate method.

1.6.2  Revenue from non-exchange transactions    
 Non-exchange transactions are transactions that are not exchange transactions. In a non-exchange 

transaction, the NCT either receives value from another entity without directly giving approximately equal 
value in exchange, or gives value to another entity without directly receiving approximately equal value in 
exchange.

 
When the NCT receives resources as a result of a non-exchange transaction, it recognizes an asset and revenue 
when it is probable that the NCT will receive economic benefits or service potential and it can make a reliable 
measure of the resources transferred. 

 
Where the resources transferred to the NCT are subject to the fulfilment of specific conditions, it recognizes 
an asset and a corresponding liability as and when the conditions are fulfilled, the liability is reduced and 
revenue is recognised. 

 
The asset and the corresponding revenue are measured on the basis of the fair value of the asset on initial 
recognition. 

 
Non-exchange revenue transactions comprise a grant from the Department of Trade and Industry and is 
recognised as revenue at the date of receipt.    

    
1.7   Prepayments    
 The NCT may render payment for the delivery of goods or services in advance of the delivery of goods or 

the rendering of services when contractually obligated. In this instance such prepayment is recognised in 
the Statement of Financial Position as an asset when the payment is made, and is measured at the fair value 
of the consideration paid. The asset is expensed when delivery of the goods occurs or when the service is 
rendered.    

    
1.8   Leasing
    
1.8.1 Operating leases    
 A lease is classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental 

to ownership. Lease payments under an operating lease are recognised as expenses in the Statement of 
Financial Performance on a straight line basis over the lease period.    

    
1.8.2 Finance leases    
 Finance leases, as per the Treasury Regulations, refers to a contract that transfers the risks, rewards, rights and 

obligations incidental to ownership to the lessee and is recorded as a purchase of equipment by means of 
long-term borrowing. All other leases are classified as operating leases.     

 
Assets held under finance leases and the corresponding liability, are recognised at their present value of the 
minimum lease payments at the date of acquisition. The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the 
Statement of Financial Position as a finance lease obligation. Finance costs, which represent the difference 
between the total leasing commitments and the estimated present value of the assets acquired, are charged
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1  Accounting policies (continued)

 to the Statement of Financial Performance over the term of the relevant lease so as to produce a constant 
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the obligations for each accounting period.

1.9   Government grants    
 Government grants are recognised when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the NCT 

and when the amount of the grant can be measured reliably. Government grants are recognised as revenue 
to the extent that there is no further obligation arising from the receipt of the transfer payment. Grants are 
measured at the fair value of the transfer payment received.   

1.10  Employee benefits    
 The cost of short-term employee benefits (those payable within twelve months after the service is rendered, 

such as paid vacation leave and performance bonuses), are recognised in the period in which the service is 
rendered and are not discounted.

 
The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense as the employees render services 
that increase their entitlement, or in the case of non-accumulating absences, when the absence occurs.  
 

1.11  Borrowing costs    
 Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.   

 
1.12  Property, plant and equipment     
 Items of property, plant and equipment are initially recognised as assets on acquisition date and are initially 

recorded at cost. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is the purchase price and other costs 
attributable to bring the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the 
manner intended by the NCT. Trade discounts and rebates are deducted in arriving at the cost. The cost also 
includes the necessary costs of dismantling and removing the asset and restoring the site on which it is located. 
 

  Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment 
losses.  The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when:

•	 it	is	probable	that	future	economic	benefits	or	service	potential	associated	with	the	item	will	flow	to	the	
entity; and

•		 the	cost	of	fair	value	of	the	item	can	be	measured	reliably.

The NCT assesses the useful life and residual values of property, plant and equipment annually. The useful 
lives and residual values are estimated on an annual basis at each year-end, with the effect of any changes in 
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.    

 Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method to write off the cost of each asset over its estimated 
useful life as follows:

Furniture and fittings 15 years
Equipment 5 years

NATIONAL CONSUMER TRIBUNAL - Annual Financial Statements

Accounting Policy for the year ended 31 March 2015
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Computer equipment 5 years
Books 5 years
Signage 5 years
Leasehold improvements Period of lease or until reconstruction
Leased equipment Period of lease

The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance.

1.13 Intangible assets    
 An intangible asset is recognised when:

•	 	It	is	probable	that	the	expected	future	economic	benefits	that	are	attributable	to	the	asset	will	flow	to	the	
entity; and

•	 The	cost	of	the	asset	can	be	measured	reliably.	 	 	 	

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. Expenditure on research is recognised as an expense when it 
is incurred. An intangible asset from development is recognised when:

•	 It	is	technically	feasible	to	complete	the	asset	so	that	it	will	be	available	for	use	or	sale;	and
•	 There	is	an	intention	to	use	or	sell	it;	and
•	 There	is	an	ability	to	use	or	sell	it;	and
•	 It	will	generate	probable	future	economic	benefits;	and
•	 The	expenditure	during	the	development	phase	can	be	measured	reliably.

 Intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. The amortisation 
period and method are reviewed every year-end.  

   
 Amortisation is provided to write down the intangible assets on a straight-line basis as follows: 

Computer software - Internally generated 3 years
Computer software - Other 3 years
Software under development - Internally generated Not amortised

        
1.14 Impairment of tangible and intangible assets    

 At each reporting date, the NCT reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to 
determine whether there is any indication that those assets may be impaired.  An asset is impaired when 
its recoverable amount is less than its carrying value. In this instance, the carrying value of the asset is 
reduced to its recoverable amount. This reduction is an impairment loss, which is recognised immediately 
in the Statement of Financial Performance.  A reversal of an impairment loss of assets other than goodwill is 
recognised immediately in the Statement of Financial Performance.    

     
1.15 Inventories    
 Inventories are initially recognised at cost. Cost generally refers to the purchase price, plus taxes, transport 

costs and any other costs in bringing the inventories to their current location and condition. Where inventory 
is acquired by the entity for no or nominal consideration (i.e. a non-exchange transaction), the cost is deemed 
to be equal to the fair value of the item on the date acquired. The carrying amount of inventories is recognised 
as an expense in the period that the inventory was distributed or consumed.     
 

 Inventories, consisting of consumable stores, are measured at the lower of cost and current replacement cost.

NATIONAL CONSUMER TRIBUNAL - Annual Financial Statements
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1  Accounting policies (continued)

1.16 Financial instruments – Initial recognition    
 The NCT classifies financial instruments, or their component parts, on initial recognition as a financial asset, a 

financial liability or an equity instrument in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement. 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the Statement of Financial Position when the NCT 
becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.    

     
1.16.1 Financial assets    
 Financial assets are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs. Financial instruments are measured 

through the surplus or the deficit for the year at fair value. The NCT’s principal financial assets are trade and 
other receivables and cash and cash equivalents. These financial assets are classified as loans and receivables.

 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. This category includes short-term receivables, such as receivables, as well as cash 
and cash equivalents.

 
Loans and receivables are initially measured at fair value, plus transaction costs. Subsequently, items included 
in this category are measured at the amortised cost, calculated based on the effective interest method, and 
material interest income is included in the surplus or the deficit for the year. Net gains or losses represent 
gains and losses on de-recognition and are included in “other income” or “other expenses”.

 
Short-term receivables with no stated rate are measured at the original invoice amount, if the effect of 
discounting is immaterial.

 
Impairment losses are recognised on loans and receivables when there is objective evidence of impairment. 
An impairment loss is recognised in the surplus or the deficit when the carrying amount of the asset exceeds 
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is calculated as the present value of the estimated future 
cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate of the instrument.   

     
1.16.2 Financial liabilities    
 The NCT’s principal financial liabilities are trade and other payables and are classified as current liabilities.
 
 Other financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs. Subsequently, these items 

are measured at the amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method. Interest expenses on these 
items are measured at the amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method. Material interest expenses 
on these items are recognised in the surplus or the deficit for the year and they are included in “finance costs”. 
Net gains or losses represent gains or losses on de-recognition and are included in “other income” or “other 
expenses”.

    
 Provision is made for leave pay and as it is set at 100% of all outstanding accumulated leave at reporting date, 

it is disclosed as an accrual under trade and other payables. 
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1  Accounting policies (continued)

1.17 Provisions
 Provisions are recognised when the NCT has a present obligation as a result of a past event and it is probable 

that this will result in an outflow of economic benefits that can be estimated reliably.      
    

1.18 Cash and cash equivalent    
 Cash and cash equivalents are measured at fair value.    
     
1.19 Fruitless and wasteful expenditure    
 Fruitless and wasteful expenditure means expenditure which was made in vain and would have been 

avoided had reasonable care been exercised. All expenditure relating to fruitless and wasteful expenditure 
is recognised as an expense in the Statement of Financial Performance in the year that the expenditure was 
incurred. The expenditure is classified in accordance with the nature of the expense, and where recovered, it 
is subsequently accounted for as revenue in the Statement of Financial Performance.    
   

1.20 Irregular expenditure    
Irregular expenditure as defined in Section 1 of the PFMA is expenditure other than unauthorised expenditure, 
incurred in contravention of, or that is not in accordance with requirements of any applicable legislation, 
including National Treasury Practice Note 4 of 2008/2009 which was issued in terms of Sections 76(1) to 76(4) 
of the PFMA, which requires the following (effective from 1 April 2008):

•	 Irregular	expenditure	that	was	incurred	and	identified	during	the	current	financial	year	and	which	was	
condoned before year-end and/or before finalisation of the financial statements, must also be recorded 
appropriately in the irregular expenditure register. In such an instance, no further action is also required 
with the exception of updating the note to the financial statements.

•	 Irregular	expenditure	that	was	 incurred	and	 identified	during	the	current	financial	year	and	for	which	
condonement is being awaited at year-end, must be recorded in the irregular expenditure register. No 
further action is required with the exception of updating the note to the financial statements.

•	 	Where	 irregular	expenditure	was	 incurred	 in	 the	previous	financial	year	and	 is	only	condoned	 in	 the	
following financial year, the register and the disclosure note to the financial statements must be updated 
with the amount condoned.

•	 	Irregular	expenditure	that	was	incurred	and	identified	during	the	current	financial	year	and	which	was	
not condoned by the National Treasury or the relevant authority, must be recorded appropriately in the 
irregular expenditure register. If liability for the irregular expenditure can be attributed to a person, a 
debt account must be created if such a person is liable in law. Immediate steps must thereafter be taken 
to recover the amount from the person concerned. If recovery is not possible, the Accounting Authority 
may write off the amount as bad debt and disclose such in the relevant note to the financial statements. 
The irregular expenditure register must also be updated accordingly. If the irregular expenditure has not 
been condoned and no person is liable under law, the expenditure related thereto must remain against 
the relevant expenditure item, be disclosed as such in the note to the financial statements and updated 
accordingly in the irregular expenditure register. 
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2 Property, plant and equipment

2015 2014

Cost/ 
Valuation

Accumulated 
depreciation Carry value Cost/ 

Valuation
Accumulated 
depreciation Carry value

Furniture and fittings  1 224 835  (569 598)  655 237  915 335  (530 968)  384 367 

Office equipment  173 169  (96 143)  77 026  171 231  (72 559)  98 672 

IT equipment  2 337 723  (1 072 052)  1 265 671  1 387 970  (831 062)  556 908 

Leasehold improvements  805 228  (718 460)  86 768  748 465  (710 705)  37 760 

Books  216 184  (153 698)  62 486  215 844  (116 681)  99 163 

Signage  33 315  (33 141)  174  33 315  (29 661)  3 654 

Office equipment –  Leased  489 695  (131 412)  358 283  643 947  (360 782)  283 165 

Total  5 280 149  (2 774 504)  2 505 645  4 116 107  (2 652 418)  1 463 689 

Reconciliation of 
property, plant and 
equipment – 2015

Opening 
balance Additions Assets 

written off Assets sold Depreciation Closing 
balance

Furniture and fittings  384 367  309 499  -    -    (38 629)  655 237 

Office equipment  98 672  1 938  -    -    (23 584)  77 026 

IT equipment  556 908  983 649  (14 371)  -    (260 515)  1 265 671 

Leasehold improvements  37 760  56 763  -    -    (7 755)  86 768 

Books  99 163  339  -    -    (37 016)  62 486 

Signage  3 654  -    -    -    (3 480)  174 

Office equipment –  Leased 

(refer to Note 2.2)

 283 165  276 505  -    -    (201 387)  358 283 

Total  1 463 689  1 628 693  (14 371)  -    (572 366)  2 505 645 

Reconciliation of 
property, plant and 
equipment – 2014

Opening 
balance Additions Assets 

written off Assets sold Depreciation Closing 
balance

Furniture and fittings  410 009  26 888  -    -    (52 530)  384 367 

Office equipment  34 764  78 599  (824)  -    (13 867)  98 672 

IT equipment  405 708  308 326  (11 937)  -    (145 189)  556 908 

Leasehold improvements  59 971  45 957  -    -    (68 168)  37 760 

Books  124 888  12 652  -    -    (38 377)  99 163 

Signage  10 318  -    -    -    (6 664)  3 654 

Office equipment –  Leased 

(refer to Note 2.2)

 246 505  194 690  -    -    (158 030)  283 165 

Total  1 292 163  667 112  (12 761)  -    (482 825)  1 463 689 
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2 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

2.1  Increase in property, plant and equipment     
 During the year under review the NCT procured furniture and fittings to accommodate its growing staff 

complement as well as to replace the furniture that was previously rented. It also procured ICT equipment by 
implementing the ICT procurement plan. Also refer to Note 18.8.      

      
2.2  Office equipment – leased     
 Assets with a net carrying value of R358 283 (2014: R283 165) are subject to finance leases as set out in 

Note 7.      
      
2.3  Re-assessment of useful lives      
 The useful lives and residual values of all the property, plant and equipment were assessed during the year 

under review. The assessment of the useful lives of  leasehold improvements, furniture and fittings, office 
equipment and computer equipment resulted in a change in the accounting estimates. Also refer to Note 22.

3 Intangible assets

2015 2014

Cost/ 
Valuation

Accumulated 
amortisation/ 
impairments

Carry value Cost/ 
Valuation

Accumulated 
amortisation/ 
impairments

Carry value

Software under 

development – 

Internally generated

 -    -    -    236 000  (200 000)  36 000 

Computer software – 

Internally generated

 142 667  -  142 667  -    -    -   

Computer software – 

Other

 1 276 043  (853 258)  422 785  1 026 661  (662 812)  363 849 

Total  1 418 710  (853 258)  565 452  1 262 661  (862 812)  399 849 

Reconciliation of 
intangible assets – 
2015

Opening 
balance Additions Amortisation Impairments

Transferred 
(to)/from 
software

Closing 
balance

Software under 

development – 

Internally generated

 36 000  106 667  -    -    (142 667)  -   

Computer software – 

Internally generated

 -    -    -    -    142 667  142 667 

Computer software – 

Other

 363 849  249 382  (190 446) -    -    422 785 

Total  399 849  356 049  (190 446)  -    -    565 452 
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Reconciliation of 
intangible assets – 
2014

Opening 
balance Additions Amortisation Impairments

Transferred 
(to)/from 
software

Closing 
balance

Software under 

development – Internally 

generated

 36 000  -    -    -    -    36 000 

Computer software – 

Other

 133 299  375 390  (144 840)  -    -    363 849 

Total  169 299  375 390  (144 840)  -    -    399 849 

3.1  Increase in intangible assets      
 During the year under review the NCT procured software and also funded the development of the Case 

Management System by implementing the ICT strategic plan as part of the NCT’s drive to create business 
efficiencies through ICT interventions. Also refer to Note 18.8.       
      

3.2  Re-assessment of useful lives      
 The useful lives of all intangible assets were assessed during the year under review. No change was made to 

the useful lives of intangible assets and no impairment was made.

31 March 
2015

31 March 
2014

R R

4 Inventories

Stationery and consumables  26 458  64 689 

 26 458  64 689 

Debtors – Filing fees  8 300  7 700 

Debtors – Payroll (UIF refund)  -    22 405 

Deposits – Rental of furniture  -    24 925 

Prepayments – Insurance, license fees, training, travelling, etc.  109 341  87 740 

 117 641  142 770 

5 Trade and other receivables from exchange transactions

Bank account – Notice deposit (SA Reserve Bank)  5 420 091  6 766 674 

Bank account – Current account (Nedbank)  5 227 852  1 664 399 

Cash on hand – Petty cash  5 000  1 305 

 10 652 943  8 432 378 

6 Cash and cash equivalents

6.1  Bank account – Notice deposit     
 In terms of the NCT’s investment policy, surplus funds are invested with the South African Reserve Bank in the 

Corporation for Public Deposits (CPD) Account. Also refer to Note 18.3.

3 Intangible assets (continued)
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31 March 
2015

31 March 
2014

R R

7 Finance leases – office equipment

7.1      Minimum lease payments due
ABD Financial Services (Pty) Ltd (PABX System)  -    34 271 

Technology Acceptances (Xerox Work Centres)  139 930  222 338 

Canon Business Centre (PABX System and additions to the PABX System)  311 429  -   

Katlego Solutions (Pty) Ltd (additions to the PABX System)  -    25 664 

 451 359  282 273 

7.2     Summary of minimum lease payments due
Payable within one year  207 728  142 137 

Payable after one year  243 631  140 136 

 451 359  282 273 

Less: Future finance charges  (75 691)  (41 880)

Present value of minimum lease payments due  375 668  240 393 

Current liabilities  158 001  117 581 

Non-current liabilities  217 667  122 812 

Present value of minimum lease payments due  375 668  240 393 

Leased assets are initially measured at the lower of the fair value of the 
leased asset at the inception of the lease term and the present value of 
minimum lease payments at that date. The average lease term is 3 to 5 
years and the average effective borrowing rate was 17% (2014: 19%)

8 Trade and other  payables from exchange transactions  
   
Trade payables  1 490 593  1 869 230 

Income received in advance – Filing fees  134 400  91 500 

Other payables – Temporary staff  18 168  28 

Salary deductions (PAYE, UIF and Garnishees)  502 607  555 438 

Accrued expenses – Tribunal members' costs  665 127  389 691 

Accrued leave pay – Senior management and fulltime Tribunal members  676 176  498 959 

Accrued leave pay – Other staff  364 159  289 156 

 3 851 230  3 694 002 

All the amounts owed to suppliers as disclosed under trade payables are within the normal payment terms. Accrued 
leave pay relates to the estimated liability as a result of services rendered by employees up to the reporting date. It 
is calculated by apportioning the annual salary to a daily cost which is then multiplied by the number of leave days 
accumulated at the reporting date.    
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31 March 
2015

31 March 
2014

R R

9 Provisions

Performance bonuses – Senior management and full time Tribunal members  1 439 868  1 205 067 

Performance bonuses – Other staff  924 655  856 241 

 2 364 523  2 061 308 

Provision for performance bonuses relates to possible payment of performance 
bonuses to Tribunal employees for services rendered by them during the 
current financial year. The increase in the provision for performance bonuses is 
due to the increase in the staff complement.

Reconciliation of provisions

Opening balance  2 061 308  1 538 096 

Provisions utilised during the year  (1 967 921)  (1 535 486)

Provisions reversed during the year  (93 387)  (2 610)

Provisions made during the year  2 364 523  2 061 308 

 2 364 523  2 061 308 

10 Total revenue

Total revenue  42 117 564  37 477 017 

Non-exchange revenue  40 164 000  36 099 000 

Government grants  40 164 000  36 099 000 

Exchange revenue  905 731  541 092 

Filing fees  903 100  525 400 

Service fees  2 631  2 735 

Proceeds from insurance  -  12 957 

Investment income  1 047 833  836 925 

Interest earned (refer to Note 6.1)  1 047 833  836 925 
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31 March 
2015

31 March 
2014

R R

11 Administrative expenses

Advertising  38 929  172 202 

Audit and Risk Committee members' remuneration  514 141  776 423 

Bank charges  53 455  53 687 

Computer expenses and software licences  361 100  252 632 

Entertainment, refreshments and staff welfare  80 261  84 442 

Fraud hotline and whistle blowing  41 040  41 040 

General expenses, gifts, flowers, first aid, cleaning costs, cutlery and crockery  48 652  65 896 

HR Governance Committee members' remuneration  95 914  153 055 

ICT Governance Committee members' remuneration  139 970  102 430 

Internal audit fees and secretariat services  851 869  608 306 

Legal fees  1 710  2 490 

Membership fees, subscriptions, books and resource materials  239 724  342 244 

Printing, stationery and publications  811 514  612 171 

Storage costs, online backup services, mail archiving and disaster recovery  488 366  522 565 

Training, bursaries and staff development  612 141  293 478 

Venues and facilities for workshops and meetings  187 397  356 761 

Website development, maintenance and hosting  123 744  17 400 

 4 689 927  4 457 222 

11.1   Increase in administrative expenses    
 Internal audit fees and secretariat services are higher due to the previous firm’s contract drawing to a close 

and no internal audits being undertaken towards the end of the previous financial year, hence rolling over to 
the current financial year.  

   
 Printing, stationery and publications are higher due to the increase in the caseload as well as the retabling of 

the Annual Performance Plan and Strategy in Parliament after the  general elections when the new admini-
stration came into power. 

   
 Training, bursaries and staff development are higher due to the larger staff complement, as well as a staff 

coaching program with external coaches that the NCT has implemented during the current financial year. 
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31 March 
2015

31 March 
2014

R R

12 Other operating expenses

Amortisation  190 446  144 840 

Assets written off  14 371  12 762 

Consulting fees  1 273 629  2 209 248 

Courier costs, postage and stamps  60 029  155 130 

Depreciation  572 366  482 825 

Insurance  156 958  99 816 

Internet costs and 3G connectivity  192 444  191 670 

Lease rentals on premises and parking  2 180 347  2 510 208 

Recording and transcription services  246 833  260 804 

Rentals – Equipment and furniture  227 679  231 425 

Repairs and maintenance  30 329  138 661 

Telephone and fax  257 283  265 135 

Travel and accommodation  1 654 367  1 889 410 

Utilities – Water, electricity, rates and taxes  729 075  728 416 

 7 786 156  9 320 350 

12.1   Decrease in other operating expenses    
 Consulting fees are lower due to the filling of vacant positions previously filled by consultants. The NCT 

has also implemented a consultants reduction plan in relation to the National Treasury cost containment 
measures.

    
 Lease rentals on premises and parking are lower due to the NCT negotiating a reduced rental with the 

Landlord when the new rental contract was signed effectively from 1 September 2014 for another period of 
five years. 

   
 Travel and accommodation are lower due to Tribunal workshops being held at the NCT’s offices as well as 

the implementation of the cost containment measures relating to economy class travel instead of business 
class travel. Where practical, hearings were grouped together to take place on the same day and the fulltime 
Tribunal members who do not have to travel, were on board for the full financial year. During the year under 
review the Executive Chairperson and a fulltime Tribunal member were invited to present papers and give 
training at international conferences where some of the costs were paid by the hosts of those conferences. 
The value of these benefits to the NCT is R46 924 and R30 671 respectively.    
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31 March 
2015

31 March 
2014

R R

13 Audit fees

External audit fees  836 695  757 265 

 836 695  757 265 

14 Part-time tribunal members’ costs

2015 2014

Members' 
fees, etc.

Travelling 
expenses

Total costs Members' 
fees, etc.

Travelling 
expenses

Total costs

BC Dumisa (Deputy 
Chairperson)

 668 525  7 056  675 581  670 114  9 061  679 175 

PA Beck  938 191  1 595  939 786  937 127  3 963  941 090 

X May  218 494  6 048  224 542  435 823  6 849  442 672 

HFN Sephoti  535 352  4 666  540 018  388 740  5 827  394 567 

T Woker  650 352  3 763  654 115  686 091  6 575  692 666 

FK Manamela  632 909  15 682  648 591  538 439  21 883  560 322 

YT Carrim  15 653  594  16 247  34 555  875  35 430 

L Best  564 821  264  565 085  777 480  972  778 452 

JM Maseko  972 170  31 468  1 003 638  952 721  18 858  971 579 

FK Sibanda  607 868  18 690  626 558  478 829  -    478 829 

 5 804 335  89 826  5 894 161  5 899 919  74 863  5 974 782 

14.1   Decrease in part-time tribunal members’ costs
 Although case numbers increased by more than 70%, and a cost of living increase was made to the daily 

rate paid to part-time Tribunal members, fees paid were lower. This can be attributed to the fact that part-
time Tribunal members now being paid for adjudicating eight debt rearrangement agreement matters per 
day instead of four, due to the implementation of ICT interventions. Refer to Notes 2.1 and 3.1. The fulltime 
Tribunal members were on board for the full financial year, compared to only a part of the previous financial 
year. Cases were also grouped together to be heard on the same day where possible. Some of the part-time 
Tribunal Members have their own businesses, while other are employed fulltime and therefore cannot give as 
much of their own time as others, hence the differences in the amounts paid to individual members.  
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31 March 
2015

31 March 
2014

R R

15 Employee-related costs

Senior management emoluments (refer to Note 15.1 below)  6 907 766  7 480 142 

Fulltime Tribunal members' emoluments (refer to Note 15.2 below)  2 946 188  1 719 303 

Other staff emoluments  7 639 549  6 123 953 

Other staff leave paid  188 096  44 116 

Other staff performance bonuses for previous performance period  807 203  577 011 

Subtotal for payments made to permanent staff and interns  18 488 802  15 944 525 

Student workers (Contingent pool of temporary employees)  217 232  296 207 

Temporary staff emoluments  719 490  1 410 093 

Employer's contribution to statutory levies  197 049  198 391 

Movement in accrual for leave pay  252 219  87 797 

Movement in provision for performance bonuses  303 215  523 212 

Total for employee-related costs  20 178 007  18 460 225 

      
15.1  Senior management emoluments

Total senior management emoluments 6 907 766 7 480 142
Executive Chairperson (DR Terblanche)  1 965 512   2 208 646 
Annual remuneration  1 636 572  1 688 338 
Leave paid out due to the late finalisation of appointment  -    119 617 
Performance bonus for previous performance period  319 940  390 691 
Other fringe benefits  9 000  10 000 

# = Prior year includes performance bonuses paid in relation to 
preceding financial periods

Chief Operating Officer (HV Devraj: 4 months in prior year)  -    784 024 
Annual remuneration  -    454 343 
Leave paid out due to resignation  -    120 855 
Performance bonus for previous performance period  -    205 626 
Other fringe benefits  -    3 200 

Registry Manager (NE Mbhele: 11 months in prior year)  -    843 883 
Annual remuneration  -    726 634 
Overtime paid  -    40 714 
Leave paid out due to retrenchment  -    71 035 
Other fringe benefits  -    5 500 

Chief Operating Officer and Registrar (M Bosch)  1 572 032  1 368 006 
Annual remuneration  1 338 910  1 194 030 
Performance bonus for previous performance period  221 493  167 976 
Other fringe benefits  11 629  6 000 

NATIONAL CONSUMER TRIBUNAL - Annual Financial Statements
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#
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31 March 
2015

31 March 
2014

R R

15       Employee-related costs (continued)

15.1  Senior management emoluments (continued)

Chief Financial Officer (WP Strauss)  1 483 937  1 394 213 
Annual remuneration  1 261 803  1 194 030 
Performance bonus for previous performance period  213 134  194 183 
Other fringe benefits  9 000  6 000 

Interim Chief Operations Officer (NKD Lolwane: 3 months in prior year)  -    304 182 
Annual remuneration  -    302 655 
Other fringe benefits  -    1 527 

ICT Manager (BX Nomvete: 7 months in prior year)  969 666  577 188 
Annual remuneration  960 666  567 794 
Overtime paid  -    6 394 
Other fringe benefits  9 000  3 000 

Registrar (A Burger: 2 months)  168 667  -   
Annual remuneration  166 667  -   
Other fringe benefits  2 000  -   

Communications Specialist (R Budree: 2.5 months)  177 850  -   
Annual remuneration  167 759  -   
Leave paid out due to resignation  8 308 
Other fringe benefits  1 783  -   

Human Resources and Facilities Manager (CM Selepe: 10 months)  570 102  -   
Annual remuneration  562 602  -   
Other fringe benefits  7 500  -   

15.2  Fulltime Tribunal members’ emoluments

Total fulltime Tribunal members’ emoluments 2 946 188 1 719 303
Fulltime Tribunal Member (HV Devraj - 8 months in prior year)  1 585 734  860 220 
Annual remuneration  1 332 924  853 820 

Performance bonus for previous performance period  242 010  -   
Other fringe benefits  10 800  6 400 

Fulltime Tribunal Member (JR Simpson: 9 months in prior year)  1 360 454  859 083 
Annual remuneration  1 185 513  852 683 
Performance bonus for previous performance period  164 141  -   
Other fringe benefits  10 800  6 400 
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31 March 
2015

31 March 
2014

R R

15 Employee-related costs (continued)

15.3  Expense allowances included under travelling costs

Executive Chairperson (DR Terblanche)  35 184  27 863 
Fulltime Tribunal Member and Chief Operating Officer (HV Devraj)  4 678  25 996 
Fulltime Tribunal Member (JR Simpson: 9 months in prior year)  33 518  10 832 
Registry Manager (NE Mbhele: 11 months in prior year)  -    1 764 
Chief Operating Officer and Registrar (M Bosch)  34 471  15 430 
Chief Financial Officer (WP Strauss)  7 793  16 135 
Interim Chief Operations Officer (NKD Lolwane: 3 months in prior year)  -    227 
Communications Manager (R Budree: 2.5 months)  1 325  -   
ICT Manager (BX Nomvete: 7 months in prior year)  675  4 553 
Expense allowance paid to senior management  117 644  102 800 
Expense allowance paid to other staff  40 355  44 635 
Total expense allowance paid to employees  157 999  147 435 

15.4  Increase in employee-related costs

During the year under review the NCT made a cost of living increase 
to its salary scales and also managed to fill many of the positions on its 
organisational structure that were previously vacant. Staff who have been 
appointed during the previous financial year were employed for a full year 
during the current financial year. 
   

16 Finance costs

Finance leases  53 398  44 644 

 53 398  44 644 

17 Reconciliation of net cash flows from operating activities  

Net surplus/(deficit) for the year  2 769 046  (1 462 608)
Adjusted for:  1 133 796  1 208 282 
Amortisation  190 446  144 840 
Depreciation  572 366  482 825 
Assets written off  14 371  12 761 
Finance costs  – Finance leases  53 398  44 644 
Movement in provisions  – Employee related costs  303 215  523 212 

Operating surplus/(deficit) before working capital changes  3 902 842  (254 326)

Changes in Working Capital  220 588  1 135 992 
Decrease/(increase) in accounts receivable  25 129  (123 998)
Decrease in inventory  38 231 10 178
Increase in accounts payable  157 228 1 249 812

Cash generated/(utilised) in operations  4 123 430 881 666

NATIONAL CONSUMER TRIBUNAL - Annual Financial Statements

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2015



123123

18 Presentation of budget information       
     

The NCT prepares its annual budget primarily on an accrual basis. Items such as depreciation, amortisation, loss on 
sale of assets, scrapping of assets, finance costs and accrual for leave pay are not budgeted for on the accrual basis. 
The actual amounts in the Statement of Comparison of Budget and Actual Amounts are therefore adjusted to be 
comparable with the final budget.
     
Material differences between the final budget and the comparable actual amount are disclosed in the notes below. 
Material is considered to be either as to the amount or what is considered to be of a qualitative nature. The amount 
determined for materiality purposes is according to the materiality and significance framework as was published in 
the Strategic Plan. This amount was determined to be R258 238 for the financial year ended on 31 March 2015.  
        
18.1  Surplus brought forward from 2013/14      
 By the time that the budget for 2014/15 was prepared, the NCT realised that it had to accumulate savings on 

its budget allocation for the 2013/14 financial year to be able to fund the anticipated shortfall for 2014/15. 
At the time it was anticipated that the saving could be an amount of R4.4 million. However, when the annual 
financial statements for the 2013/14 financial year was prepared some eight months later the actual surplus 
was R3.38 million less than what was budgeted for. Also refer to Note 28.     
          

18.2  Income from exchange transactions      
 This income comprises mainly of filing fees received from filing parties for cases brought before the Tribunal. 

The budget for 2014/15 was prepared on the assumption that case numbers for 2014/15 will increase between 
50% to 60% while the actual case numbers for 2014/15 increased between 70% to 80% from the previous 
financial year.       

        
18.3  Interest received       
 Due to the procurement of the case management system and the space planning project not being finalised 

and as was budgeted for, there were more funds on investment than was anticipated. This resulted in the 
interest earned on investment to be higher than what was budgeted for. The NCT manages its cash flow to 
ensure that surplus funds are invested in a way to maximise the  interest earned on these funds.   
            

18.4  Administrative expenses       
 The main reason for the overspending on administrative expenses are printing, stationary and publications. 

This line item is overspent due to the higher number of cases filed with the NCT as was indicated above as 
well as the re-tabling in Parliament of the Annual Performance Plan and Strategy after the  general election 
and when the new Administration came into power. Stationery cost should decrease in future due to the 
implementation of ICT interventions whereby case records are digitised and not printed out anymore. 
Internal audit fees and secretariat services are overspent due to the previous firm’s contract drawing to a close 
and no internal audits being undertaken towards the end of the previous financial year which rolled over 
to the current financial year. Training, bursaries and staff development are overspent due to the larger staff 
complement as well as a staff coaching program that the NCT has implemented during the current financial 
year. 
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18 Presentation of budget information (continued)

18.5  Other operating expenses       
 The lower spending than what was budgeted for travel and accommodation is the main reason for the lower 

spend on other operating expenses. Travel and accommodation are lower due to Tribunal workshops being 
held at the NCT’s offices and not off-site as well as the implementation of the cost containment measures 
relating to economy class travel instead of business class travel.      
         

18.6  Tribunal Members’ costs       
 Fees paid to part-time Tribunal members are lower due to the increase from 4 to 8 debt rearrangement 

agreements that part-time Tribunal members are getting paid for per day to adjudicate on. The fulltime 
Tribunal members were on board for the full financial year compared to only a portion of the previous 
financial year. Also refer to Note 14.1.       

        
18.7  Employee-related costs       
 The NCT experienced difficulties in filling some of the vacant positions on the approved staff structure. In 

some instances positions were advertised and interviews held for up to three times before a suitable candidate 
could be appointed. Internal appointments of staff into higher positions have also caused positions into 
which those staff members were appointed to become vacant.      
         

18.8  Capital expenditure       
 The capital expenditure budget is underspent mainly due to the prioritising of the Case Management System 

and the re-prioritising of other ICT projects due to the unavailability of human resources and budget cuts to 
be implemented in year three of the current MTEF period. 
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31 March 
2015

31 March 
2014

R R

19 Commitments 

19.1  Operating leases – Buildings

Lease payments under operating leases recognised in the surplus/(deficit) 

for the year  2 180 347  2 510 208 

Future minimum lease payments

Payable within one year  1 855 373  1 104 692 

Payable after one year  7 510 009  - 

 9 365 382  1 104 692 

The operating lease relates to the Centurion office building premises used by the NCT. The lease agreement 
was entered into and is effective from 1 September 2014 and ends 31 August 2019.   
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31 March 
2015

31 March 
2014

R R

19 Commitments (continued)

19.2  Operating leases - Office equipment and furniture 

Lease payments under operating leases recognised in the surplus/(deficit)

for the year  227 679  231 425 

Future minimum lease payments
Payable within one year  -  135 706 
Payable after one year  -  - 

 -  135 706 

The operating leases relates to office equipment and furniture that expired during the current financial year. 

The lease for office equipment relates to a lease of telephone equipment that has expired on 31 May 2014 but 
the system was used on a rental basis until 17 September 2014 when additional equipment was procured and 
a new agreement was entered into. The monthly rental was paid at a fixed amount of R12 848 per month. 
   
The lease relating to furniture was entered into during March 2013 and expired on 20 November 2014 when the 
NCT bought its own furniture. The average monthly rental for the current financial year was R24 316 per month. 
   

19.3  Finance leases – Office equipment
Refer to Note 7: Finance leases – Office equipment for commitments under finance lease agreements. 

20 Related parties

20.1 Transactions with entities under common control 

As the NCT is a National Public Entity related to other entities and departments in the National Sphere of 
Government, it is considered to be related to Telkom, the South African Post Office and the South African Airlines. 
Transactions with these entities are concluded in the normal course of business and are undertaken in terms of 
conditions that are normally applicable for such transactions. Other movement of funds between the NCT and a 
department or other entities under common control in the National Sphere of Government are disclosed below: 
 

31 March 
2015

31 March 
2014

R R
Department of Trade and Industry (the dti) – Grant received  40 164 000  36 099 000 
National Credit Regulator – Filing fees deposited into their bank account  700  1 000 

  
20.2  Relationships and related party transactions

20.2.1  State Departments and Public Entities
Department of Trade and Industry (the dti) – Controlling state department    
National Consumer Commission – Sister entity within the dti group of entities    
National Credit Regulator – Sister entity within the dti group of entities and part of COTII
 
Note: Amounts that were paid to state departments and public entities are disclosed in Note 20.1 above.  
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20 Related parties (continued)

20.2  Relationships and related party transactions (continued)

The NCT is part of the Council of Trade and Industry Institutions (COTII) to contribute towards the achieve-
ment of the objectives of the dti and the overall Government strategies. The entities listed below are part of 
COTII and some of these entities use the facilities and other resources of the NCT from time to time for free.

31 March 
2015

31 March 
2014

R R

National Empowerment Fund (NEF)  -    -   
Export Credit Insurance Corporation of South Africa Limited (ECIC)  -    -   
Small Enterprise Development Agency (seda)  -    -   
Companies and Intellectual Property Commission (CIPC)  -    -   
National Gambling Board of South Africa (NGB)  -    -   
National Lotteries Board (NLB)  -    -   
National Consumer Commission (NCC)  -    -   
National Metrology Institute of South Africa  (NMISA)  -    -   
South African Bureau of Standards (SABS)  -    -   
South African National Accreditation System (SANAS)  -    -   
National Regulator for Compulsory Specifications (NRCS)  -    -   
Companies Tribunal (CT)  -    -   

 
20.2.2  Key consultants

Treten Advisory Services (Pty) Ltd (HR Manager)  -  470 000 

20.2.3  Accounting Authority

DR Terblanche (Chairperson of the Tribunal) Aggregate remuneration  1 965 512  2 208 646 

DR Terblanche (Chairperson of the Tribunal) Reimbursement of purchases  27  1 392 

Note: Aggregate remuneration excludes expense allowances. Also refer to
Note 15.1and 15.3 for more detail.

20.2.4  Part-time Tribunal Members
BC Dumisa (Deputy Chairperson of the 
Tribunal)

Aggregate fee for services rendered  675 581  679 175 

PA Beck Aggregate fee for services rendered  939 786  941 090 
X May Aggregate fee for services rendered  224 542  442 672 
HFN Sephoti Aggregate fee for services rendered  540 018  394 567 
T Woker Aggregate fee for services rendered  654 115  692 666 
FK Manamela Aggregate fee for services rendered  648 591  560 322 
YT Carrim Aggregate fee for services rendered  16 247  35 430 
L Best Aggregate fee for services rendered  565 085  778 452 
JM Maseko Aggregate fee for services rendered  1 003 638  971 579 
FK Sibanda Aggregate fee for services rendered  626 558  478 829 

Note: Aggregate fee for services rendered includes travelling expense. Also refer to Note 14 for more detail.
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31 March 
2015

31 March 
2014

R R

20 Related parties (continued)

20.2.5  Fulltime Tribunal Members and key Management

HV Devraj (Fulltime Tribunal Member and 

Chief Operating Officer)

Aggregate remuneration  1 585 734  1 644 244 

HV Devraj (Fulltime Tribunal Member and 

Chief Operating Officer)

Reimbursement of purchases  42  3 177 

JR Simpson (Fulltime Tribunal Member) Aggregate remuneration  1 360 454  859 083 
JR Simpson (Fulltime Tribunal Member) Reimbursement of purchases  644  254 
NE Mbhele (Registry Manager) Aggregate remuneration  -  843 883 
NE Mbhele (Registry Manager) Reimbursement of purchases  -  20 
M Bosch (Chief Operating Officer and 

Registrar)

Aggregate remuneration  1 572 032  1 368 006 

M Bosch (Chief Operating Officer and Reg-

istrar)

Reimbursement of purchases  2 033  1 665 

WP Strauss (Chief Financial Officer) Aggregate remuneration  1 483 937  1 394 213 
WP Strauss (Chief Financial Officer) Reimbursement of purchases  12  192 
NKD Lolwane (Interim Chief Operating Of-

ficer)

Aggregate remuneration  -  304 182 

BX Nomvete (ICT Manager) Aggregate remuneration  969 666  577 188 
R Budree (Communications Specialist – 2.5 

months)

Aggregate remuneration  177 850  - 

A Burger (Registrar – 2 months) Aggregate remuneration  168 667  - 
CM Selepe (Human Resources and Facilities 

Manager – 10 months)

Aggregate remuneration  570 102  - 

Note: Aggregate remuneration excludes expense allowances. 
Also refer to Note 15.1; 15.2 and 15.3 for more detail.

20.3  Amounts included in trade receivables/
 (trade payables) regarding related parties 

Treten Advisory Services (Pty) Ltd (Part-time HR Manager)  -  (99 500)

M Bosch (Head: Case Management and Registrar) (UIF refund)  -  22 405 
T Woker (Part-time Tribunal Member)  (31 307)  (51 312)
L Best (Part-time Tribunal Member)  (43 699)  (29 618)
PA Beck (Part-time Tribunal Member)  (14 921)  (44 427)
BC Dumisa (Part-time Tribunal Member)  (15 653)  (45 030)
HFN Sephoti (Part-time Tribunal Member)  (254 445)  (219 304)
JM Maseko (Part-time Tribunal Member)  (50 346)  - 
FK Manamela (Part-time Tribunal Member)  (67 891)  - 
X May (Part-time Tribunal Member)  (61 961)  - 
FK Sibanda (Part-time Tribunal Member)  (114 138)  - 
YT Carrim (Part-time Tribunal Member)  (10 766)  - 
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21 Financial instruments

 Exposure to currency, interest rate, credit and liquidity risks arise in the normal course of the NCT’s business. 
      
21.1  Financial risk management       

The NCT is exposed to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:     
  
Credit risk       
Liquidity risk       
Interest rate risk       
This note presents information about the NCT’s exposure to each of the above risks and its objectives, policies 
and processes for measuring and managing risks. Further quantitative disclosures are included throughout 
these financial statements.
       
The Accounting Authority and key Management have overall responsibility for the establishment and 
oversight of the NCT’s risk management framework. The NCT’s risk management policies are established to 
identify and analyse the risks faced by the NCT, to set appropriate risk limits and controls and to monitor risks 
and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in 
market conditions and the NCT’s activities. The NCT, through its training and management standards and 
procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive environment in which all employees understand 
their roles and obligations.
     

  31 March 
2015

31 March 
2014

R R

Financial assets

Loans and other receivables  10 770 584  8 575 148 

Trade and other receivables (refer to Note 5)  117 641  142 770 

Cash and cash equivalents (refer to Note 6)  10 652 943  8 432 378 

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables  3 851 230  3 694 002 

Trade and other payables (refer to Note 8)  2 145 768  2 516 196 

Accruals (refer to Note 8)  1 705 462  1 177 806 

21.1.1  Liquidity risk       
 Liquidity risk is the risk that the NCT will encounter if it experiences difficulty in raising funds to meet its 

commitments. The NCT’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it always has 
sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without 
incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the NCT’s reputation. The major portion of the surplus is 
carried as cash or cash equivalents.          
    

 The ageing of trade payables from exchange transactions at the reporting date is per the table below. The 
amounts disclosed are contractual cash flows.       
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21 Financial instruments (continued)

21.1.1  Liquidity risk (continued)

At 31 March 2015

Less than 1 
year

Between 1 
and 2 years

Between 2 
and 5 years

Finance leases (refer to Note 7)  207 728  185 282  58 349 

Trade and other payables (refer to Note 8)  3 851 230  -    -   

 4 058 958  185 282  58 349 

At 31 March 2014

Less than 1 
year

Between 1 
and 2 years

Between 2 
and 5 years

Finance leases (refer to Note 7)  142 137  81 364  58 772 

Trade and other payables (refer to Note 8)  3 694 002  -    -   

 3 836 139  81 364  58 772 

21.1.2  Interest rate risk       
 Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate owing to changes in market  
 interest rates.        

  31 March 
2015

31 March 
2014

R R

Balances exposed to interest rate risk

Cash and cash equivalents (refer to Note 6)  10 652 943  8 432 378 

 10 652 943  8 432 378 

21.1.3  Sensitivity analysis       
 The National Consumer Tribunal reviews its interest rate exposure on a regular basis. At 1 April 2014, if interest 

rates had been 1% higher or lower, with all other variables held constant, the surplus for the year would have 
changed according to the sensitivity analysis below: 

Financial instrument
Change in 

interest

Increase in 
surplus if 

lower

 (Decrease) 
in surplus if 

higher 

 Increase in 
surplus if 

higher 

(Decrease) 
in surplus if 

lower

Cash and cash equivalents 1%  -  -  196 228  (196 228)

Finance leases 1%  3 663  (3 814)  -  - 
      
21.1.4 Credit risk       
 Credit risk is the risk of a counterparty to a financial instrument defaulting on its obligation to the NCT, thereby 

causing financial loss. It is therefore policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are assessed for 
creditworthiness. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis, resulting in exposure to 
bad debts being insignificant. A provision is made for doubtful debts. The maximum exposure to credit risk is 
represented by the carrying value of each financial asset in the Statement of Financial Position.
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  31 March 
2015

31 March 
2014

R R

21 Financial instruments (continued)

21.1.4 Credit risk (continued)

Financial assets exposed to credit risk at year-end were as follows:

Financial instrument

Trade and other receivables  – Unrated  117 641  142 770 

Cash and cash equivalents  – AA rating (Fitch)  10 652 943  8 432 378 

 10 770 584  8 575 148 

The following analysis provides information about the NCT's exposure to 
credit risk:

Credit quality of financial assets

Trade and other receivables neither past due nor impaired  117 641  142 770 

Cash and cash equivalents neither past due nor impaired  10 652 943  8 432 378 

 10 770 584  8 575 148 

21.2  Fair values       
 The NCT’s financial instruments consist mainly of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts 

payable.  No financial instruments were carried at an amount in excess of its fair value. The following methods 
and assumptions are used to determine the fair value of each class of financial instrument:

         
21.2.1  Cash and cash equivalents       
 The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents approximates fair value due to the relatively short-term 

maturity of these financial assets.       
       
21.2.2  Accounts receivable       
 The carrying amount of accounts receivable, net of allowance for bad debt, approximates fair value due to the 

relatively short-term maturity of these financial assets.       
     

21.2.3  Accounts payable       
 The carrying amount of trade payables approximates fair value due to the relatively short-term maturity of 

these financial liabilities. 
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  31 March 
2015

31 March 
2014

R R

22 Change in accounting estimates

Impact of changes in accounting estimates

(Increase) in net surplus/(Decrease) in net (deficit)  (91 775)  (156 757)

Increase in property, plant and equipment  91 775  156 757 

 -    -   

In the current year management re-assessed the remaining useful lives of property, plant and equipment after 
evaluating the physical condition of theses assets. This resulted in the estimated remaining life for furniture and 
fittings to be increased by a further 60 months, computer equipment by another 12 months and office equipment by 
another 12 months. The remaining useful life of leasehold improvements was increased by a further 60 months as per 
the new lease agreement that was entered into for another five years. The residual values for furniture and fittings, 
computer equipment and office equipment have been reduced from 10%  to 5% of the original cost price. The effect 
of this revision has decreased the depreciation charges for the current year and increased the depreciation charges 
for future periods by R91 775 (2014: R156 757).         
   
There was no impact on the Cash Flow Statement       
        
23 Fruitless and wasteful expenditure 
      
Management has not identified any fruitless and wasteful expenditure in the years ended 31 March 2015 and 
31 March 2014.
        
24 Irregular expenditure 
      
Management has not identified any irregular expenditure in the years ended 31 March 2015 and 31 March 2014.  
          
25 Events after the reporting date
       
Management is not aware of any matters or circumstances as at the end of the financial year, not otherwise dealt 
with in the annual financial statements, that significantly affects the financial position of the NCT or the results 
of its operations.       
        
26 Going concern  
     
Management has carried out an assessment of the NCT’s ability to continue operating as a going concern and 
therefore concludes that the organisation will be able to continue as a going concern for the foreseeable future.  
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27 Statements of grap applicable to the NCT that are in issue, but not yet 
effective 

      
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following accounting standards of Generally Recognised 
Accounting Principles (GRAP) were in issue, but not yet effective: 

Effective Date

Related Party Disclosure GRAP 20 No date determined

Segment Reporting GRAP 18 1 April 2015

Management believes that the adoption of these standards in future periods will have no material impact on the 
financial statements of the NCT.
   
28 Contingent liabilities 
      
There is a contingent liability that comprises the accumulated surpluses as at 31 March 2015. A request for  the 
retention of the previous year’s accumulated surplus of R4 507 672 has been approved by National Treasury. A request 
to retain the retained surplus as at 31 March 2015 will be submitted to National Treasury. The accumulated surplus as 
at 31 March 2015 is summarised in the table below. Also refer to Note 18.1.
     

31 March 
2015

R

Surplus brought forward from 2011/12 and earmarked for the case management system and 
space planning

 3 490 587 

Surplus for 2012/13 rolled over to 2013/14 to fund the anticipated shortfall in that year  2 479 693 

(Deficit) for 2013/14 to be funded out of rollover funds from 2012/13  (1 462 608)

Surplus for 2014/15 rolled over to 2015/16 to fund the anticipated shortfall in that year  2 769 046 

Accumulated surplus  7 276 718 

Reconciliation of accumulated surplus

Surplus brought forward from 2011/12 and earmarked for the case management system and 
space planning

 3 490 587 

Surplus rolled over to 2015/16 to fund the anticipated shortfall in that year  3 786 131 

Accumulated surplus  7 276 718 

29 Capital commitments       
        
The NCT has awarded a tender to a contractor for the implementation of the space planning project to an estimated 
value of R2.4 million. This project will be implemented in the new financial year and will be funded out of retained 
surpluses carried forward from the 2011/12 financial year. Also refer to Note 28.     
    
30 Taxation       
        
The NCT is exempted from paying taxation in terms of Section 10 (1)(CA)(1) of the Income Tax Act, Act No. 58 of 1962.
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Tribunal Members

Ms Diane Terblanche

Executive Chairperson

Qualifications: BA and LLB degrees, University of the Western 
Cape; LLM, University of Pennsylvania (USA)

Passionate about the rights of South African consumers, Ms Terblanche, 
an admitted attorney, has been the Executive Chairperson of the National 
Consumer Tribunal since its inception. Her extensive experience and 
involvement in consumer protection spans a period of close to 30 years. 
It includes lobbying for, drafting and in many instances implementing, 
consumer protection policies, laws and the strategies. Over the years, she has 
had a significant impact on a number of entities in her various adjudicative, 
executive, governance and oversight, advisory and consultancy roles, both 
locally and abroad. 

Since its inception, the Tribunal has been renowned for its exemplary management and governance and fair 

adjudication. Much of its success can be attributed to Diane’s strong and dynamic leadership.

Prof. Bonke Dumisa

Deputy Chairperson

Qualifications: BCom (National University of Lesotho); BCom 
(Hons) (Unisa); MBA (Bentley University, USA); MSc (University 
of London, UK); Doctor of Business Administration (University of 
Durban-Westville); LLB (University of Zululand); LLM (University of 
KwaZulu-Natal)

With his valuable combination of business and legal qualifications, Prof. Dumisa 
is the ideal candidate for the Deputy Chairperson position at the NCT. Prof. 
Dumisa is an Advocate of the High Court of South Africa and a former Professor 
of Management at the University of KwaZulu-Natal. Thanks to his sought-
after leadership skills and business acumen, Prof. Dumisa serves on a number 
of boards. He is the Chairperson of the KwaZulu-Natal Provincial Planning 
Commission, a member of the Council for Medical Schemes and is Deputy 
Chairperson of the Ethekwini Local Committee of the KwaZulu-Natal Liquor 
Authority.  Prof Dumisa is further a member of the NCT’s ICT’s Governance 

Committee.
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Ms Penelope Beck

Qualifications: BA Law and LLB (University of the Western Cape); 
Certificate in the Financing of Local Infrastructure Initiatives 
(University of Cape Town/Royal Institute of Technology, Sweden) 

Ms Beck was admitted as an attorney in 1992. She honed her consumer protection 
knowledge and experience in social interest law, with a particular reference to 
housing, in the NGO sector, where she served the Legal Resource Centre, the 
Housing Consumer Protection Trust and the Black Sash for many years. She is 
currently a practising attorney at Beck-Paxton Attorneys and serves as a Council 
member of the South African Council of Planners. She is an associate member 
of INSITE, an organisation focusing on social and economic development of 
communities and is a Director at the Ombudsman for Banking Services. Ms Beck 
is currently a member of the NCT’s Finance Committee.

Ms Laura Best

Qualifications: BCom Economics (University of Cape Town); 
Masters in Development Studies (Nelson Mandela Metropolitan 
University)

Ms Best divides her time between the NCT and her position as Special Assistant to 
the Vice-Chancellor of the Nelson Mandela Metropolitan University. Her research 
work focuses on sustainability and sustainable consumption, as this intersects with 
consumer protection. Ms Best makes a significant input into the NCT through her 
insight into, and knowledge of, the future role of e-communications, specifically 
the impact of the Internet and mobile telecommunications in modern society in 
relation to consumer protection.  Ms Best is currently the Chairperson of the NCT’s 
ICT Governance Committee.

Ms Yasmin Carrim

Qualifications: BSc, LLB and Higher Diploma in Education 
(University of Cape Town)

Yasmin Carrim has a background of diverse experiences and skills. She has a science degree, 
a legal degree and a commerce certificate. She has worked as an activist, a lawyer, a teacher 
and businesswoman. She has previously served as Group Executive of Regulatory Affairs 
at MTN SA, and as a Councillor on the Independent Communications Authority of 
South Africa. An attorney by profession, Yasmin was a director at the law firm, Cheadle 
Thompson and Haysom, and a founding trustee of the Women’s Legal Centre. She has 
maintained her involvement in human rights and development issues through her 
involvement in non-governmental organisations. Yasmin also co-edited a handbook 
on telecommunications regulation in South Africa and serves on the Board of the 
Soul City Institute for Health and Development Communication and the Open Society 
Foundation.
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Ms Hazel Devraj

Qualifications: BSoc Sc Psychology and Industrial Psychology; 
BSoc Sc (Hons) 

In her position as CEO, Ms Devraj played a key role in the founding of the NCT 

with her hands-on work ethic. Prior to joining the founding team of the NCT, Ms 

Devraj spent four years as the Head of Human Resources at the Competition 

Commission, after which she joined the Department of Trade and Industry as 

Director of Operational Management in the Corporate Regulation Division. 

Ms Devraj is now a fulltime Tribunal Member, and her insight into the 

inner workings of the Tribunal is well-regarded. Ms Devraj also serves as an 

Appeals Tribunal Member for the Film and Publication Board and as a HR and 

Remuneration Committee Member of SAMSA.  Ms Devraj is the Chairperson 

of the NCT’s Finance Committee and is also a member of the NCT’s HR 

Governance Committee and the NCT’s Legislative Committee. 

Adv. Frans Kgolela Manamela

Qualifications: BJuris and LLB (University of the North)

Adv. Manamela has been involved in consumer issues since 1992, and was admitted as an 

advocate of the High Court in 1995. He played a key role in setting up the first Consumer 

Affairs Court in South Africa and was appointed as the first Consumer Protector 

for Gauteng in 1998. Adv. Manamela currently serves as the Chief Director of 

Consumer Affairs and Business Compliance in the Gauteng Department of 

Economic Development. He also serves on the Board of the South African 

Savings Institute and is a member of the National Consumer Protection 

Forum’s Policy and Legislation Committee.

Adv. Manamela serves as a sessional lecturer (pro bono) at the University 

of the Witwatersrand’s School of Law, teaching final year LLB students about 

special contracts, consumer agreements and the Consumer Protection Act. 

He has established an excellent working relationship with the University to 

the extent that his office has now become “the friend of the University’s Law 

School”. Adv Manamela is currently also a member of the NCT’s HR Governance 

Committee.
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Prof. Joseph Maseko

Qualifications: PhD Management (UK); MPhil Labour Law (University 
of Johannesburg); Advanced Diploma in Labour Law (Randse 
Afrikaanse Universiteit); Graduate Diploma in Company Direction 
(GIMT); Advanced Diploma in Management; Diploma in Personnel 
Management

Prof. Maseko continuously sets out to improve his skills set, as is attested to by his 
wide range of qualifications (only some of which are mentioned above). However, 
protecting the rights of consumers remains one of his key focus areas, and in 2014 
he was appointed by the United Nations Industrial Development Organization 
to draft, compile and present consumer protection legislation and regulations 
for Swaziland. The drafted Act and regulations are currently with the Ministry of 
Commerce, Industry and Trade for parliamentary submission. Prof. Maseko is a 
Tribunal Member and has served as a member of the Mpumalanga Consumer Court 
since its inception in 2009. He was appointed the Chairperson of the Mpumalanga Consumer Affairs Court in April 
2014. He is also the owner of Maseko Management Services, and in 2015 conducted a training workshop for the Fair 
Trade Commission on Mahe Island, Republic of Seychelles.  Prof Maseko is currently the Chairperson of the NCT’s HR 
Governance Committee.

 Mr Xolela May

Qualifications: Diploma in Business Management; MBA (in progress); 
NDip Law (University of Johannesburg); Diploma in Legal Studies 
(South African School of Law)

With his in-depth knowledge of the Consumer Protection Act and regulations, Mr May 
is a valued Tribunal Member who makes an active contribution to the enforcement 
of consumer rights. He is Vice-Chairperson of the Southern Cape Correctional 
Services Parole Board and is involved in a number of NGOs and CBOs.

Adv. Neo Sephoti

Qualifications: BJuris and LLB (University of Bophuthatswana); Diploma 
in Alternative Dispute Resolution (Arbitration Foundation of Southern 
Africa)

Adv. Sephoti became involved in Consumer issues when she was Director Regulatory 
Services for the North West Department of Economic Development and Tourism. 
She was admitted as an advocate of the High Court of South Africa in 1999 and is 
currently employed as the Corporate Affairs Manager at SAB (Pty) Ltd where she deals 
with provincial matters relating to the sale of alcohol. Adv. Sephoti is also a member 
of the Independent Commission for the Remuneration of Public Office Bearers and was 
Chairperson of the Audit and Risk Committee of the Performing Arts Council of the Free State.  
Adv Sephoti is a member of the NCT’s Legislative Committee.
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Mr Fungai Sibanda

Qualifications: BCom and BCom (Hons) (Unisa); MSc Economics 
(Hull University, UK); Certificate in Competition Law (University of the 
Witwatersrand)

Mr Sibanda specialises in regulatory economics and competition policy matters, and has 
held a number of senior positions in the Competition Commission, Department of Trade 
and Industry and Independent Communications Authority of South Africa. Among others, 
he was involved in the drafting of the regulations of the Consumer Protection Act and is a 
member of the Regulating Committee for the Airports Company of South Africa and the Air 
Traffic Navigation Services. Mr Sibanda is also a member of the National Energy Regulator 
of South Africa and Tshwane Economic Development Agency boards, and co-founder of 
Hekima Advisory. Mr Sibanda is often invited as a guest lecturer on Competition Economics 
by the Wits Law School. Mr Sibanda is a member of the NCT’s Legislative Committee.

Adv. John Simpson

Qualifications: BJuris and LLB (Unisa)

Adv. Simpson’s career has seen him rise through the ranks of the legal system, from State 
Prosecutor in the Department of Justice, to Magistrate and then as an admitted advocate 
in private practice. His quest for renewed challenges led him to take on the positions 
of Manager and then General Manager for the Ombudsman for Banking Services. This 
extensive experience positioned Adv. Simpson as a skilled legal consultant, in which 
position he has provided advice and guidance to companies on the Consumer Protection 
Act and assisted the NCT in the setting up of its case management systems. Broad experience 
in consumer-related law places Adv. Simpson in a unique position to adjudicate cases 
involving the National Credit Act and the Consumer Protection Act. Adv Simpson is currently 
the Chairperson of the NCT’s Legislative Committee and a member of the NCT’s Finance 
Committee as well as a member of the NCT’s  ICT Governance Committee.

Prof. Tanya Woker

Qualifications: BA, LLB and LLM (University of Natal; PhD (Rhodes 
University)

A professor of law and advocate of the High Court of South Africa, Prof. Woker takes a 
particular interest in consumer law. She served as the Vice-Chairperson and Chairperson of 
the Department of Trade and Industry’s Consumer Affairs Committee and presently serves 
as the Chairperson of the Financial Services Ombuds Council and member of the Financial 
Services Enforcement Committee. She is the author of a number of consumer law related 
articles and academic works.  Prof Woker is a member of the NCT’s Legislative Committee.
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Audit and Risk Committee 

Mr Ameen Amod

Qualifications: BComm (Unisa), MBA (University of Cape Town; CIA 
(IIA), CRMA (IIA),CGSA (IIA)

Mr Amod has a background of diverse experience and skills.  He has a B-Comm degree 
and a financially oriented Master’s degree in Business Administration.  He has worked 
as a tutor, lecturer, Head of Department and as Managing director at MTN Cellphone 
Select.  He is a member of the Institute of Internal Auditors as well as a member of 
the Institute of Directors.  He has served on the Provincial Executive Committee of 
the Black Management Forum during 2009 – 2010 and also served two terms as 
Chairperson of the Western Cape: Governance and Administration Audit Committee 
(2008 – 2011) Mr Amod currently serves as the Chairperson of the Department of 
Transport and Public Works’ Audit Committee,  Chairperson of the Western Cape 
Department of Health Audit Committee, Chairperson of the Department of Energy 
Audit Committee and the Chairperson of the NCT’s Audit and Risk Committee. 

 

Ms Janice Meissner
Qualifications: B Com (Acc) (Unisa); BCompt (Hons) CA (SA)

Ms Meissner is a Qualified Chartered Accountant and member of the South African Institute 
of Chartered Accountants as well as the Institute of Internal Auditors and Institute of 
Directors. She has thirteen years’ post qualification experience encompassing three 
years external audit and ten years specialising in internal audit and risk management 
within a consulting environment.  She has extensive experience in the governance 
areas addressed in King III, providing expert level insight to governance issues and the 
synergies between the different assurance providers as well as eight years’ experience 
on a Director/Partner level.  Ms Meissner is currently a professional non-executive 
director.  She is further an Audit Committee member of the National Consumer 
Tribunal, Gauteng Provincial Department, Nersa  and FoodBev Seta. 

Mr Mohammed (Mo) Kajee
Qualifications: BCompt (Hons), CA (SA), ACMA

Mr Kajee is a Chartered Accountant and a member of the Institute of Chartered Management 
Accountants (UK). He has more than 30 years commercial experience, having worked 
for 17 years in the oil industry, for Mobil Oil SA  and British Petroleum SA, in various 
management positions where he gained experience in computer auditing, financial 
management, corporate finance, treasury, internal audit and business consulting. He has 
held a number of Executive and Non-executive Directorships including PetroSA, OPC, 
Gannett Insurance and Gannett Holdings Ltd (Isle of Man), and Sekunjalo Investments 

Ltd.  He is currently a member of the NCT’s Audit and Risk Governance Committee.   
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ICT Governance Committee

Mr Busa Mkhize

Qualifications: BA Computer Science (University of Maine, Orono, 
USA), MBA (University of Cape Town)

Mr Mkhize is a business management and IT consulting executive with particular 
interest in technology-based new venture creation.  He spent almost a decade 
working for a global consulting firm, providing high end services to a securities 
exchange, a number of banking and capital markets companies in South Africa 
and Singapore, a leading Dutch airline and government departments in South 
Africa.  In 2005 he founded Inkanyezi Renaissance Group, which has a particular 
focus on information technology-based services provision. He currently leads 
large scale broadband deployment initiatives and the commercialisation of existing 
state owned telecoms infrastructure assets to help advance the national broadband 
agenda.  He currently serves as an IT governance specialist on the Audit and Rsk Committee of the University of 
Zululand as well as the IT Governance Committee of the National Consumer Tribunal.

HR Governance Committee 

Prof. Sesh Paruk

Qualifications:   BA (University of Natal), Hons Psychology 
(University of Durban Westville), MA Clinical Counselling 
Psychology (UPE), PhD Psychology (University of Fort Hare)

Prof. Paruk is a woman of many talents and has more than twenty years of Executive 
leadership experience as well as providing strategic advice to top leaders.  She 
was awarded an Extraordinary Professorship by the University of the North West 
for her long-standing contribution to the use of the social sciences as a vehicle 
towards societal transformation. She was inter alia the strategic driver of the 
National “Face of Aids Campaign” and the first senior female leader in RSA’s 
Nuclear Energy Sector.  She has also served on several high-ranking boards. 
Prof. Paruk was the 1st Executive: HR of Parliament in South Africa, driving the 
transformation and capacity building agendas.  During this time, she lead 
several strategic delegations to SADC, PAP, Inter Parliamentary Union and other global platforms to accelerate 
technical exchange programmes.  

Prof. Paruk is a registered Clinical and Counselling Psychologist and has served as Head of Department of Psychology 
at the University of Zululand.  Her expertise following her varied exposure relates to Enterprise Leadership; Integration 
and synthesis; management of complexity; leveraging organisational performance excellence; and in depth exposure 
to the whole human capital value chain. She currently serves on the HR Governance Committee of the NCT as well 
as the Editorial Board of the Electronic Newsletter “Trailblazer”.  In her spare time she volunteers as a member of the 
Global Girl Up Campaign.
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Ms Marelize Bosch

Chief Operational Officer

Qualifications: LLB (University of Pretoria); Project Management 
Diploma (Varsity College)

Through hard work and her passion for law, Ms Bosch worked her way up from 
Candidate Attorney to Partner in a law firm in a very short period of time. She 
qualified as a conveyancer during this period. She then advanced to legal advisor 
and after taking up the post of Senior Legal Advisor at a financial service provider, 
she joined the NCT in June 2011 as Head: Legal Services.  She became the Registrar 
of the Tribunal during 2012 and was appointed as COO in May 2014.  Ms Bosch 
attends all governance committee meetings, as well as operational meetings in 
her official capacity.  In addition, she is a member of EXCO and Chairperson of the ICT 

Steering Committee as well as the Occupational Health and Safety Committee (OHS).

Mr Willem Strauss

Chief Financial Officer

Qualifications: B Proc (University of the Free State); B Compt (University of the 
Free State); CTA (University of the Free State);  B Compt Honours (University of 
the Free State); LLM (Tax Law) (University of Cape Town);  MBA (Bond University 
- SA Campus (Cum Laude)

Mr Strauss not only completed his studies for law, but also qualified as a Chartered 
Accountant.  He was a  part-time lecturer at the University of the Free State and had 
a lengthy tenure with the Auditor-General of South Africa first as Audit Manager and 
then as Senior Manager before joining the NCT in September 2011 as Chief Financial 

Officer.  He is a member of the Finance Committee as well as a member of EXCO.  
 

Mr Bax Nomvete

ICT Manager

Qualifications: Higher National Diploma in Computer Science 
(University of Hertfordshire (U.K); Investment Management Diploma 
(Rand Afrikaans University)

Mr Nomvete has obtained qualifications both locally and abroad. He was employed as 
a Business and IT Director at Saicom Phones and Transnet Limited, Sanlam and the NCR  
before joining the NCT in 2013 as ICT Manager.  He is a member of EXCO as well as the 

ICT Steering Committee.  
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Ms Anel Burger

Registrar

Qualifications: LLB (North West University); LLM (North West 
University)

Ms Burger obtained her law degree as well as her Masters degree in law and gained 
valuable experience over a period of ten years whilst practising as an attorney at 
various law firms in Pretoria.  She first joined the NCT in the capacity of Senior Case 
Analyst in 2013 and was promoted to the position of Registrar in 2015.  She is a 
member of EXCO as well as a member of the Legislative Committee, Occupational 
Health and Safety Committee and the ICT Steering Committee. 

Ms Carol Selepe

HR and Facilities Manager

Qualifications: BA (Public and Private Sector) (Cum Laude) (North 
West University); Honours degree (Industrial Psychology) (North West 
University) (Cum Laude); Master’s degree (Industrial Psychology) 
(North West University)

After obtaining her B.A Degree in Industrial Psychology and Public Management, Ms 
Selepe obtained her Honours as well as Master’s degrees in Industrial Psychology.  She 
started her HR career at Total SA where she worked her way up to HR Manager. During 
her career she had a short stint as a HR Manager at Nedbank. Ms Selepe joined the NCT in 
June 2014 in the capacity as HR and Facilities Manager.  She is a member of EXCO as well 

as a member of the Occupational Health and Safety Committee.  
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Glossary of Terms
Complete Filing A ‘Complete’ filing refers to a filed application where all the filing requirements 

were met as set out in Table 2 of the Rules for the Conduct of Matters before the 
National Consumer Tribunal published under GN789 in GG30225 of 28 August 2007 
as amended by GenN428 in GG34405 of 29 June 2011.

Debt re-arrangement 
application (DRA)

An application in terms of section 138 of the NCA is an application for an order 
confirming a settlement reached as a consent order of the Tribunal after a matter has 
been resolved through an ombud with jurisdiction, a consumer court or an alternative 
dispute resolution agent, or after an investigation by the NCR or/and if the NCR and 
the Respondent agree to the terms of the proposed order. In accordance with the 
provisions of section 86 of the NCA, debt counsellors use the provisions of Section 138 
to apply for confirmation of a DRA as a consent order of the Tribunal. In considering 
whether to make the DRA an (consent) order of the Tribunal, the Tribunal considers 
all aspects relating to the legality of the agreement, amongst others, interest rates 
agreed upon and other factors such as affordability.

Directive A directive is an instruction from a Tribunal member to the parties requesting that 
further documents be filed in support of an application or to clarify an issue with 
regards to an application filed.

Non-debt re-
arrangement

A non-debt re-arrangement matter is an application or referral filed with the 
Tribunal, other than a debt re-arrangement matter.  All other filings permitted to be 
made to the NCT are accordingly grouped under this classification.
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Contact details

Postal address:

Private Bag X110

Centurion

0046

Physical address:

Ground floor, Block B

Lakefield Office Park

272 West Avenue

c/o West and Lenchen North

Centurion

Telephone: 012 683 8140 / 012 742 9900

Email:  Registry@thenct.org.za

Fax: 012 663 5693


